Growing as a person

The possibility of personal development for adults in treatment and education

Arnhild Lauveng

Dissertation the PhD degree submitted to the University of Oslo

Contents

Acknowledgements	6
List of papers	8
Summary	9
1 Introduction	11
2 Background and theoretical perspective	12
2.1 Scope of the study	12
Descriptions of functioning above diagnostic criteria	12
Environmental conditions rather than genetic and/or physiological conditions	12
2.2 Severe mental illness, sense of self and childhood trauma	13
Sense of self and psychosis in recent research	14
What characterizes anomalous self-experience?	15
Sense of self and personality disorders	17
Severe mental illness and childhood trauma	18
2.3 Developmental psychology and normal self-development	20
Fundamental/primary relationships	20
Social community and reciprocity	23
Context and coherence	24
Time	26
Care, creativity and activity	26
2.4 Health, recovery and empowerment	28
Health	28
Recovery	30
Empowerment	33
3 Context of the study: Education and treatment	36
3.1 The Danish schools	36
The folk high school system	36
Day folk high schools	37
The day folk high schools in this study	38
3.2 DPS and municipal mental health care in Norway	41
The offer of DPS inpatient wards in this study	41

Municipal services when patients are not in the ward	43
3.3 Demarcation in respect to other services	44
4 Aim and research questions	. 46
4.1 Paper 1	46
4.2 Paper 2	46
4.3 Paper 3	47
5 Design and method	. 48
5.1 Design	48
5.2 Discussion of the selected design	48
5.3 Informants and inclusion	50
Patients and students	50
Teachers and health care professionals	53
5.4 Discussion of sample and inclusion	54
The inclusion criteria do not specify diagnoses	54
Sample in relation to the inclusion criteria	56
Method for the recruitment and inclusion	57
Informants from two countries	58
The context's influence on the sample	58
5.5 Discussion of selected context	59
DPS is the most common specialist health services for the target group	59
Necessary refinements in the interests of the scope of the study	60
There is little research on the Danish day schools	60
The Danish day schools have an exceptional position in cultivating of clear framework and a professional foundation	
The two settings should represent different models of understanding, yet have some relevant similarities	s 62
5.6 Interview and adaptation of the interview	63
Interview, adapted for students and patients	63
Interview, adapted for health care professionals and teachers	65
5.7 Discussion of the interview and interview situation	66
5.8 Recording and transcription	68
5.9 Discussion of recording and transcription	69
5.10 Qualitative data analysis	69

5.11 Discussion of data analysis	71
5.12 Preconceptions	71
5.13 Ethical Considerations	73
6 Findings and interpretations from the three papers	76
6.1 Paper 1: Same diagnosis, different lives: A qualitative study of additeatment and in education.	
Method and analysis	
Research questions	
Findings and interpretations	76
Summary across informants in this article	78
6.2 Paper 2: Treating symptoms or assisting personal development: C effect personal development for patients with severe mental illness?	
Methods	•
Research questions	
Findings and interpretations	
Summary across informants in this article	
6.3 Paper 3: How can context affect teachers' and healthcare profess mental illness?	
Method and informants	84
Research questions	84
Findings and interpretations	84
Summary across informants in this article	89
7 Discussion of findings and interpretations	90
7.1 Relationships between health professionals and patients and bet	ween teachers and students90
Duration of relations	91
Intensity of relations	92
Reciprocity and quality of relationships	92
Relation as "base" and "safe haven"	93
Systemic constraints	94
7.2 Social fellowship and reciprocity	95
Friendship and usefulness	96
7.3 Coherence across life domains	99
Dependence and independence	
Psychotherapy	101
7.4 Development takes place over time	102

Time limitation's impact on the staff's attitudes	103
7.5 Everyday care, joy and activity	106
Joy and play-based activities	107
Attitudes to joy and well-being	108
Attendance at schools vs day centres and gathering places	110
The importance of school subjects	111
7.6 Health, recovery and empowerment	114
Reduction in the use of psychotropic medication	116
Physical health	117
Empowerment, personal commitment and subjectivity	119
7.7 The validity of the findings discussed in relation to method	122
8 Conclusions and implications	124
References	126

Acknowledgements

Research is always the result of contribution, and I will like to thank some of the people who made this study possible.

First and foremost, I will thank all of my informants; both patients, students, teachers and health professionals. Without their contributions, their willingness to give me of their time, and to share their lived experiences and reflections, this study would not have been possible. I want you all to know that I am deeply grateful for all that I have learned from you.

This study was carried out at Akershus University Hospital, division of psychiatry. I will thank my main supervisor, Torleif Ruud, for his contribution in making this study possible. He gave me important advice in preparing the study, and gave me the chance to explore this topic that I really wanted to investigate. Throughout the study, he has been an inspiring, wise, and fantastic supervisor, giving so much guidance and support.

I also want to thank Sidsel Tveiten at Oslo and Akershus University College for being such an inspiring and patient co-supervisor. Her help and support in the qualitative analysis has been extremely important, and I am also grateful for all the support and motivation during this process.

My gratitude also goes to my second co-supervisor Tor -Johan Ekeland for his valuable guidance through this process. And to all of my fantastic colleagues at Akershus University Hospital, as well as my "semi-colleagues" at Oslo and Akershus University College – thank you all for inspiring conversations, support and tips to relevant literature! A special thank goes to Ingrid Kyte Fjellestad and Bodil Skiaker for all practical help!

This project has been made possible by funding from the Norwegian ExtraFoundation for Health and Rehabilitation (Extrastiftelsen) through The Norwegian Council for Mental Health (Rådet for psykisk helse), and I am very grateful for this! I also want to thank Charlotte Elvestad in The Norwegian Council for Mental Health for all her practical support and advices during this process!

I also want to thank Lars Thorgard. He was the first person to tell me about the Danish schools, after heard me talking about "schools as a possible alternative". His wise advices

during the preparation for the study was of priceless value, and it is so sad that he could not see the finished results.

I want to thank friends and colleagues from Norway and other countries for support, fun and inspiring discussions. Special thanks to Sidsel Gilbert, Solveig Bøhle and all of my friends in SEPREP – no name mentioned, no name forgotten!

At last, but not least, I want to thank my mother for all her support, for giving me a curiosity for life, and a love for learning and reading. And I want to thank Vigdis for all her support and wisdom through so many years.

Lørenskog 2017

Arnhild Lauveng

List of papers

Paper 1

Lauveng A, Tveiten S, Ekeland TJ, Ruud T (2015). Same diagnosis, different lives. A qualitative study of adult with severe mental diseases, in treatment and education. Psychosis 7(4):336-347.

Paper 2

Lauveng A, Tveiten S, Ekeland TJ, Ruud T (2016). How can context and discourse affect teachers' and mental health professionals' interactions with adults with mental illness? Social Work in Mental Health. Published online: 08 Sep 2016.

Paper 3

Lauveng A, Tveiten S, Ekeland T-J, Ruud T (2016). Treating symptoms or assisting human evelopment: Can different environmental conditions affect personal development for patients with severe mental illness? A qualitative study. International Journal of Mental Health Systems 10:8.

Summary

Much research on severe mental illness, like psychosis, is focused on the illness itself – origins, symptoms, treatment, medication and genetics. In this thesis, I wanted to focus on which possible influence environmental conditions can have for personal development in patients with severe and enduring mental illness.

This is a qualitative study. I interviewed 14 patients with severe and enduring mental illness at two different district psychiatric centres (DPS) in Norway, and 14 health professionals at the same two DPS. I also interviewed fifteen students at two different Danish day folk schools for adults with mental health problems, and 14 employees (mainly teachers) at the same schools.

The focus of the interviews with patients and students were their description of their own daily lives, their relationships and how they experienced the possibility for personal development. The focus of the interviews with teachers and health workers were their descriptions of their daily work, social norms and values, and what impact they feel that the service had for their students and patients.

The purpose of this study was to explore whether, and if so to what extent, different environmental conditions influenced the experience of everyday life, the sense of self and the opportunities for personal and social development of people with severe and prolonged mental illness. The results are published in three papers.

Findings and interpretations in paper one and two showed that patients and students described their lives quite differently. The students experienced a supportive environment focused mostly on education. They described sustainable development in areas such as capacity for relationships, regulation of symptoms, subjective well-being, and integration in society. They also described higher quality of life, little loneliness, and greater satisfaction with life. Patients, on the other hand, experienced an environment focused more on treatment of their illness and less on personal development and interests. They described little development, much loneliness, poor quality of life, an objectifying attitude of themselves and others, and hopelessness.

Findings and interpretations in paper three showed that both teachers and health care professionals were engaged in their work and in the wellbeing of students and patients. However, they described marked differences in practice, including the amount of time spent with students/patients, the organization of their work, main tasks, amount of control over their tasks, and social structure. These differences seemed to affect relationships with students/patients, attitudes toward students/patients, norms and values, and opportunities for patient empowerment.

Even if more research obviously is needed, overall findings and interpretations from this thesis suggest that while existing psychiatric health care might be appropriate for limited short-term problems such as single-episode depression, a model with a supportive environment, stable relations and a possibility for learning, joy and development of interests, may improve personal development and mental health for persons with severe mental illness and disturbances in self-experience.

1 Introduction

People with severe, long term and complex mental health problems constitute a large proportion of patients in mental health care, and it is often difficult to provide good and effective health care to this group. Despite the use of considerable resources on individual patients in this group, many of them describe their experience of psychiatry as traumatic, and that they experience very poor and inefficient help, and sometimes even new trauma. Meanwhile, recent research shows a clear correlation between changes in self-perception and severe mental illness, and between childhood trauma and severe mental illness. There are also several studies showing that patients in this group may benefit from psychosocial and practical measures such as adapted housing, social support and adapted work. This makes it necessary to explore whether other measures beyond traditional psychiatric treatment may be appropriate to enhance the self-experience of these patients and improve the quality of life.

In this qualitative study, I explored how two different services, using different approaches, frameworks and theoretical foundations, are described by those who receive the services, and by the staff working there. I interviewed students and teachers in two schools for adults with psychiatric diagnoses, and patients and health workers at inpatient wards in two district psychiatric centres (DPS, the Norwegian version of community mental health centres). The focus in the interviews with patients and students were their descriptions of their own daily lives, relationships and personal development, and the impact of the different services they received. The focus in the interviews with teachers and health workers were their descriptions of their daily work, limits and values, and what impact they feel the services had on students/patients.

2 Background and theoretical perspective

2.1 Scope of the study

The purpose of this study was to explore whether, and if so to what extent, different environmental conditions influenced the experience of everyday life, the sense of self and the opportunities for personal and social development of people with severe and prolonged mental illness.

In this context, I have chosen two thematic delimitations.

Descriptions of functioning above diagnostic criteria

I have chosen to use the term "severe and prolonged mental illness", and to use descriptions of functioning as the inclusion criteria for informants rather than specific diagnoses. There are several reasons for this, including practical reasons. But one of the reasons was that I wanted a clinical description of a patient group which is recognizable to most clinicians, across diagnoses. Many of these patients will have multiple diagnoses at the same time, others will receive different diagnoses over time. Diagnoses may include psychosis in general and schizophrenia in particular, but also some cases of severe personality disorder. I am aware that these are very different diagnoses in terms of symptoms, origins and treatment recommendations, and it would, therefore, be advantageous to keep them separate. However, in ordinary clinical practice, these conditions, and patients, are often *not* separated. Although there are some special treatments or services tailored to specific diagnoses, patients with different diagnoses often use the same types of services, such as district psychiatric centres (DPS). In this exploratory study, I therefore did not want to focus specifically on the differences between different diagnoses, but rather interview a clinically recognizable group of patients with severe, complex and long term mental illness.

Environmental conditions rather than genetic and/or physiological conditions

As I am a specialist in clinical community psychology, my main focus is on individuals' interaction with society, including the significance of different environmental conditions. This is my area of interest, and I have far less specific knowledge of any possible biological causes and pharmacological therapy. I recognize that personality disorders and

schizophrenia are believed to have different aetiologies, and that the biological components are probably more significant in schizophrenia. There is, however, still confusion around this issue, and research increasingly indicates that schizophrenia is probably not *one* condition, but rather different conditions, with different aetiologies which we cannot currently distinguish from each other (Kinderman & Cooke, 2000, Zipursky et al, 2013).

In addition, the biological component has yet to be clarified. There are probably different degrees of heredity in patients currently diagnosed with schizophrenia, it is likely that the inherited factor is a vulnerability to the illness rather than the illness itself (Zubin & Spring, 1977, Walder et al, 2014), and also that other factors contributions can be more important than genetic factors (Fosse, 2009, Read et al, 2014, Zipursky et al, 2012). The lack of biomarkers for psychiatric diagnosis (Venkatasubramanian, Keshavan, 2016) also contributes to the difficulty of relying only on biological causes.

Treatment with psychoactive drugs can obviously be very useful as stabilizing treatment for many patients with schizophrenia. But there is no curative drug therapy. In recent years, the harmful side effects of drug therapy also have received increased attention. Which is why patient organizations and national health authorities are requesting drug-free and drug-alternative therapies as substitutes for, or additions to, traditional drug therapy. According to this, the Ministry of Health and Care Services has instructed all hospitals to introduce medication-free treatments as an option in mental health services from 2016 (the Ministry of Health and Care Services, 2015). This instruction has led to much discussion. Many users, relatives and professionals are positively inclined, while others, especially professionals, are requesting more evidence that medication-free treatments are safe and justifiable interventions for patients with psychosis.

In this study, I have chosen to focus primarily on environmental conditions and not genetic causes. I recognize of course that this is not the whole picture, but it is the part of the picture that I, as a community psychologist, chose to focus on in this study.

2.2 Severe mental illness, sense of self and childhood trauma

The relationship between severe mental illness, especially schizophrenia, and anomalous sense of self is not new. This is described in many classical theories of schizophrenia, for example by Benedetti (1964) and Winnicot (1965, 1971, 1986). The term schizophrenia, split

mind, suggests that anomalous sense of self historically have been central to the perception of the condition. The same is partly true for the severe personality disorders, as disorders of the personality structure and function are is embedded in the concept of personality disorders. It is not just about symptoms coming in addition to a functioning personality, it is the core of personality and self that are affected. Despite the fact that this aspect for a long time has been a central part of the understanding of the most severe of mental disorders, the understanding has, however, been limited and often mixed with other models, for example specific psychoanalytic theories (Benedetti, 1964, Winnicot, 1965, 1971, 1986).

Sense of self and psychosis in recent research

In recent years, however, disturbances in basic sense of self has been revived as a key research area and as an important concept in understanding psychosis (Nelson, Raballo, 2015 Henriksen & Parnas, 2012, Raballo et al., 2011). A normal sense of self means that the person has one (and only one) stable, bodily and well-defined experience of him/herself as a person, and that the person has a clear and automatic first-person perspective (Nelson, Raballo, 2015, Henriksen, Nordgaard, 2014).

However, in severe mental illness and especially schizophrenia, this experience may be changed. Changes to the sense of self, as that term is used today, refers to "several structural shifts in such a basic selfhood (e.g. unstable first person perspective, diminished sense of presence, and loss of vital contact with reality)" (Nelson, Raballo, 2015, p. 301).

For people who are vulnerable to schizophrenia or have developed schizophrenia, such changes in the sense of self may be expressed in different ways. Examples of this may be an unstable first-person perspective (talking about oneself in the third person), fuzzy or distorted perception of one's own self, marked changes in thought flows and cognition, and/or lack of contact with reality. (Nelson, et al. 2013, Henriksen, Nordgaard, 2014, Parnas et al, 2005).

Changes to sense of self have also been associated with altered or impaired ability to metacognition and to social cognition (Lysaker et al, 2014, Bargenquast, Schweitzer, 2014). Studies have shown that therapy focusing on increasing patients' capacity for personal and social metacognition can give positive results (Bargenquast, Schweitzer, 2014).

Parnas, Jansson (2015) argues that changes in the sense of self must be regarded as a core symptom of schizophrenia, since it is more specific than other symptoms. Hallucinations, blunting of feelings and other things can occur with other disorders, while changes in the basic sense of self is typical of, and specific to, schizophrenia, and distinguishes it from other conditions (Parnas, Jansson, 2015)

What characterizes anomalous self-experience?

Anomalous self-experience is a term which refers to various forms of fundamentally changed or impaired sense of self, of a type characteristic of schizophrenia. EASE (Examination of Anomalous Self-Experience, Parnas et al 2005) is a semi-structured, symptom-based checklist for exploring subjectively experienced changes in the basic sense of self. This instrument is often also used as a summary of what the change to the sense of self may imply. Because these changes are so fundamentally connected to how the world is perceived, and affect such fundamental aspects of perception and sense of self, the experience of changes will often be fluid and diffuse, and it may be hard to find words to describe what happens. EASE tries to facilitate expression of such experiences by presenting a variety of statements describing the altered sense of self. All these statements are based on statements from patients describing their own experiences. Each statement is read to the patient, who is then asked to assess the degree to which this statement applies to him/her. EASE is based on exploring the patient's own subjective experiences of changes, not on objective observable measurements done by others (e.g. clinicians or researchers). In addition to its diagnostic usefulness, EASE is also intended as a tool to help the patient describe and articulate his/her own experiences and to share these with clinicians. As mentioned above, EASE is also a tool to help clinicians and researchers label, categorize and obtain an overview of different kinds of changes in the basic sense of self.

EASE explores the altered sense of self within five different domains. These five domains and the description these are often used as a definition and conceptualization of what the changes in the basic sense of self may imply. It is therefore useful to briefly outline these domains here as an overview of anomalous self-experience, even if EASE is not used in this study. Each domain contains very many different experiences and subtypes, and only a brief and incomplete overview is provided here.

Cognition and Stream of Consciousness

Normal consciousness should be fluent, consistent over time, perceived as being owned by a person, and be non-spatial (Parnas et al 2005). Experienced changes in this area may involve thought blocking, thought chaos, ambivalence, difficulty expressing thoughts in language, difficulty with short-term memory and/or attention, and an experience of the thoughts having spatial qualities (e.g. thoughts that are assembled in a pile or stuck on one side of the head) (Parnas et al 2005).

Self-awareness and presence

A healthy sense of self should be automatic and unreflective. A person does not think about whether he/she exists or not, or ponders their own existence. This automatic sense of self consists of two parts: 1) An automatic and unreflective sense of self, including a first-person perspective and 2) an automatic and unreflective participation in social contexts. Changes within this domain may include an altered or disturbed first-person perspective, a sense of not existing, not belonging in this world, being a different person, or several people, or not having your own core. Other experiences may include not being influenced by things going on around you, or being affected too much, that the world is perceived as fundamentally different or unreal, or not knowing whether what is happening is happening to you or someone else (Parnas et al 2005).

Bodily experiences

A normal body experience means that body and psyche are perceived as a natural entity, and the body is experienced "from within", as one self. The body is not perceived solely as an object (something you have), or solely as a subject (what you are), but a combination of these. Changes within this domain may imply that the body is perceived as changed, foreign or different. Parts of the body (e.g. the face) may look different in the mirror, or all or part of the body may be perceived as dead, altered, distorted or alien. A person may also experience altered kinaesthetic sensations or altered motor functions (Parnas et al 2005).

Demarcation/transitivism

This domain is closely related to domain 2, sense awareness, but is distinguished as a separate domain, due to somewhat different symptomatology. A normal sense of self

involves clear boundaries between self and others, and a clear understanding of where the self ends and others begin. Changes within this domain can include body contact being perceived as very intimidating, a person feeling thin skinned or having no boundaries, a confusion of who oneself is and who others are, or becoming confused by when seeing oneself in a mirror due to not knowing who or where you are (Parnas et al 2005).

Existential reorientation

This domain describes fundamental changes in, and reorientation of, the person's view of the world and his/her surroundings. Such changes may, for example, involve the person feeling unique, having unique or special abilities, being the only person in the world or the only real person, or having very special tasks. It may also include a feeling that the world does not really exist or is real, grandiosity, or magical ideas (Parnas et al 2005).

Sense of self and personality disorders

As mentioned, basic anomalies of sense of self are considered characteristic of, and specific to, schizophrenia. Research has also been carried out on disturbances of sense of self in personality disorders, especially Borderline Personality Disorder (BPD). Disturbances of sense of self associated with these conditions is not as basic as with schizophrenia, and does not affect the thought processes or first-person perspective in the same way, but rather consists of a limited and unstable sense of self (Nelson et al 2013, Beeney et al 2016). Just as in schizophrenia, representations of others may also be affected, but again on a less fundamental level. In the case of BPD, this frequently appears as shifts between polarized perceptions of others as unambiguously positive or negative (Nelson et al, 2013, Beeney et al 2016). No correlation has been found between anomalies of basic sense of self (measured with EASE) and BPD, suggesting that although both conditions involve disturbances of sense of self, the disturbances involved are different (Nelson et al, 2013). The different types of disturbances of sense of self are however not mutually exclusive and can therefore occur in the same patient (Nelson et al, 2013).

Sense of self can also be affected by other types of personality disorders, such as narcissistic personality disorder (Lambert et al, 2014, Krizan, Johar 2015). However, these are often even less fundamental disorders, which generally only affect some specific aspects of the sense of self.

Severe mental illness and childhood trauma

As mentioned above, there are most likely many different causes of severe mental illness. For schizophrenia, the origins are probably compound, and might include both biological and psychosocial factors (Fosse, 2009, Read et al, 2014, Zipursky et al, 2012). Much research has been done over recent years on the relationship between developmental trauma and severe mental illness, especially on psychosis and BPD (Cotter et al., 2015, Varese et al., 2012, Moskowitz et.al. (ed), 2008, Read et al., 2006). As childhood trauma is usually considered as a loss of one or both parents (or other primary caregiver) during childhood, neglect, and/or physical, sexual or psychological abuse.

Trauma outside the home can also cause severe damage. Leraya et al (2015) found that adults who had been bullied by peers had a greater chance of developing mental health problems in adulthood than adults who had been abused by parents (Leraya et al., 2015) Varese et al. (2012) carried out a meta-analysis of 36 different studies, with three different designs, and found that the risk of developing a psychosis increased significantly if the person had experienced one or more developmental traumas. This tendency was stable, regardless of the study design. Other meta-analyses (Read et al. 2006, Skehan et al, 2012) have shown similar results. It also seems that there may be a dose/response relationship between trauma and the severity of subsequent symptoms (Read et al, 2013 Skehan et al., 2012). People who have experienced physical and sexual abuse, have earlier longer and more frequent admissions to psychiatric hospitals, have a greater risk of suicide, and generally have more severe symptoms.

There has also been some research on the relationship between specific developmental trauma and specific psychotic symptoms (Bentall et al, 2014). They found a possible link between aberrant communication of parents and thought disorders in the child, between sexual abuse and verbal hallucinations and between attachment disorders (neglect, growing up in an institution) and paranoia. These results must however be considered as preliminary, and more research will be needed to confirm whether they are valid (Bentall et al, 2014).

In addition to developmental trauma, other social and contextual factors, such as poverty, social inequality and/or belonging to an ethnic minority may increase the risk of developing both psychosis and other severe mental illnesses (Read et al, 2013, Read, 2010)

Despite these clear relationships between experienced developmental trauma and subsequent severe mental illness, there is still significant shortcomings in health professionals' focus on asking patients, especially psychotic patients, about childhood trauma, and also referring to relevant trauma treatment (Ormhaug et al., 2012, Sampson, Read, 2016).

Within child psychiatry, there is an increasing focus on trauma-informed treatment for children who have experienced various types of trauma. Historically there has been a tendency to treat behavioural problems in children by focusing on symptoms and disruptive behaviour. However, newer approaches are aimed more at repairing the trauma (Bath, 2008, 2015, Siegel, 2012, Hagen et al, 2016). This treatment is particularly focused on helping the child develop strategies for coping, relieving anxiety, and gradually increasing the child's capacity to build relationships. Helping the child regulate emotions and activation is central to this work, and to keep the child within his/her tolerance window, in which activation is neither too high or too low (Siegel, 2012).

Play seems to be particularly important to children who have experienced trauma, and is probably necessary for the brain to heal after trauma (Perroni, 2014; Panksepp & Biven, 2012). *Play-based activities are probably also important to adults* (Siegel, 2012, Perroni, 2014; Panksepp & Biven, 2012).

However, trauma informed treatment presupposes that the trauma is known. This is not always the case. Ormhaug et al. (2012) found that even though a large proportion of children who were referred for treatment in a child and adolescent psychiatric outpatient clinic had experienced trauma, this was rarely mentioned in the referral. It is, therefore, particularly important that the health professionals actively asks about traumatic experiences as a routine part of the assessment, both for children and adults (Ormhaug et al., 2012, Sampson, Read, 2016)

2.3 Developmental psychology and normal self-development

As the sense of self seems to be, in various ways, an important part of the problems both for people with schizophrenia and personality disorders (particularly BPD), and associations have been identified between developmental trauma and severe mental illness, it is relevant to look at what factors are believed to affect normal development of sense of self. Which factors that are considered most important will of course vary between the different theories, and it is not possible to go through all developmental theories in this thesis. I have, therefore, chosen to focus on factors that are considered central in several different theories, and which are also perceived as relevant to this study.

Fundamental/primary relationships

The importance of fundamental or primary relationships are crucial to most theories regarding psychological development.

Winnicott is known for the classic statement that "there is no such thing as an infant, only an infant and a mother" (Winnicott, 1969, in Winnicott, 1971), and it shows how much importance he attributes to the relationship between child and caregiver. One of Winnicott's key concepts is mirroring (Winnicott, 1971). Winnicott says that when the child looks at his/her mother's face, the child sees him/herself. At the same time, the mother looks at the child, and her facial expression is related to what she sees in the child (Winnicott, 1971). When the baby smiles at the mother, and she smiles back, the child receives a confirmation of who she/he is, an acknowledgement that may eventually develop into a notion of being wanted and accepted. According Winnicott's theories, it is important that the child is reflected and accepted in many different emotional expressions. If a child believes that s/he is only accepted when s/he is happy, or only when s/he is sad, this may provide guidelines for what the child later experiences, and which emotions she/he feels is allowed to express in relationships with others. According to Winnicott, mirroring is critical to a safe self-development, along with other factors such as holding (see the section below on joy and quality of life). Although Winnicott does not directly use the term sense of self, his descriptions of a confident self-experience are largely in agreement with the description of what constitutes a normal sense of self, with an acceptance of feelings and a natural integration of the first-person perspective.

According to Winnicott, if the basic conditions, including holding and mirroring, have been poor, or the child has experienced too much deceit, the sense of self will be weakened, and the child and youth will experience a lack a sense of continuity and coherence in life (Winnicott, 1971, Winnicott, 1986). This is reminiscent of the descriptions of the changes to the basic sense of self that are described in EASE, and is in agreement with the findings describing the association between childhood trauma and subsequent severe mental illness. This and subsequent theories do not only provide descriptions of what might be missing from the patient's childhood. It also suggests which factors that may be important to give the person a possibility to develop a more confident sense of self, for example, through a confident relationship with a contact person or therapist.

In his object relations theory, Fairbairn (1952) describes how negative experiences from childhood can affect patterns later in life (Fairbairn, 1952). According to Fairbairn's theories, the child is fundamentally primed to interact with the environment. If the child is well received by the parents in a supportive interaction, s/he will develop good inner representations of others. These representations may later be transferred to other people, with the child expecting that s/he will be received in a satisfactory manner by other people. If, however, the child is rejected, or subjected to violence or neglect, s/he will not develop such confident inner representations. Since the child is naturally focused on, and needs, interaction, s/he will nevertheless do whatever it takes to maintain interaction, even when this is destructive. According to Fairbairn, this can lead to the child choosing to separate the evil and the good aspects of their parents. The good aspects are retained, and the evil aspects are either overlooked or attributed to the child, who then thinks that the parents are good and that the child is evil and deserves the abuse. According to Fairbairn, this pattern could continue into future relationships, and might explain how children who have experienced abuse at home choose spouses (and other significant relations) that also mistreat them, because they feel more confident in such relationships. Good, safe relationships may paradoxically feel more unsafe, both because they are alien and because they challenge the fundamental organization that the child needed to survive her/his childhood.

Stern (1985) describes a developmental model for self-perception, in which different aspects of relations and interactions are essential in the various phases. He provides an approximate

age for when a type of self-perception starts, and at what age this is particularly relevant. The model is not, however, a phase model, and Stern assumes that development within the various areas continues and is adjusted throughout life. This is interesting in relation to this study, because it gives information about the types of relationships that may be relevant to affecting different parts of self-development and self-perception, also in adults.

According to Stern (1985), the first form of self-experience, the emergent self, begins in the first weeks of the infant's life. This self is primarily sentient and coordinates impressions from various sense modalities into meaningful patterns, e.g. so that they can recognize the mother based on voice, face recognition and smell. Here too we see parallels with the immediate and sensing self, which is described as a normal or undamaged sense of self.

The next form of self-perception occurs when the child is 2-3 months old, and Stern calls this the core self (Stern, 1985). Stern describes this as a physical self-perception, where nonverbal meaning and context are based on bodily experiences. The child feels that s/he can be an active part and make things happen. S/he begins to distinguish between behaviour s/he initiates and behaviour initiated by others. This distinction between I and you are fundamental to a normal sense of self. Damage to this experience can result in insecurity as to who owns the person's own thoughts, who controls the person's own actions, etc. - descriptions that are typical examples of anomalous self-perception, as described in EASE.

From about the age of 6 month, the development of a *subjective self* begins, according to Stern (1985). This immediate subjectivity is described as central to a normal sense of self. The child now has better motor control and experiences her/his own will and intention as well as the ability to focused attention. The child now realises that s/he can share his/her own experiences with others (reach for a toy, push away food), and also share the experiences of others, (look in the direction someone is pointing). Interaction is still nonverbal, and consists of the caregiver tuning into the child's experiences and reflecting these back. According to Stern (1985), if some emotions are tuned in by the caregiver and others are not, this will lead to selective tuning, giving the child a perception of which feelings can be shared with others, and which cannot be shared.

At 12-18 months, the child develops a *verbal self-perception* (Stern, 1985). The child has already experienced non-verbal interaction and communication, now the words are added, providing new opportunities to share experiences. Stern makes it clear that language skills

are not solely positive, but entails a duality. On the one hand, language provides new and better opportunities for communication and the sharing of experience, and a greater closeness to other people. On the other hand, language has limitations for conveying the immediate and the experienced, and entails the possibility of alienation from the immediate experience. Stern distinguishes between "experience that is lived" and "experience that is told," and says that language can be used to distort experiences, which may eventually lead to psychopathological development (Stern, 1985).

From when the child is approximately three years old, the final area of the self, the narrative self (Stern, 1985) begins to develop. This includes the ability to form narrative stories about oneself and one's situation, and to put individual experiences into a shared context. The child is an active participant in this process of creating stories about his/herself and others. But stories always occur in a social context, where the interaction with others affects the narrative that is formed (Stern 1985).

Social community and reciprocity

In the child's first weeks and months, the ties between the child and the primary caregiver are the most important. However, as the child grows, and later, when we are adults, it becomes increasingly important to participate in various social contexts, including contexts that requires mutual cooperation between individuals. This mutual interaction is central to what Bronfenbrenner describes as the proximal processes (Bronfenbrenner, 2005), which he considers to be the driving force behind all development (more on this below). The same reciprocity is also an important part of several of the various types of self-perception in Stern's model of development. According to Stern, from the age of six months, with the development of the subjective self (Stern 1985), the child is not only focused on being mirrored, but also on mutual cooperation and on sharing experiences and feelings (pointing, showing toys, etc.). The importance of reciprocity and interaction is then further strengthened when the child/person develops first a verbal self and later a narrative self. This development makes it possible to use language and stories to share experiences and information, and also to construct a social and personal reality (Stern 1985). This provides new opportunities, but it can also be limiting, depending on the qualities of the social context. If the qualities of the social contexts are too limited, the developing person might

develop a narrative self that is not consistent with his/her fundamental, sentient self (Stern 1985).

Context and coherence

Just as it is not possible to look at the child without considering the relationship between the mother (caregiver) and the child (Winnicott, 1969, in Winnicott, 1971), it is not possible to focus on the individual relationship between the child and caregiver without considering the social context in which this relationship exists. This is true for parents and children, and also for the relation between patients and health care providers, and between students and teachers. The focus for this study is to explore how different environments, including the norms and social roles in these environments, may affect the patients' and students' development. The exploration of social roles in different social structures and systems are also the focus in Bronfenbrenner's (1979) ecological model. He states that the child (or adult) is an active participant in various environments, and that all relationships exist in different environments, which in turn are linked to each other.

Bronfenbrenner (1979) defines four different types of such environments or systems. The first of these environments is the micro system, and this system is the one that deals, to the greatest degree with primary or basic relationships. Bronfenbrenner (1979) defines the micro system as a pattern of activities, social roles and interpersonal relationships. This specific pattern is experienced in a given environment, and it is the combination of activities, relations, and roles, in that given environment, that constitutes the microsystem. (Bronfenbrenner, 1979). This environment is a system in which people have direct contact with each other, a system the child is a part of and which includes activities, symbols and roles. As in the other theories, relationships are considered as utterly important, and the micro system involves dyads, e.g. the mother/child dyad, where people have a mutual and lasting relationship (Bronfenbrenner, 1979).

Proximal processes might be an important part of a micro system. As mentioned above, Bronfenbrenner (2005) describes proximal processes as the driving force behind development. A proximal process is characterized as an event that occurs regularly over a period of time, involving several people, e.g. a dyadic relationship, and that this relationship

is reciprocal. Given these conditions, the activity can be developed over time and become increasingly complex.

The second system Bronfenbrenner describes is the mesosystem. A mesosystem consists of the relationship between two or more environments in which the person is an active participant. (Bronfenbrenner, 1979). For children, this may be the home and school, or home and friends. For adult patients, this may be different treatment providers, or the connection between the inpatient ward and the home environment. The connection between the two systems may be the child's participation in both environments, but there may also be other connections, for instance the teacher and parents might have contact with each other, or, for the adult patient, various treatment providers can cooperate in the treatment of the patient.

The third system, the ecosystem, consists of two or more environments where the child (or adult) is *not* a participant in all the environments, but is nevertheless affected by decisions taken in the environments in which the child does not participate (Bronfenbrenner, 1979). For a child, this may include factors in the parents' workplace, or in the parents' network. For adult patients, this can include social norms at the hospital s/he receive her/his treatment, or the standards of the education the therapist has received. This effect may also be mutual. The child, or adult, is not only affected by factors in the ecosystem, but may also affect the environment s/he is not a part of, by her/his relation to people that are part of the ecosystem (Bronfenbrenner, 1979). For instance, a relation between a therapist and a specific patient might in turn affect or change standards and norms for all the staff at the hospital, including staff the patient never met.

The fourth system is the macro-system (Bronfenbrenner, 1979). This is the overarching system, which defines roles (e.g. the role of the "child", "patient" or "student") and defines the guidelines for organization of activities and interactions. The macro-system consists of cultural and political guidelines, which form the framework for specific actions and interactions. However, also this system is based on reciprocity. The culture not only affects the participants in the system, but is also created by the participants. Roles such as "patient" and "therapist", "student" and "teacher" are defined in our community, and have specific expectations and norms. However, these social roles are also shaped by the persons filling the roles, and are in a continuous development over time.

Time

Time is a key element in several of the descriptions of primary and social relations, emphasizing that stability over time is necessary to developing a good and safe relationship.

Time is also a fundamental element in all development, since all development requires descriptions of changes over time. As mentioned above, Bronfenbrenner (2005) considers time as a key element in the proximal processes, in combination with interaction and reciprocity. It is only when an activity is repeated regularly, with a certain frequency and over a certain period, that development can be expected. This repetition, within the same safe system or relationship, gives the person(s) the opportunity to gradually develop the activity and skill and to make the activity more complex and complicated over time.

We find similar arguments in the Stern's (1985) model of development. Development is always a process that takes place over time, and it is time, interacting with other factors, such as a safe and supportive environment, that enables the development of greater skills and more complex actions. However, time is a limited resource in healthcare, and newer psychiatric treatments often focus on short term interventions. Where patients were previously hospitalized for a very long time, admissions now are much shorter. Although there may be many advantages to this, also for the patients, it is still necessary to remember that time, in combination with other factors (such as stable relations), are fundamental for all development.

Care, creativity and activity

As mentioned above, *holding* is one of Winnicot's central concepts (1971), along with mirroring. The term holding can be understood quite concrete, as the parent holding the child, but also include all forms for empathetic and individually adapted care. The parents should provide a safe and adapted routine in which the child receives food, sleep and individually adapted care. Adaptation is a key concept here, as it is essential that the care takes into account the child's immediate needs, and is not primarily based on the adults' needs or desires (Winnicott, 1971).

Just as Stern (1985) emphasizes the perceptive self in infants, Winnicott says that the infant's identity in this first period is related to the body, and that the physical bodily care is affirmative and strengthens identity. If the child receives good enough (not perfect, but good

enough) care in this period, s/he will achieve a basic sense of "being" (Winnicott, 1971, 1984). This focus on everyday conditions (food, sleep, safety, adapted routines) is also very important for adults, and should be specifically emphasised in work with patients with illnesses of such severity that they cannot always manage to ensure such routines themselves.

Play and activities are also central to Winnicott's theories (1971, 1986), and are closely related to the subjective experience: It is in playing, and only in playing, that the individual child or adult is able to be creative and to use the whole personality, and it is only in being creative that the individual discovers the self. (Winnicott, 1971, p. S73) Winnicott argues that if the child's relations have been sufficiently good and safe, the child - and later the adult could use play and play-based activities (for adults, this will often involve various cultural, artistic or creative activities, which Winnicott equates with play) to create their own representations of reality. These activities create a *potential space* in which we relate to facts, but also ascribe different meaning and content to these facts. We can think about it in different ways and deal with them flexibly. This playful approach allows us to find new solutions or to look at our own experiences in new ways (Winnicott, 1971). Winnicott also claims that this playfulness and flexibility is necessary to overcome trauma and loss, and to process them flexibly (Winnicott, 1971, 1986). This views are similar to those of newer trauma theories (Perroni, 2014; Panksepp & Biven, 2012), that also state the importance of different forms of play and creativity to overcome trauma. This is also supported by research which shows that creative forms of therapy, such as music therapy (Solli et al. 2013) and art therapy (Thompson, 2016) may be useful approaches for adult patients, including patients with severe mental disorders. Patients reports that these kids of creative treatments give them both reduced symptoms and better self-perception (Solli et al., 2013, Thompson, 2016), which corresponds well with Winnicott's theories on the association between play/creativity and self-perception (Winnicott, 1971, 1986).

Stern's (1985) and Bronfenbrenner's (1979) theories also emphasize activity and creativity. However, these theories do not solely emphasize the importance of the activity itself, but also the importance of sharing activities with others. As the child grows up (and for adults), an important part of self-development is based on the sharing of activities. It is important that someone is genuinely interested in what the child (the adults) is occupied with, and that

activities can be shared in reciprocal fellowships. For adult patients, this may include the ability to use various creative expressive methods in therapy (art therapy, music therapy). But it may also include that someone is interested in whatever the patient is occupied with, especially interest that goes beyond symptoms and illness. This correspond well with the statement from patients, telling that they miss that someone is interested in them, as persons, and not only in their diagnosis.

2.4 Health, recovery and empowerment

If talking about improvement is to make sense, we must first define what is meant by health, and also gain an understanding of the different types of recovery. I will therefore briefly go through this here, specifically focusing on mental health. Empowerment is not directly related to health and recovery processes, but has been a central concept in the mental health field in recent years. The term is much used as personal recovery to describe a process where the patient is an active participant and defines his/her improvement and development. It is, therefore, appropriate to briefly review this term here.

Health

WHO defines health as "a state of complete physical, mental and social wellbeing and not merely the absence of illness and afflictions." (WHO, 1946). This is a rather extreme definition of health, and it will in practice be unrealistic for many people, including people who work and believe themselves to be healthy. WHO has since issued a different definition of health, i.e. health is "the ability to live an economically and socially productive life" (WHO, 1970). However, this has not been so widely recognized or used.

There are other definitions of health. Lie (1996) emphasizes the ability to meet everyday demands as being central to health. Antonovsky (1979) describes a sense of coherence and meaning, which provides the person with the ability to cope with and recover from severe psychological stress and to prevent post-traumatic injuries (Antonovsky, 1979). These descriptions are clearly more realistic, and emphasize the fact that health does not only affect the individual, but just as much interactions between the individual and society. This is particularly evident in Lie's definition (Lie 1996), which states that a person can improve their health in two ways - either by improving the ability to implement the requirements

(through training, treatment or simply over time), or by changing the requirements in the everyday life.

This approach, with health as an interplay between the individual and society, is continued by Huber et al (2011). They review different definitions of physical, mental and social health, criticize WHO's definition, and suggest as conclusion the following new definition: "health [is] the ability to adapt and to self manage" (Huber et al, 2011). They also assume that health occurs in the interaction between individuals and society, but this definition emphasizes that the individual's ability to adapt is central, and reciprocity is thus absent.

However, many of these definitions solely emphasize on function as a measure of health. Although this is of course relevant, it is also relevant to consider the individual's subjective experience, as well as more objective health measurements. It is entirely possible to function in the society while subjectively experiencing pain, and it is also possible to function while suffering severe and/or life-threatening undiagnosed illnesses (e.g. cancer or severe hypertension).

In everyday life, we often think of health and illness as extremes on the same continuum. You can have good health or impaired health before passing over a threshold into illness, and possibly becoming sicker and very sick. And of course, the process can also go the opposite way, from illness to health. However, it has also been argued that health and illness are not extremes on the same continuum, but rather represent two different continuums (Keyes, 2007). According to this model, a person may have good or impaired mental health (measured using, for example, factors such as perceived meaning, personal development and context, interests, friends/network, participation in/contribution to society (Keyes, 2007)). Regardless of one's health, the same person may have or not have diagnosable symptoms of illness (Keyes, 2007). Take, for example, a person with poor mental health (recently divorced, limited network, not following up interests, experiencing stagnation, hopelessness and loss of interest), but cannot (currently) be diagnosed with clinical depression or another mental illness. Conversely, imagine a person with clear symptoms of mental illness (hearing voices, with limited delusions, increased fatigue), but simultaneously enjoys good mental health, (has friends, enjoys personal development, actively participates in his/her interests and volunteer work, takes assignments as an experience consultant and generally perceives the meaning and context of life). Although this distinction may provide

good clinical meaning, it is important to point out that factors do, of course, affect each other - if a person lives, over time, in a situation involving very poor mental health, there is a risk of becoming ill; and vice versa, an ill person with good quality of life and good mental health may, over time, become less ill.

Recovery

Recovery is about the individual's improvement processes and has often been used recently for people recovering from severe mental illness.

Recovery is a personal process and it is important to distinguish this from treatment and rehabilitation, or other processes controlled by clinicians and healthcare. Recovery usually describes an internal process. But similarly to the distinction between mental health as a subjective and personal experience and mental illness as a diagnosable phenomenon (Keyes, 2007), we can distinguish between clinical and personal recovery (Slade, 2009).

Clinical recovery means an outcome which is observable to others, assessed by an expert, and where the definition of recovery is the same for different patients (Slade, 2009). Such a definition might for example be that the person has previously received a credible diagnosis (of schizophrenia), but does not now meet the diagnostic criteria, has not been admitted for five years, enjoys normal psychosocial functioning (GAF over 65) and uses little or no psychotropic drugs (Torgalsbøen, 1999).

Personal recovery is, however, a subjectively experienced state, defined by the individual him/herself. It is a constantly evolving process, not a definitive result, and progress is not linear. It is a personal process during which one changes as a person, and which involves changes in values, goals, attitudes, emotion, habits and skills (Anthony, 1993). This process *may* involve less symptoms and increased psychosocial functioning, but it *must* not mean that. It may also mean living with the limitations the illness imposes, but in a way that gives more meaning and hope, and better relationships with both yourself and other people (Anthony 1993, Slade 2009). Personal recovery can be achieved in various ways, but will always require individual solutions, action by the person, and a personal and subjective assessment of whether recovery has been achieved.

Even though recovery and recovery-based treatment has been driven by user movements, some critical voices have been heard in recent years. Some users believe that the one-sided focus on good results can be stressful for those who do not achieve clinical recovery. Others argue that recovery, as it is often used in clinical practice, is another new, patriarchal measurement that focuses more on clinical recovery than on personal experience, and which ignores social and societal factors, powerlessness and stigmatization. (Recovery in the bin, website.)

Neale et al. (2015) had four different groups of people with experience of current and past drug use to evaluate 76 different measurements of recovery from addiction. The measurements were developed by experienced treatment providers. All of the measurements were rejected by the people with personal experience of drug abuse, for a number of different reasons (Neale et al., 2015). The conclusion was that users with personal experience considered recovery a personal development and an internal process, and found that the externally observed, clinically assessed measurements did not capture the complexity and paradoxes of either substance abuse or the improvement process.

The distinction between clinical and personal recovery is the most common. But social recovery has also been used as a concept and, as mentioned above, the social aspect of recovery is the most important for many users. Social recovery is about how an individual's surroundings can hinder or promote individual improvement processes, which Glover (2005) calls recovery-nutritious surroundings. It is important to distinguish this from the treatment. Recovery is always an active and personal process, initiated and driven by the person him/herself. But the context in which the individual lives can promote or hinder this process. This can be about the individual's immediate surroundings (friends, colleagues, family, etc.) and the social structures that surround the person (e.g. social differences, subsidies, norms and culture). Social recovery is closely linked to personal recovery, and they are often mentioned together. But there is, generally, less research on this than on structural empowerment. The importance of social factors on recovery are however known. People who have experienced recovery often highlight the social and practical aspects as very important to their recovery process; often more important than traditional treatment (Topor et al, 2011, Topor, 2004). The same applies to economic factors (Ljungqvist et al, 2015, Topor et al, 2014), work (Borg et al, 2013) and other factors (Topor et al, 2011, Topor, 2004). This is

also related to research mentioned on poverty, stigmatisation and social inequality as risk factors in the development of severe mental illness.

Relationships with treatment providers (Ljungberg et al, 2015 Topor et al, 2015) and others (Topor, 2004) seem to be very important. Slade (2009) distinguishes between three major types of relationships: True relationships, partnerships and distant relationships. A true relationship is a relationship that is personal and genuine, in which both parties can express who they really are, and also see the other as the person he/she is. This type of relationship is general, and is generally found in private relationships, outside psychiatry and the public health service. A professional relationship will always involve some inequality, health professionals will always have more responsibility than the patient, and patients will not be expected to always see the other person for who he/she really is.

At the other end of the scale, we find distant relationships. These are common in psychiatry and are contextual and influenced by therapeutic interventions and models (Slade, 2009). The treatment provider's view of the patient is coloured by the therapeutic model used by the health worker, interpretations of the patient's statements and behaviour are affected by the therapeutic model, and interventions are based on the model's recommendations. Slade (2009) points out that this is a common model in psychiatry, and that while it may work in some cases, the unequal distribution of power makes real development and recovery difficult to achieve. As this model implies that the health worker knows best what interventions the other needs, it will also be difficult to achieve the immediate, personal experience of "I am, I sense, I know what is good for me", precisely because the model stipulates that it is someone else who knows what the patient needs.

Slade (2009) points out that the different models are on a continuum, and that the division of power will vary, even within a specific relationship. He therefore considers all three types of relationships as legitimate, but simultaneously highlights the partnership model which is best suited to recovery-oriented practices. As the name implies, this relationship type is based on cooperation and partnership, in which the health worker and patient work together. The health worker has more responsibility, and does not require the patient to pay as much attention as in a real relationship, while both parties recognize each other as partners, and the health worker accepts that the patient can define his/her own needs and interests. The problems are described in the patient's language, not professional

terminology, and the goal is more personal development than symptom reduction (Slade, 2009).

Empowerment

Empowerment is a key concept in social psychology (Orford, 2008), and has, in recent years, been increasingly used also in clinical psychology. The concept is partly developed by user movements in collaboration with clinicians and health policy makers, and it has been central in the development of laws and practices that put more emphasis on user participation, both at individual and system levels. The intention is to change the hierarchical system which has historically been general in psychiatry, and to replace it with a system that gives more influence and responsibility to the individual patient.

Empowerment is, however, a very complex and complicated concept that has been interpreted and defined in several different ways (Rappaport, 1987, Zimmerman, 1995, Gutierez, 1990, Scriven & Stiddard 2003, Orford, 2008), and which has been used in a variety of contexts in recent decades. Traynor (2003) sees a basis for the empowerment mindset in the UN Declaration (1948), the first article of which says that "all human beings are born free and equal in dignity and rights" (UN 1948). However, this can only be interpreted as a forerunner of the thinking from which the empowerment concept arose. In the United States and Europe, empowerment was not in common use until the 1980s, as a reaction to the increased trend toward medicalisation and individual approaches (Jacobs, 2010). Even earlier, empowerment and related concepts and understanding models were used in Latin America, particularly in relation to social psychology (Freire, 1970).

However, the definitions of empowerment vary a lot. Rappaport (1987) defined empowerment as "a prosess, a mechanism by which people, organisations and communities gain mastery over their life" (Rappaport, 1987). We see that Rappaport defines empowerment as both something that concerns individuals but which may also concern a group or a society. Empowerment can thus exist at several levels (individuals, groups, communities), and this clarification is consistent to most commonly used definitions of empowerment (Rappaport 1987, Zimmerman, 1995, Gutierez 1990, Scriven & Stiddard 2003, Orford 2008).

We can, at each of these levels (individual, group, community), again distinguish between various forms of empowerment. Rappaport describes empowerment as both "a psychological sense of personal control or influence and a concern with actual social influence, political power, and legal rights." (Rappaport, 1987) In this, Rappaport differentiates between the psychological experience of having control, and the actual influence of a person or group. He believes that the empowerment concept includes both of these elements.

A distinction is often made between structural empowerment, which deals with the actual balance of power, and psychological empowerment (Zimmerman, 1995). In his definition of psychological empowerment, Zimmermann (1995) emphasizes the perception of having control, an active attitude to life and a reflective understanding of the environment in which the person participates. For Zimmerman, psychological empowerment mainly relates to the individual, and he specifies other processes relevant to an organizational level. He also says that these processes cannot be clearly distinguished from each other and focusing on the individual's own experience does not mean that we can ignore the importance of sociopolitical and contextual factors. According to Zimmerman, psychological empowerment will consist of various components. An intra personal component, an interactional component and a behavioural component. (Zimmerman, 1995). Other researchers have also emphasized various personal and psychological factors, (self-efficacy, personal responsibility for change and other ways of thinking, feeling and acting) as central to empowerment (Guiterrez, 1990, Ozer, E. & Bandura, A., 1990).

Guiterrez (1990) defines empowerment as a process that increases individual, interpersonal and/or political power, so that individuals can take the initiative to change (improve) their living conditions. This definition also accommodates, therefore, the subjective and personal aspects of empowerment, and awareness of the importance of real, internal personnel and/or political power.

Even though Zimmerman stresses that psychological empowerment cannot be understood without taking into account the context in which the individual lives, the concept of psychological empowerment has been criticized for individualizing social conditions and placing the responsibility for the unfortunate circumstances on the individual - without taking sufficient account of real power imbalances and social inequalities (Orford 2008).

As with recovery, it may be discussed whether empowerment is a process or a result (Freire, 1970, Anderson & Funnel, 2010, Rissel, 1994 Orford 2008). It is probably both. As a process, empowerment is the development a human, an organization or a society experiences in its efforts to achieve a greater degree of control and influence (Rappaport, 1987). Empowerment as a result is thus the result of this process. As a concept, empowerment is generally more concerned with solutions and results than causes and problems (Gibson, 1991), and empowerment as a result is thus a consequence of this. Empowerment is also very complex and complicated, and it is impossible to measure this in dichotomies and say that a person is or is not empowered. Given that dynamic, the multidimensional and relational aspects of empowerment will also vary widely in terms of in which context, at what time, and in relation to what situations and relationships, and empowerment as a result may be very difficult to define in practice. The possibility of influence over one's own life is also very relevant to patients in psychiatry, perhaps especially to patients with severe and enduring mental illness, who often feel that others make decisions for them. The emphasis on transferring power is central, but active attitude and subjectivity are also relevant, especially as the first-person perspective of some of these patients may be impaired (Parnas et al, 2005).

3 Context of the study: Education and treatment

The purpose of this study is to explore whether, and if so to what extent, different environmental conditions impact the experience of everyday life, the sense of self and the opportunities for personal and social development of people with long-term and severe mental disorders.

To explore this, I needed informants who received services that had different theoretical foundation. More specifically, I wanted to explore a service based on a medical psychiatric model, and a service based on a non-medical model, but which still provided services adapted to persons with long-term and complex mental health issues.

Based on this background, I chose to interview patients and treatment providers in two Norwegian DPSs (community mental health centres), and students and teachers in two different Danish schools for adults with severe mental disorders. DPS is a very common service for patients with serious mental disorders, and is central to the medical services Norway has for this group of patients. The Danish schools are an example of a comprehensive service, specifically tailored to this group of patients, but where the service is provided within a different framework than the medical.

In the following, I will give a brief description of the various services and what systems they are a part of. The description of the Norwegian health system will be less thorough than the description of the Danish school system, as I assume that the organization of the Norwegian healthcare service is well known, while the Danish school system is probably less known.

After describing the different models, I will discuss the delineations to partly similar services. A more thorough discussion of the choice of context, and why I chose these particular locations for data collection, can be found in the methods section, chapter 5.5.

3.1 The Danish schools

The folk high school system

Denmark has a long tradition of folk high schools, and they are an established part of Danish society. The profile and purpose of Danish folk high schools is very different to Norwegian

colleges (høgskoler), and are more similar to Norwegian folk high schools (folkehøgskoler) than Norwegian colleges.

There are approx. 70 ordinary folk high schools in Denmark. All of the schools offer long courses, which students, usually young people, attend for a year. Many schools also offer shorter courses, often one to three weeks, normally during holidays. These courses have many adult participants, both working age and retired, and there are also special courses for families with children. In addition to the short and long courses, there are also medium-term courses of 1-4 months.

The mission of folk high schools is general education and enlightenment. The schooling is organized through the Danish Ministry of Education. The Danish Folk High School Act states that the folk high schools:

"...provide teaching and companionship in courses, the primary purpose of which is life enlightenment, popular enlightenment and democratic formation. It is approved by the Minister of Education for subsidy. The education must have a broad, general character. Some subjects or groups may play a prominent role, but never at the expense of the general policy." (Act no. 1605 of 26/12/2013 (Applicable)), the Danish Folk School Act).

According to the Act, the schools are not permitted to hold exams other than preparatory adult education. Students live in the school for the duration of the courses. They eat together, participate in common formal and informal activities, and the social community is an important part of the school offering. The duration, scope and content of the education is carefully regulated by the Folk School Act

The schools receive financial support from the state, and the students pay an additional fee. It is not allowed to withdraw surplus from the schools' operation, and any surplus should be returned to the school.

Day folk high schools

In addition to the ordinary folk schools, there are a number of different day folk high schools.

These were formerly organized under the Ministry of Education and received state aid, but in 2002 the Day Folk High School Act was removed and the operations were transferred to

the municipalities. Today, the day folk high schools are municipal institutions offering education with folk enlightenment or work promoting purposes, adapted to adults.

As mentioned, the general rule (with some exceptions) of the ordinary folk high schools is that students live at the school during the course. In the case of day folk high schools (also called mini colleges), it is most common that students live at home and attend courses during the day. The courses may have a specified, limited duration, or the schools may have a more open offering, where students can participate for a longer period. There are a number of different day folk high schools, with offer services for many different student groups.

Some courses focus more on different disciplines, such as theatre, photography, IT, general studies courses, music, healthcare. Other courses deal with topics such as stress management and depression management, job seeking and résumé writing, or lifestyle/health. Other courses target specific groups, such as people with reading/writing difficulties, ADHD, immigrant women or single mothers.

There is a huge range of different courses. Compared to a Norwegian context, some courses resemble short courses (typically evening classes), others resemble postgraduate education and qualification. Some courses are reminiscent of qualification and job seeking training which, in Norway, is offered through NAV, while others have elements of psycho-education and coping with illness and may correspond to courses provided by Learning and Coping units in the health authorities. However, the day folk high schools offer all of these different course types in the same system, often in the same school.

All of the schools have tuition fees, but the prices vary greatly. In some places, you pay per course, elsewhere for a full-time programme. Depending on the type of course, the course fee may be covered by social services, e.g. students on sick leave or have been unemployed for a long time.

The day folk high schools in this study

The day folk high schools (hereinafter also called schools) also includes schools specifically tailored to adults with mental illness. The services and organization of these schools vary. Some primarily offer stand-alone evening classes; others have an integrated service. Some

offer short courses, focusing on returning to work, for people with depression, sleep problems or burnout. Others have services for people with long-term and severe mental disorders and who need services of a certain duration.

For this study, I interviewed informants from two different schools that offer comprehensive programmes for people with long-term mental disorders. For reasons of confidentiality, I cannot disclose the name of the schools. Both schools have services for youths in a clarifying period, and for adults in retirement (corresponds to Norwegian disability pension).

Youths generally have their course fees covered by social services for a limited period - often six months initially, which may be extended for one to two years. After this period, the students' progress to mainstream school, work, other labour initiatives, etc. Following evaluation, some people are granted early retirement and choose to stay in school as early retirees. Some students initially participated in the youth programme, got an early retirement and choose to stay in school. Some of these may, after some time, return to mainstream education, after having been permitted to spend more time on their development.

Older students on early retirement may attend school as long as they want. The students pay a fee for the education. In one school, a fixed amount is paid per month, which includes as many subjects you want, up to five days a week. In the other school, payment is per subject for one semester at a time.

All students have a mentor or tutor who they can talk to when they wish, about things related to school as well as other subjects. In cooperation with their mentor, students put together a schedule for each semester, evaluate personal goals from the previous semester, and set up new goals for the next semester. These goals may be academic (learning decimal calculus) or personal (attending all classes, making friends, setting boundaries and saying no). If the student want, other teachers may be informed of the goals, so they know how to support the student in achieving the goals.

The schools have a fixed schedule, and each subject is taught at specific times. The students have no fixed classes, but may freely choose subjects from the issued timetable. A number of different subjects are taught, in different categories: sports (e.g. swimming, exercise in the gym, walking groups, zumba, yoga), theoretical subjects (literature, mathematics,

languages, psychology, philosophy, chemistry), subjects relevant to everyday life (e.g. cooking, IT, personal finances, news/social understanding) and arts and crafts (e.g. drawing, ceramics, fusing/glass art, woodcraft, redesign). Several courses also combine various topics, for example, "The Health Line", which focuses on self-care, healthy cooking and the trialling of various types of physical activity, and "Nature and Environment", with lessons in science combined with nature walks.

The schools have morning assemblies every morning. The assembly usually begins with communal singing. One of the teachers will then speak about a current topic. This might be information on a school project, or maybe about a news story, an exhibition, a book or a scientific topic (nesting habits of a bird species or how GPS works, etc.). This takes about 10-20 minutes. Information messages are then given before the assembly closes with a song.

Both schools have communal lunches, where hot food may be bought for a reasonable sum. There is also the option to buy breakfast before the morning assembly, or you can buy coffee and eat a packed breakfast.

All education is voluntary. Young students who have their education covered by the municipality make contact via their coordinator. Students on early retirement pensions can contact the school and meet with the principal/education inspector, either alone or with a friend or family member. To gain admission to the school, students must be over 18 and have a mental disorder. A statement from a doctor/psychologist or similar is not necessary, and you do not need to specify your diagnosis. However, to receive early retirement for a mental disorder, the disorder must be severe and have lasted for some time.

If a student is too affected by drugs to participate in the education in a safe manner, s/he will be asked to go home and sleep, and come back the next day. If students are too ill to attend classes for a period, the place will remain open until s/he is prepared to return. In one school, the rule is that students must call/send an SMS before a certain time if they cannot attend that day. If they do that, everything is in order, and they will be expected the next day, regardless of the reason for the absence. If they do not notify the school, the contact teacher will call them or send an SMS to ask how they are and encourage them to come in either that day or the next day. Beyond being missed, the absence has no consequences.

3.2 DPS and municipal mental health care in Norway

District Psychiatric Centres (DPS) are part of the Norwegian specialist health service in mental health care. Besides the decentralized specialized health services in these community mental health centres, their mental health services consist of more specialized hospital wards and psychiatrist/psychologists in private practice. The DPS's bear the primary responsibility to provide treatment in their geographical areas, for both emergencies and referrals. The DPS's also provide advice and guidance to the municipal health services, and serve as a link between the municipalities and the more specialized hospital wards.

The DPS's have outpatient clinics, one or more inpatient wards, and most of them also have different teams, like crisis resolution team, psychosis team, rehabilitation team or ACT/FACT team.

Treatment in a DPS is largely voluntary. Patients are referred to a DPS by a doctor (usually a GP) or psychologist. The referral is processed by the DPS's admissions team and the patient is granted or rejected services after an assessment of the need and expected benefits of treatment. In the event of rejection, the patient is entitled to appeal the decision. A waiting period is normal before the treatment can be initiated. In the event of outpatient treatment, a fee is paid each time, until one has paid an amount that give the right to free services the rest of that year. There is no fee for admission to an inpatient ward.

The offer of DPS inpatient wards in this study

Two different DPS inpatient wards were included in this study. They were organized under two different hospitals, both part of the South-Eastern Norway Regional Health Authority.

All treatment in the wards was voluntary. The patients were referred in the normal way and it was assessed who got admission and who was rejected. Many of the patients in the target group for this study had been repeatedly admitted to the ward, often over several years. If the referral for admission was rejected, they could then apply again via a GP, and then either be admitted or be rejected again. Some patients had agreements for regular admissions. In one ward, some patients had an agreement about "user-controlled beds". They could then occasionally request admission for a maximum of five days. However, there was a waiting

period for when they could request a new admission after a stay, and limits on how many times per year they could take advantage of such admissions.

The majority of the patients came from home, had been referred by a GP or a therapist, and had waited until they got an admission. Others had been admitted as emergency to a hospital ward and then transferred to the DPS, either immediately or after a short waiting time.

The average length of stay on the wards was approximately 22 days, but in exceptional cases, patients could be there for two to three months. The staff wanted the stays to be short-term. Discharge dates were often determined early in the stay, sometimes before the patient arrived. This was necessary out of consideration for the next patient, who had to be notified in good time of when he/she would get his/her admission.

The treatment in the wards consisted of various components. Most patients were offered medical treatment, in collaboration with a physician. Milieu therapy, including talks with milieu therapy staff, adjustment of circadian rhythms, regular meals, and activities in the unit (e.g. card games, board games or trips outside) was a central part of the schedule at the wards for all patients.

There were also sessions with psycho-education on current topics, such as sleep hygiene and coping with anxiety. These themes were often repeated periodically. The content could therefore be a bit random in the weeks the patient attended, and more or less relevant to the individual patient. Because of the limited length of stay the patients usually only attended just a few such sessions.

Both wards offered individual consultations with a resident psychologist, and possibly also with a social worker and/or psychiatrist, depending on the assessment of the needs, utility and suitability. Some received frequent consultations (1-2 per week), others only at admission and discharge.

One ward offered several different types of groups. Some of these had a clear therapeutic focus, for example. coping groups or discussion groups. Other groups were more practical, such as physical fitness groups or interest groups. The groups generally met once or twice per week. With an average length of three weeks, patients often did not attend very many

group meetings. Some patients also needed some time in the ward to settle down, and usually only managed one or two group meetings during the stay.

Both wards had daily morning meetings, which patients and some of the milieu therapy staff attended. Physicians or psychologists did not attend. Meetings typically provided information about the day, for example, about trips, activities and other issues. Patients were also encouraged to raise issues they wished to discuss, and one of the wards had a round in which each patient was asked to say something about how he/she felt that day, and about any specific plans that day.

Both wards focused on physical activity, through morning exercise and daily and weekly walks. One ward also offered regular relaxation hours, while the other offered yoga and exercise in the gym. Both wards emphasized user participation. Patients were included in the discussion about treatment and treatment plans. In one ward, the treatment plan was made together with the patient. In the other ward the plan was prepared by the staff, and the patient could then comment on it and make suggestions. Although the patient's wishes were taken into consideration, it was the staff who made the final decisions regarding treatment, including duration of stay. If the patient did not follow the ward's programme, e.g. by not participating in communal activities, his/her stay could be shortened, and this could also be taken into account when assessing a referral for a new admission at a later date.

Municipal services when patients are not in the ward

When patients are admitted to the ward, they are supposed to get treatment and support, as required, through a partnership between the specialist health service (usually the outpatient clinic at the DPS) and the municipal mental health care. In formal terms, the specialist health service is responsible for the treatment, while the municipalities are responsible for the general care, including housing. In practice, the distinction between what is treatment and what is care could vary, especially for this patient group, where interaction and practical arrangements are necessary prerequisites for treatment. The various municipalities will have different services and will organize their services differently. As a rule, however, there is a mental health team, offering conversations, support and home visits. Most municipalities and districts also have one or more municipal day centres (see below), with different organization and different services.

As regards housing, the services will vary widely, e.g. in terms of demographics and municipal finances. But most municipalities have different types of housing, with or without varying degrees of support by staff. Other municipal services such as GPs, home visits by nurses, help with household activities, physical therapy and various cultural services may also be appropriate for people with long-term and severe mental disorders. These different types of services would be appropriate for many patients in this study, whether they actively use them or need them without using the service.

3.3 Demarcation in respect to other services

In my exploration of the possible effects of services based on various settings, I chose, as mentioned, to use informants from Norwegian DPSs and Danish day folk high schools.

As far as I know, there is nothing entirely similar to the Danish folk day high schools in Norway, but there are some services with certain traits that are partly similar. I will describe these briefly below. There are also some partly similar services in other countries, for example, the recovery colleges in the UK and work training and education programmes in other countries. However, I choose to limit myself to services in Norway, and to services that are on the borderline between health care, rehabilitation, treatment, education and employment. Pure treatment services are thus not included in the list, nor is general education available to the general public.

For a critical discussion of my choice of context, see the method section.

Most municipalities have one or more day centres for people with mental disorders.

Generally, it is difficult to provide any comprehensive description of the municipal day centres because the services, opening times, organization and target groups vary widely.

Some centres primarily offer a meeting place, with coffee and socializing. Other centres offer a variety of activities, including various courses, physical training and cultural offerings

The Norwegian Fontenehusene are part of the international Clubhouse model, which emphasizes work as a method for rehabilitating mental disorders. The staff of the houses work together with house members to ensure the daily operation of the house, and its members work at the Fontenehuset and in internships or study programmes outside the house.

People who receive financial support from NAV will often be offered or ordered to attend various initiatives or courses. The aim of these courses is to assess, and often increase, the working capacity of the individual. The services may have different duration and content. Some offer training, either in a sheltered company or an ordinary internship. Others are courses focused on motivation, writing applications and techniques for succeeding in a job interview.

There are some secondary schools in Norway especially adapted for young people with mental health issues. The target group is young people with mental health issues who are entitled to secondary education, but have difficulties completing the education because of their mental disorders. The schools have regular curricula, examinations and grades, but the teaching is adapted to the target group.

The coping units of the health authorities, specific wards and units, as well as many municipalities, organize various types of *psycho-educational* courses for different patient groups. This is not limited to mental health, but applies to all kinds of illnesses, and includes, for example, heart courses, courses for stroke patients, diabetes courses, etc. An independent life is a common course for people with schizophrenia, the "KID course" for people with depression, the "Sleep School" for people with sleep problems and the "Dementia School" for relatives of people with dementia. The purpose of the courses is to provide information on the relevant illness or condition, and how best to live with the illness.

There are several different *education programs* designed to support people with user experience to use their expertise in specific positions in healthcare. Such positions may include employees with user experience (MB's), experience consultants, experience teacher or co-researchers.

Several of the *ordinary folk schools* in Norway have specific courses for people with mental disabilities. These are ordinary folk school annual courses, where students live in the school. Although this is a custom folk school offering, it is not an offering for the target group in this

study, but rather adapted for people with mental retardation as their primary diagnosis.

4 Aim and research questions

This study consists of three sub-studies. The primary objective of the study as a whole is to explore whether, and if so to what extent, different environmental conditions influenced the experience of everyday life, the sense of self and the opportunities for personal and social development of people with severe and prolonged mental illness.

The main study has the following research questions, explored in the different sub-studies:

- 1. How do students and patients describe their environmental conditions, and their possibility to engage in and affect these environments?
- 2. How do students and patients describe themselves, and their personal and relational development?
- 3. How do teachers and mental health professionals describe their daily work, relations and attitudes?

4.1 Paper 1

Informants in the first paper were students and patients, and the aim was to explore the experiences of persons with similar diagnoses and backgrounds both in psychiatric treatment and in schools for adults with mental disorders. We had the following research questions for this sub-study:

- 1. What kind of environmental conditions, including relationships, are the patients and students describing?
- 2. How do patients and students describe themselves and their participation in these environments?

4.2 Paper 2

The second paper was also based on information from students and patients. The aim of this paper was to identify and examine possible differences in descriptions of self and of personal development related to a focus on education compared to a focus on symptomatic treatment of mental illness.

We addressed the following three research questions:

- 1. How do patients and students describe development of their relationships and interactions?
- 2. How do patients and students describe themselves, their motivations, and their actions?
- 3. How do patients and students describe their own personal development?

4.3 Paper 3

For the third paper, mental health professionals and teachers were informants. The aim was to explore how the two groups of informants described their work and its contextual and normative framing, and how this might affect the potential for students and patients to develop personal growth. To achieve this aim, we formulated three specific research questions, as follows:

- 1. How do teachers and mental health professionals describe their daily work and tasks, and the impact of norms and framing?
- 2. How do teachers and mental health professionals describe their relationships with their colleagues and with their students/patients?
- 3. How do teachers and mental health professionals describe their attitudes and values?

5 Design and method

In the following I will describe and discuss the design and methodology. It would have been possible to only provide a description here, and compile all of the discussion in chapter 7. However, a critiqual reflection of the practical and methodological choices is an important part of the process leading to the decisions on methods described in this chapter (Vaglum, 2010). I have therefore chosen to integrate description and a critical discussion of the design and methodology in this chapter (Vaglum, 2010), and reserved chapter 7 for a discussion of the findings and interpretations.

5.1 Design

This is a qualitative study, with a descriptive and explorative design. Qualitative methods are generally well suited to exploring areas where there is little previous research, and which were therefore considered highly suitable for this study, since there is little research on how patients participating in various services perceive themselves and their personal development. The data collection was inspired by the Life Form Interview ("Livsformsintervjuet", Haavind, 1987), but the interview was adapted for this study (see descriptions of the interview in chapter 5.6). The analysis was based on the hermeneutical principles of pre-understanding understanding, and whole, partial and empirical theory. The interview design provides ample opportunity for insight into how the various informants describe themselves, their daily lives, environment, norms, relationships and development, which was essential to this study. It was also desirable to not only explore what they described, but how they described it, and the narratives they used spontaneously. This was also addressed by the selected method, and could easily have been lost by using of a more structured, quantitative method.

5.2 Discussion of the selected design

The study has a qualitative, exploratory and descriptive design, while the informants belong to four different groups.

This provides a unique opportunity to explore the similarities and differences in the subjective descriptions of everyday life, commitment, self-experience, participation,

relationships and development. It is important to emphasize that although the informants belong to various groups, this is still a qualitative, not quantitative, study. The informants in the student and patient groups have much in common, but the samples were not matched case-by-case (e.g. in relation to age, diagnosis, gender, etc.). It is important to note this when comparing the descriptions of the various groups. Due to the study's design, observed differences may be attributed to coincidences in the sample, and this must be considered when assessing the findings and interpretations. It is essential that the findings and interpretations that emerge are qualitative, and that this study is followed up by further qualitative and quantitative research. No structured measurements have been used for self-perception in this study (e.g. EASE).

It would of course have been possible to choose other designs, including mixed methods, to obtain quantitative information. This study emphasized the exploration of phenomena thoroughly using qualitative interviews and with perspectives from four groups of informants.

Together with the information from students and patients, the employees' descriptions of the frameworks for the services provide a holistic and comprehensive picture.

Overall, it appears that, also in retrospect, the selected design was reasonable.

The informants (students and patients) are asked to describe themselves and their everyday lives. When they do so, they also provide good descriptions of their relationships, their own interpretations of what is happening, the narratives they use, self-perception, experienced development and descriptions of personal involvement.

These descriptions are spontaneous, and provide useful information about which areas are perceived as important, but it is not a structured measurement of sense of self.

It could have been useful to include a structured measurement, for example, through preand post- testing with an instrument suitable for the task; preferably EASE. This would,
however, have been difficult to implement in practice within the time framework of a PhD.

One must assume that self-perception develops over time, and that there should be a
minimum of two to three years between the first and second tests with EASE so that some
effect could be expected. This assumption is supported by the information from the student
informants, who conform that they have experienced personal and social development, but

that it took several years. Pre- and post- testing of larger groups, with a minimum interval of three years, is unfortunately not possible to achieve within a PhD.

5.3 Informants and inclusion

The study included four different groups of informants: patients, students, teachers and health care professionals.

Patients and students

Inclusion criteria for patients and students

- Present and/or previous psychiatric disorder (with or without concurrent substance abuse) that needed treatment and led to considerable difficulty in functioning in daily life. These difficulties might involve:
 - Not being able to follow up ordinary employment/education, or significant difficulties in doing so.
 - Relational problems that have affected family life, friends or other network.
 - Problems with, or being unable to, participate in extracurricular and/or social activities
 - Have/have needed treatment for mental health problems, either from primary care or specialized health services or from both (regardless of the informant has received relevant treatment or not).
- These difficulties should have lasted at least two years.
- The informant should be able to participate in the interview, without too much difficulties (for instant not being in an acute psychotic state).
- The informant must be able to participate in an interview in Norwegian/Danish, without need for translation.

Recruitment, informants and data collection

At the wards, nurses invited patients they considered to meet the criteria to participate. At the schools, teachers asked some students directly, and I attended a morning gathering and

provided information about the study. Lists were available to sign for any student meeting the criteria and wishing to participate.

Each interview had about 60 – 80 minutes' average duration. No formal testing was done during the interviews, but as a clinical psychologist, I used the interviews to informally check if the inclusion criteria were met (by asking patients about their history of illness, or about diagnosis, if they wanted to share). For one of the patients, it was uncertain if the criteria were met. She has had problem functioning for about two years, and had also got a diagnosis of paranoia. However, her problems seemed to be more related to a conflict at work than to severe mental illnesses. Her interview was included in the analyses, but marked in a different colour, so I knew when working with the analysis that this informant might not meet inclusions criteria. No citations from her are referred. All other informants seemed to meet the inclusion criteria.

14 patients were included, from two different community mental health centres (DPS) in Norway. Nine patients were interviewed twice (6–12 months apart) and five were interviewed once, totalling 23 interviews. All patients consented to participate in the second interview, however five of them were unavailable at that time.

Initial interviews were conducted when the patients were admitted to a short-term open ward. At the time of the second interview, most patients were living at home after discharge from the ward. All admission at the wards were voluntary, and most patients had to wait several weeks from referral to admission. The patients were therefore not in a very acute stage at the first interview, and even less in the second interview.

15 students were included, from two different Danish schools for adults with mental illnesses. Since these kinds of schools do not exist in Norway, I had to visit Danish schools for the interviews. All interviews were conducted at the schools; Six students were interviewed once and nine students were interviewed twice (6–12 months apart), for a total of 24 interviews. The second school were included late in the process, and the five students from this school were therefore only interviewed once, for practical reasons. There was also one student at the first school, that not were able to participate in the first interview, but wanted to participate in the second interview, and therefore also were interviewed only once. For details about the background of patients and students, see Table 1.

Table 1. Background of patients and students

Background information	Patient	Students
	(N=14)	(N=15)
Diagnoses *		
Anxiety/depression	8	5
Bipolar disorder	0	1
Schizophrenia, other psychotic disorders	6	7
Personality disorder	4	8
ADHD, learning disorders, autism spectrum disorders	2	3
Dependency (alcohol, drugs)	8	3
Other	1	0
Age		
18–29	7	7
30–49	5	5
50 or older	2	3
Gender		
Male	9	7
Female	6	8
Duration of problems		
2–5 years	1	
6–10		
11–20	1	
Since childhood/adolescence	12	15

^{*} Many informants reported more than one diagnosis.

All information is from the informants' own descriptions. Many informants had received several different diagnoses, and some were unsure which diagnoses were still considered valid. Sometimes they also needed some help remembering the exact name of their diagnosis (PTSD could be expressed as "all that letters meaning you had traumas", etc.)

Teachers and health care professionals

Inclusion criteria for teachers and health care professionals

- Must have been working at the ward/school for minimum six months.
- Must work directly with patients/students.
- Informants could have different education and profession, as long as they work with patients/students. At the wards, this includes nurses, assistant nurses, doctors, psychologist, and other relevant staff. At the schools, this includes headmasters, teachers and assistants.

All informants met these criteria, and most of them had been working at the same place for several years.

Recruitment, informants and data collection

14 informants were staff at two different Danish schools for adults with mental diseases. All interviews were conducted at the schools. The informants included both headmasters (who also worked as teachers), teachers and one assistant.

At one school, I asked the teachers about participation when I attended one of their meetings and presented my work. At the other school, the headmaster forwarded an e-mail from me to the teachers before I arrived, and asked them to participate. Teachers then volunteered to participate.

14 informants were included from two different District Psychiatric Centres in Norway. Informants included two clinical psychologists, one head nurse, nurses, and assistant nurses. All worked at open, short time wards, were patients were admitted voluntarily. Patients and typically stayed at the wards for 2-6 week, with 3 weeks as average. At both wards, the head nurses asked specific members of the staff about participation. For details about teachers and health care professionals, see Table 2.

Table 2. Information about teachers and health care professionals

Schools/wards and positions	Gender		
	Number	Male	Female
Schools	14	9	8
Headmasters	2	2	0
Teachers	11	7	7
Assistant	1	0	1
Wards	14	5	9
Psychologist	2	1	1
Head nurse	1	0	1
Nurse and assistant nurses:	11	4	7

5.4 Discussion of sample and inclusion

The inclusion criteria do not specify diagnoses

As mentioned in section 2, I wanted to use a clinical description of a patient group which, across diagnoses, is recognizable to most clinicians. Many of these patients will have multiple diagnoses simultaneously, others will receive different diagnoses over time, and it was therefore important to me to focus on function instead of diagnosis. This was also practical because the schools do not use diagnoses, and it would not be possible or desirable to ask to speak with students with a particular diagnosis.

It probably would have been possible to ask to speak with students who had experience of psychosis, but this was not done. Partly because we considered that the duration of the condition, along with the degree of functional decline, was more important than the diagnosis, and also because such categorization would be inaccurate. Most of the patients and the students said they had received several diagnoses, so there was great overlapping between different diagnosis types. Meanwhile, there were many participants who did not remember their past diagnoses, or knew which diagnosis was valid now (Paper 1, Paper 2). This confirms the impression that it would have been difficult, in practice, to recruit specific diagnostic groups, that we would probably have ended up with roughly the same

informants, and that the diagnostic accuracy would not, in practice, necessarily become greater, even though it might give that impression.

All information on diagnoses is based on the patients' own descriptions, and some of these were obviously inaccurate - informants themselves said that they did not remember their last diagnosis, or that they were unsure. It is also possible that some diagnoses were not reported because the informants forgot them, did not want to disclose them, or did not believe them relevant. There is a described bias in the sample associated with concurrent substance abuse (higher for patients than for students), and I am unsure whether this is real or related to differences in reporting. This confusion could have been avoided if all informants had been diagnosed as a part of their participation, or if the diagnostic information had been obtained from the health care system. To diagnose the informants in an ethical way, would have taken a lot of time, and most likely would require several meetings. These diagnoses could also be in conflict with the diagnosis they already had, and could have given confusion. It was also important for me to trust my informants, and to ask for diagnostic information from the health care system would have been difficult, especially regarding the Danish students, since many of them had little contact with the health care system now. Both of these alternatives were therefore considered to be of such disadvantage to the interview situation that they were deemed irrelevant.

In addition to the challenges related to the uncertainty of which diagnoses the patients had, there are also problems related to the inclusion of different diagnoses. Changes to the sense of self are much more prevalent in people with psychotic disorders than with other mental disorders (Henriksen, Nordgaard, 2014, Parnas et al, 2005), and there are thus possible challenges in including different diagnoses in this study. Changes to self-perception have been identified in patients with other disorders, especially severe personality disorders (particularly BPD), although these are probably of a different type to those in patients with psychotic disorders (Nelson et al., 2013, Beeney et al 2016). A clearer range of informants with a specific diagnosis could have perhaps provided more precise information about subjective experiences and opportunities for development, and this should be considered in any follow-up studies, particularly quantitative studies.

On the other hand, findings and interpretations from the interviews (paper 1, paper 2) show that nothing in this sample group suggests that patients with different diagnoses have

different backgrounds, generally different descriptions of their situations, or different development. The two factors that stand out in this range are age (the youngest participants generally described more development than older participants who have been ill for more than 15 years), and the services they receive (students generally described more development than patients).

Sample in relation to the inclusion criteria

The inclusion criteria for patients and students specified that informants must have a severe mental illness (with or without concomitant substance abuse) which had led to changes in daily functioning. The difficulties should have lasted at least two years. With one possible exception (discussed previously), all of the informants satisfied these criteria. Most informants described how they had experienced severe function impairment due to mental disorders for much longer than the two years specified in the inclusion criteria. Five, ten and thirty years were common descriptions for both patients and students. Even though no specific questions were asked about this, the majority spoke of problems that had begun in childhood/early adolescence.

All informants describe different types of function impairment that were specified in the inclusion criteria. All of them had been out of employment/study for a long time. Many received disability benefits. Each one disclosed that they were experiencing, or had experienced, significant relationship problems, and trouble completing daily tasks and participating in social contexts. Each one also described that they were undergoing, or had previously undergone, extensive psychiatric treatment. The only obvious difference between the groups was that the patients primarily described how these were ailments they still had, while many students said that the situation had changed and that they were now either coping with the situation better, had fewer ailments or no ailments at all.

The informants were not asked specifically whether they had experienced childhood trauma. But the majority of informants, both students and patients, spontaneously said they had experienced childhood trauma. This is not surprising. A clear correlation between childhood trauma and severe mental illness has been identified, both in terms of psychosis and severe personality disorders, especially BPD (Cotter et al. 2015, Varese et al, 2012, Moskowitz et al. (ed) 2008, Read et al. 2006). The fact that this correlation also exists in the informants in this

study was expected and only confirms that the informants, both patients and students, are in the target group. It is also natural that not all of the informants spoke of childhood trauma. There may be different reasons for this (Ormhaug et al 2012, Sampson, Read, 2016).

Experienced anomalies in sense of self were not explicitly described in the inclusion criteria, but is closely associated with severe mental illness. Both students and patients spoke about a number of anomalous self-experiences, either in the present, past, or both. They described different phenomenon such as thought chaos, difficulty making decisions, difficulty relating to other people, extreme passivity and apathy, a sense of being different to others, not belonging to the world, hallucinations (voices), etc. All of these are phenomena which can be a part of anomalies in sense of self, as described in e.g. EASE (Parnas et al 2005). This indicates that the informants in the study are representative of the group of patients with severe and prolonged mental illness.

Method for the recruitment and inclusion

As mentioned above, I recruited the staff of the schools as informants by attending meetings and informed them of the study (school 1) and through the principal distributing mails and information (school 2). Those who wanted to participate, then made contact with me. Some students were asked by their teachers if they wanted to participate (schools 1 and 2), others enrolled personally after I had informed them at an open meeting (school 1).

In the wards, relevant employees were asked by their managers if they wanted to participate, and the staff of the wards asked the patients if they wished to participate in the study (based on inclusion criteria).

I have no information to suggest that the managers or employees of the wards had their own criteria, in addition to my inclusion criteria, for whom to ask to participate, and I do not suspect that this happened. Nor is there anything in the interviews to suggest that I have been talking with patients who were particularly healthy or happy, or employees who promoted a particular view. Nevertheless, it can never be completely excluded, based on how the inclusion was done, that some selectivity may have occurred.

Informants from two countries

Half of the informants are from Norway, and the other half from Denmark. There is therefore the possibility that the differences that emerge may be a result of differences in nationality and culture. However, the Scandinavian countries share many similarities, and are generally regarded as comparable.

One possible difference between the countries is that it is popularly said that Danes are "happier" and more "relaxed" than Norwegians. If that is correct, it could possibly be relevant to the findings showing that teachers and students speak more about happiness than do the patients and health care professionals. I did not, however, succeed in finding any scientific references suggesting real differences in temperament, beyond the popular perception. The students' descriptions of past experiences with the mental health services in Denmark are also consistent with patient's description of mental health care in Norway. Teachers' descriptions of the cooperation with the health and social sector in Denmark coincide with the descriptions from Norway. All in all, there is much evidence to suggest that the biggest differences are between different systems, and not between countries.

The context's influence on the sample

It could be argued that the patients were in a more severe phase than the students, or were generally more severe ill than the patients as they had been admitted recently when the first interview was conducted, while the students had been attending school for a longer time. The interviews were, however, not conducted in acute psychiatric wards. Most patients came from home and had been waiting for a scheduled admission, and were not experiencing acute crisis. All admissions were voluntary, and the patients had chosen and wanted to be admitted. Most informants also described a chronic condition, constantly switching between admission, discharge and new admission. The differences between the initial interviews (when they were admitted) and the second interviews (when they were at home), were mainly contextual. Most informants actually appeared as if they felt better and were healthier during the initial interview than during the second interview. The majority of students also described similar stories to the patients from before they started school, i.e. switching between admissions and discharges.

It is more relevant that students actively opted to start school, and also to continue over time. Some of them described, however, that they had not wanted schooling in the beginning, or that they had been absent a lot at the beginning. So even here, it does not seem that this is an extraordinarily motivated group, but rather that, over time, they perceived a service they could benefit from. Teachers also explained that although some students left school prematurely, it was not common, and some of these would return later, with better results.

5.5 Discussion of selected context

In this exploration of the participants' experience of services with different academic foundations, I have chosen to select informants who have been offered DPS day school places, and in the Danish day schools for people with mental disorders. This is a choice, and I will discuss some of the reasons for this choice in this section.

DPS is the most common specialist health services for the target group

The purpose of this study is to explore whether, and if so to what extent, different normative, practical and narrative environmental conditions impact the experience of everyday life, the sense of self and the opportunities for personal and social development of people with long-term and severe mental disorders. I am specifically interested in exploring the importance of services rooted in medical and non-medical frameworks of understanding. It is therefore appropriate that one of the services included should be one that is considered a standard, common treatment for this target group. And DPS is central to this.

By definition, municipalities should not offer treatment, while third line services (hospitals) must primarily deal with specialized issues. As one of my research questions was to examine the informant's descriptions of themselves and their own development, I wanted a service that was both clearly within the health professional model and offered treatment aimed at change. It was also important to me that the service had a certain level of competence, and was a central and common part of the services to the target group. From the appropriate available services, I assessed that DPS is the mental health service that best meets these requirements.

It could, however, be an opportunity to use informants who used outpatient clinics in DPS, rather than inpatient wards. My assessment was that more people in that target group would use inpatient wards rather than outpatient services. This was confirmed as only a few informants explained that they had consultations at outpatient clinics, and that these consultations often only took place over a limited period of time.

Necessary refinements in the interests of the scope of the study

Most patient informants had services from both DPS and the municipalities, and it could, therefore, be appropriate and useful to also interview key people in municipal psychiatry in the different municipalities, and include them as a separate informant group. Many student informants were being, or had been, monitored by the Danish social psychiatry service, and it could, therefore, have been useful and necessary, for equality's sake, to also include such key people as a separate informant group.

Employees of Norwegian municipalities could not, however, act as substitutes for informants from DPS, as that would not provide enough information about a measure aimed at treatment and development.

And the informants from Danish social psychiatry could definitely not act as substitutes for informants from the schools because they might belong to the more traditional social psychiatric understanding model, and a comparison between Norwegian and Danish social psychiatry would become a completely different study, and probably far less relevant.

There is little research on the Danish day schools

In Denmark, various day folk high schools have provided services to adults with mental disabilities for more than 20 years. Despite this, they are not very well known in Norway and, as far as I know, it has not been assessed whether this would be a useful service in Norway. In Denmark, the schools are not well researched and the existing research is characterized more by smaller evaluation projects than actual research. Meanwhile, the evaluation that has been carried out is positive, and the students disclose anecdotes of very good experiences with the schools.

When this type of schools also is a financially reasonable service, locally based, voluntary and with high satisfaction levels among users with low drop-out levels, it is, in itself, useful to explore these services thoroughly.

The Danish day schools have an exceptional position in cultivating of clear framework and a professional foundation

It is, of course, a research challenge to have informants from two different countries. As I still chose this, it was primarily about cultivating the academic bases. It was a basic prerequisite for this project that I wanted informants from services with two different professional models of understanding.

If we compare the overview of the Norwegian services on the borders between treatment and education/employment (3.3), with the description of the Danish day folk high schools, it is clear that the schools differ from the other services in terms of objectives. With the exception of the municipal day centres, all of the services mentioned in chapter 3.3 either had an objective of recovery/improved function (e.g. able to work), or to live with and accept the illness. This is quite unlike the day schools' focus on personal development as a value in itself, regardless of the result.

This focus on self-development is particularly relevant in terms of the research mentioned in chapter 2.2 about possible connections between anomalies in sense of self, childhood trauma and severe mental illness. It is, however, important to emphasise that, although the schools I've visited focus on personal development, it is not a common feature of all day schools.

There are day schools with a much clearer focus on results and job training, and which are similar to ordinary Norwegian labour initiatives organized by NAV. And there are also schools that are more characterized by psycho-education. These services were deliberately not included in the study for the same reason that the Norwegian labour market initiatives and psycho-educational courses were not included.

The Norwegian day care centres are fairly similar to the Danish schools considering that the focus is on the services provided, not to either provide information about illness or increased levels of functioning. However, the day care centres generally have less expertise than the schools, and are often more focused on socializing than on education, although this will vary

widely between different day centres. In Denmark, there are "places to be" ("væresteder") which correspond to the Norwegian day care centres.

These "places to be" focus much less on academic activities than the schools, and work much like Norwegian day care centres, and the users of the centres often focus more on illness. This is different from the schools. Since the focus of the subjects is so evident in the schools, it is natural that people talk about the subjects during breaks, like whether there are trips that they have taken or will take, the ceramic project they are doing or topics from the social sciences or philosophy teaching. In the "places to be", the primary common experience is illness, and therefore illness is often a theme in conversations.

This is also recognizable in the Norwegian day care centres. In recent years, there has been significant development of the day care centres, and more centres are now moving away from the traditional model. They rename, and they focus more on courses and activities. A natural follow-up to this study may be to study the development of such day care centres and their effects on different target groups. In this study, however, I chose to include informants from the schools because the academic foundation was much clearer there.

The two settings should represent different models of understanding, yet have some relevant similarities

It was important for this study that the services should be clear and typical representatives of different models of understanding. It was also desirable that the two services had some similarities, particularly in regards to frames and exterior designs. Despite all of the differences, the schools and DPS wards had several such similarities in terms of volunteering, target groups, service design and degree of specialization. There were of course also many differences, including the need for referrals and the duration of the service.

That there were some similarities, was nevertheless relevant. One example is that in both schools and inpatient wards, the educators/treatment providers and students/patients spent a lot of time together during the day. This is significantly different from other services which could have been included, such as weekly outpatient therapy sessions.

The interviews with informants showed, however, that even if the framework for interaction were fairly similar, the contents and their personal descriptions of the interactions were very

different. This is important, and would hardly have been as obvious if the informants had been in situations that were significantly different, e.g. individual therapy versus education.

5.6 Interview and adaptation of the interview

All informants were interviewed with qualitative interviews, inspired be the "Form of Living Interview" (Haavind, 1987). This interview where chosen because it is an excellent method to get peoples description of their life, and their own narratives in a structured way, without asking leading questions.

However, it has not been used very much, and mainly in families with small children. The interview was therefore adapted, so it would fit for the purpose of the study and the different groups of informants.

Interview, adapted for students and patients

The interview was opened by telling the informant that I had few specific questions, my main interest was to learn more about how their normal day was. I then asked them if they could describe what they did yesterday. If the informant seemed insecure, I said something like — "Let's start with the morning, when did you wake up?" I wanted a detailed description, but not too detailed, - if they said something like "I live alone, I woke up at 8, got up, ate and took the bus to school," that was detailed enough. Some added more information, other less. If the information were too general, I would ask for more details with statements like "can you please tell me a little more about that?"

In addition to their descriptions of their day, I also asked for their own *assessment* of what they described. If they said something like "When I arrived at school, I attended to the morning gathering", I would first ask them to describe this more closely, and, when they did so, ask them: "What do you think of morning gathering?" If they said they liked it/not liked it, I asked "why, what is good/bad about it?" This adaption of the interview was made to explore the informants' own thoughts and assessments of their everyday life. In this study we were not only interested in *what* the informants described, but also in *how* they described their situation, and in their personal narratives and "ownership" of their everyday life.

Many informants mentioned change, saying things like "Now I can..." "Earlier I used to ..." If they said something like that, I would ask them to describe the changes. This could be both positive and negative changes.

All questions were open, I never asked "do you like it?", But "what you think about that?" "How is that?". I also used phrases such as "can you say more about that?", "can you please tell me what that means for you?", etc.

For the students, every school day differed, according to the timetable. After they had described yesterday, we therefore went through last week, with even lower level of details, and I asked them only to describe things that were different from the first day, for instance other subjects, or other appointments. After they had described the whole week, I asked if they experienced this as a "typical" or "normal" week, and if not, why. We wanted to explore if there were any specific exceptions, such that they used to have music on Wednesdays, but this week the teacher had been sick, etc. I also used the same technique for patients, although their days both were more similar to each other, and at the same time more randomly different.

Most informants, both students and patients, spontaneously mentioned illness or diagnosis. If they talked about disease, without mentioning the diagnosis, I asked something like: "It is totally up to you what you want to talk about, or tell me, but I'm wondering if you're ever gotten a diagnosis of your problems?" Those who had not mentioned the diagnosis spontaneously replied without hesitation and named their diagnoses — or those they could remember.

We also added some specific questions to all patient and student interviews. Order could vary, depending on the structure of each interview, but all of these informants got the following questions:

1. "(Norwegian) newspapers has often, especially in summer, interviews with celebrities who are asked to draw a line describing his life, with ups and downs. Like this:"

I then demonstrated by drawing a line, and said things like "An athlete, for instance, could say that "I had a good childhood, so here the line is high, then I struggled a bit as a teenager, and then the line went down, and here won the World Cup, so here the line is at top notch."

After drawing the line, I continued: "Now I'm wondering if you could draw such a line of your life?"

All informants drew the line, without problems. The drawing themselves were of little importance, and are destroyed, but their descriptions of ups and downs gave an easy and quick overview of their history, without burdening the informants with detailed, and possible leading, questions.

- 2. "If you should present yourself to a person you had never met before, what would you say?"
- 3. "What do you think is best with this school / this ward?"
- 4. "Is there something that is not so good here, or that you would like to have changed?"
- 5. "I wonder if you have any thoughts about the future, what do you think your life will be like in for instance one, or five, years?
- 6. "We will finish this interview very soon, but before we do so, is it something I forgot to ask about, or that you would like to add?"

Interview, adapted for health care professionals and teachers

The structure and opening of the interview with teachers and health care professionals was similar to the interview with patients and students. However, for these groups of informants, we limited the period of interest to the time they were at work. So, I opened the interview by asking informants to describe what they did last time they were at work. If they were insecure, I said something like — "Did you work yesterday? When did you arrive? What was the first thing you did?". Even if I did not need all tiny details, I still wanted a detailed description of their day, and if their descriptions were to general, I would ask them to "please, tell me more about that".

Also for these groups of informants, I wanted their assessment of their descriptions, and more information were retrieved by open, not leading, questions.

Teachers had different timetable every day. Nurses and nurse assistants sometimes worked at daytime, sometimes in the evening, and their tasks would wary according to shifts, and to the patients' situation. After they had described the last time they worked, we therefore went through last week, with less details, focusing on differences and new situations. After

they had described a whole week, I asked if they experienced this as a "typical" or "normal" week, to explore if there were any specific exceptions in the described period, that could affect the answers.

Also for these groups we also added some specific questions to all interviews, most often at the end of the interview:

- "What do you think is best with this school / this ward?"
- 2. "Is there something that is not so good here, or that you would like to have changed?"
- 3. "We will finish this interview very soon, but before we do so, is it something I forgot to ask about, or that you would like to add?"

5.7 Discussion of the interview and interview situation

The chosen interview method had several advantages. It was structured enough to maintain focus and give the informants a framework within which to speak, while not posing any leading questions, and the informants were free to describe their reality the way they wanted.

The disadvantage of this was of course that not every topic was covered by all of the informants. They were, as mentioned, asked some key questions, but there were not so many, and they were fairly open. No direct questions were asked about experiences related to anomalies in the sense of self. Nor were they asked about other subjects, such as experienced trauma, relationships with family, and cooperation between different agencies.

Many informants spoke spontaneously about such topics, but it is quite possible that other informants had similar experiences, which were never disclosed because they were not asked explicitly.

The presence of childhood trauma and cooperation between agencies or others were not topics for this study. Sense of self was a topic, but to include direct questions about this would probably have demanded the use of a structured study (e.g. EASE), because these experiences are typically diverse, personal, and difficult to elicit with direct questions.

Many informants described such phenomena, spontaneously, and included descriptions of their everyday lives. Sense of self is a clinical term, but it is very reminiscent of the phenomenological concept of life-world, which deals with precisely these immediate and automatic experiences.

An exploratory method which asks the informants for their own descriptions of how they experience their daily lives, is therefore well suited to obtaining this type of information. I conducted all of the interviews. I have specialization in clinical community psychology, and I found, with some of the patients, that it was tempting to take on a clinical role as a treatment provider. These were patients who had a lot of experience with therapy and psychologist conversations, and I knew that these patients, who "could talk to a psychologist," could tempt me to leave the researcher role for the role of a therapist. The structure of the interviews was, however, so clear that I quickly noticed this when it happened, and went back to the researcher role.

On several occasions the researcher role seemed unnatural, so I chose to put this into words for the informants, by saying something like this:

"Yes, I'm a psychologist, and you've talked with many psychologists before and know how that may be. However, I am here today as a researcher, so it will be a little different. I will make sure that we stick to the framework of a research interview. Is that okay for you?".

This clarified the situation, and we could continue the interview. However, I do see this as an interesting finding in itself, and as a confirmation of how well integrated the patient role was in some patients.

I also have previous experience as a patient with a psychiatric diagnosis (this is discussed in the section below on pre-understanding), and in that regard I have written books, lectured and given interviews. This means that some people in Norway know about my background. A few of the patients knew about this, and mentioned it after the interview was over. I asked them how they felt about that, and they said spontaneously that they thought it was fine and that it was easier to talk to someone with patient experience. This compares well to the experiences of "user asks user research". Some employees also knew of my dual experience, and mentioned it after the interviews. On the same question, about how they felt about it, they replied that they "thought it was fine." It is of course possible that some of the informants, especially the employees, may have moderated their statements and made them more "politically correct" in meetings with me.

However, there is little in the findings to suggest this. The employees were very open, even on difficult and ethically controversial topics. It was considered whether it would be appropriate to inform all the informants about my background, both as a former patient and psychologist. The advantage of this would be that the topic would be open and that everyone would have the same information. I chose not to do this as saying something like that at the beginning of the interview could have provided guidance in the conversation, and also provide a focus for me as a person, which I found had very little purpose.

Most Danish interviewees knew little about my background, but some had heard of me (the books have been translated into Danish, and I have also lectured in Denmark).

The reaction to the teachers and students who knew who I was, did match the reactions from the Norwegian informants. Some said it towards the end of the conversation, and said that this was either unproblematic or beneficial.

I am Norwegian, and Norwegian is my mother tongue, while half of the informants were Danish speakers. The form of the interview, in which I asked them to talk freely, and only asked follow-up questions, was a clear advantage in this context, as I was not dependent on being able to trust that they understood all of the nuances of my questions as exactly as the Norwegian informants. If I had specific questions, this could have been a bigger problem. It was unproblematic because the important thing was that they spoke freely, not that they understood every word I said exactly. I also have a good understanding of Danish, after many visits, and had no difficulty in understanding the informants. If there was a word I was unsure of, I just asked.

5.8 Recording and transcription

The interviews were audio recorded. Norwegian interviews were transcribed by medical secretaries with Norwegian as their native language, while the Danish interviews where transcribed by medical secretaries with Danish as their native language. The secretaries were asked to transcribe the interviews exactly as they appeared, with incomplete sentences, stuttering and natural mistakes. Sounds, hesitation and pauses were written in the transcription in italic (for instance: *coughing*, *short pause*, *laughing*, ect.).

Citations used in the papers, and in this thesis, where translated into English by me. At the same time, the citations were gently adapted, by removing sounds, hesitations, and repetitions that are a normal part of oral language, but is disturbing in written language. The reason for this small revision were mainly a wish for more clarity. However, there were also an ethical consideration — oral language is usually different from written language, and to use oral citations in a written text can make the informants seem less competent than they really are.

The written transcriptions were stored in a less secure file than the audiotapes. For security reasons, the secretaries were therefore asked to omit names, both of persons and places from the transcriptions, together with sensitive information or information that could identify persons.

5.9 Discussion of recording and transcription

One of the participants did not want me to use recorder in the second interview. He said that it had gone well last time, but he did not want it this time, - and this was of course respected. During this interview I took detailed notes and everything was written up in detail immediately afterwards. These notes were then marked with a different colour and quotes from the interview were not used in the article. The analysis took into account that the citation was not literal and exact. Beyond that one person, none of the interviewees objected to the use of a recorder, they spoke freely and it did not seem like they cared very much that it was there. It would have been an advantage if I had transcribed the interviews myself, but since the material was so extensive, I couldn't manage it. I also considered that since Norwegian is my native language, and half of the interviews were in Danish, it was more appropriate that all interviews were transcribed by someone fluent in Danish and Norwegian. However, since I did all the interviews myself, I remembered them when I read the transcript and also used the tapes as support in the process of analysis.

5.10 Qualitative data analysis

The analysis of the material was made based on the transcripts of the interviews. The recordings were used as support in this analysis, along with a handwritten log book. Since I myself had conducted all the interviews, I also memorized them extensively and brought

that with me into the analysis. N-VIVO software was used in the analytical work. The analysis of the interviews was inspired by the hermeneutical spiral and the hermeneutical principles of content analysis: pre-understanding - understanding, whole – part, theory - empirical (Kvaale, Brinkmann, 2009 Malterud, 2011). Since the study included four informant groups, and several informants were interviewed twice, the material consisted of 75 transcribed interviews; and each interview lasted between 60 and 90 minutes. Altogether it is an extensive data set. Because all of the analysis was done in N-Vivo, I have no total page count for the transcribed material. However, each interview was typically 25-35 pages long and total number of pages was estimated to be between 2000 and 2500.

To make it more manageable and transparent, the analysis of interviews was therefore divided into two separate processes. First, interviews with students and patients were analysed, and then the same process was repeated with teachers and health workers.

Both analytical processes (students / patients and teachers / health workers) were completed in the same way:

I started by reading through all the interviews several times, while I took notes and listened through parts of the recordings. This resulted in a comprehensive understanding and correlation of the interviews and the transcriptions.

After this I created separate projects in N-Vivo for each group of informants. In the first process, one for students, one for patients, in the second process, one for teachers and one for health workers. First and second interviews with students and patients were in the same group, but the interviews were marked, so I knew which type of interview I was reading.

I then went through all the interviews, one at a time, identified meaningful units (sentence, paragraph), and grouped them into different sub-categories. The first and immediate categories were then condensed several times into new sub-categories. Sub-categories were then abstracted to major categories. The main categories of the two groups of informants in each assay process was now seen in context.

To ensure consistency and to minimize subjective bias, the relevant units, sub-categories and main categories were discussed with supervisors. This was an extensive process, involving recapitulation and thorough discussions, until it was agreed that each sub-category and main category was significant, consistent and had a precise and descriptive definition.

The findings and interpretations from the first analytical process was subsequently separated into two thematic groups. Main categories both from student interviews and patient interviews (which described environmental conditions) were presented in article one, while main categories from both the patient and student interviews (which described personal development) was presented in article two. All findings and interpretations from the second analytical process (health professionals and educators) was presented in article three.

5.11 Discussion of data analysis

The data in this study was very comprehensive and it was a challenge to deal with it in a structured manner. I tried to do the analysis manually, but found evaluating such large amounts of data impractical. I concluded therefore that it was more efficient too use N-Vivo. Through the use of this program, and by dividing up the material into various categories, I was able to accurately analyse all the information I had. It should also be noted that N-vivo was exclusively used for practical matters - to organize and manage the material- and that the analysis itself was carried out manually.

In the actual analysis work I cooperated closely with two supervisors. Only I read and identified meaningful units in the more than two thousand pages of transcribed text, but meaningful units were submitted to the supervisors. We then discussed the various subcategories, which units belonged to which respective category, which sub-categories were synthesized together, which sub-categories were abstracted into main categories, and also the terms of the sub and main categories. In this process with rigorous and repeated discussions, a number of changes and clarifications was done, and consensus was achieved. It was a transparent process; my reviews were regularly and continuously shared and discussed with others, which I think is essential for the outcome.

5.12 Preconceptions

It is not possible for someone to be completely neutral and objective, and it would be very dangerous to believe that one could be. Within qualitative methodology it is therefore important to be conscious of preconceptions, so you can deal with them in the most appropriate way.

My expertise, before I started this project, is complex, and includes both experience as a patient and expertise as a clinical psychologist. Over the period of several years, I was treated in mental health units for a severe disorder (Lauveng, 2005 Lauveng, 2008). After I recovered, I was educated and trained to become a psychologist, and since then I've worked as a clinical psychologist, specializing in clinical community psychology.

The role of the clinician is of course completely different to that of a researcher, and this was something I had to bear in mind during research interviews, especially in situations where my training as a clinician diverged from my role as a researcher. In cooperation with a supervisor I therefore developed procedures for how to conduct ethical evaluations during interviews (see paragraph 5.13). Once these were in place, it was unproblematic to maintain focus on the role of the researcher in the interview situation.

Throughout the project, I wrote a log book (handwritten notebook). In this book, I accounted for my preconceptions after the project had started, but before the interviews and data collection began. My preconceptions at that time were that I believed that schools would have a positive effect, at least on some students. Specifically, I expected that:

- Students would have less severe problems than patients (selection).
- Students would show obviously greater improvement than patients and progress more quickly in their job / studies.
- That the *content* of the subjects, especially practical knowledge, would have great significance.
- That patients at least some of them would feel uncomfortable on the wards (built on many stories about patients who complain about Norwegian psychiatric care).
- That therapy and treatment would be important for patients.

In retrospect, I see that I had few, if any, expectations directly related to teachers and health workers.

A thorough review of what I found can be located in the chapter: "The findings and interpretations of the three articles." Here I just want to underscore that some of my expectations turned out to be correct, others were less so or were part of a larger picture, and some were erroneous. I also encountered a number of topics that I had not thought of

or been aware of in advance, but that became apparent during the analysis of the material. My expectations about what I would find was therefore in no way identical to what I actually did find, which I see as positive and reassuring. Meanwhile, there was of course some overlap, which must be regarded as natural, since I was familiar with the field already.

To make sure that my preconceptions not would influence the results too much (to avoid all influence is probably impossible) I made several efforts:

Firstly, I wrote down my preconceptions in advance in a handwritten document, a log book. I brought this log book with me to the interviews and wrote my reflections in it after each interview. This made me constantly aware and conscious of my own preconceptions, so I could acknowledge these and actively reflected on them. The fact that I used the logbook regularly during the work, ensured that I remained conscious of my own reactions. In this way, I also was able to detect and remedy for any patterns or imbalances. During the interviews, I stuck to a framework, focusing on what the informant had done that day / week. Beyond this, I followed the informant's own choice of theme and asked exclusively neutral monitoring questions, without specific guidelines.

In the analysis, I chose to deliberately cooperate with supervisors regarding content and headings of the sub and main categories. I know it's easy to get stuck on a specific viewpoint, and through an open and transparent process, with constant discussions with others, I wanted to reduce the impact of preconceptions and subjectivity.

5.13 Ethical Considerations

The Regional Research Ethics Committee (REC) and the Privacy Ombudsman at Akershus University Hospital approved the study. The data was collected and stored according to their regulations. The Danish Ethical Committee for Research notified me that no approval from themselves were required. Participation was voluntary, all informants received verbal and written information about the study and signed a statement of informed consent. Participation in the study was not related to permission to continue in treatment or education, and there were no consequences for informants regardless of whether they chose to participate or not. All informants were told that they could end the interview at any time without any reason, but no one did. All informants were also notified that they could contact me in a period for up to six months after their final interview, if they had any

questions or reactions regarding the project or the interview, but none of them used this opportunity.

To secure confidentiality, quotes in the papers do not specify age or gender, and information about which schools and DPS I visited have not been made public.

No information from single interviews with health professionals or teachers was shared with management at DPS or schools in any way which could identify the informant. The same was true for patients and students, and no information was shared with therapists or teachers in a recognizable way unless the patients specifically asked for it to be shared. Most interviews were conducted at the wards and schools, but confidently and in private.

All interviews were conducted by me. I am a clinical psychologist and have experience of therapeutic conversations with patients. This was beneficial because I had experience in managing patients with severe mental illness and was confident that I could manage any potentially challenging situations (should they occur), but there were no such incidents. However, the situation was also challenging, as many of the informants in the patient groups described very difficult situations, especially at home between inpatient stays. For me, with my therapeutic experience, it was problematic to hear about patients in such challenging, and sometimes unethical or dangerous situations, without making any interventions. At the same time, I knew it was crucial for the research that I was able to observe without intervening. To find a good balance, I made the following guidelines in cooperation with my supervisors:

I would only give up the objective position of a researcher and actively intervene if any of the following situations should occur:

- 1. The patient had an acute stress reaction during the interview. In that case I would of course end the interview and take care of the patient.
- 2. I got information about a situation where peoples life or health were in danger.
- 3. An informant (patient / student) asked me for help in a difficult situation.
- 4. The situation was assessed as being severe and it was likely that my intervention would change the situation for the better.

Using these guidelines, I experienced the following situations:

- No informant got an acute stress reactions during any interview. No informant asked me to intervene in any way.
- Several times I considered patients living conditions to be unacceptable, but not life threatening. In these situations, however, all authorities were well informed of the patient's situation and I could not see that further intervention from me would have any positive effect for the patient. So, my focus was on documenting the situation through research.
- One time a patient told me about plans which included both suicide and violence toward others. The patient notified me that the ward had not been informed about this, because they (the ward) had not asked. When I asked the patient, I immediately got permission to inform the ward, and this was done in cooperation with the informant.

As reported in paper 3, some of the mental health professionals made statements in the interviews which could seem moralistic or judgmental regarding patients. Some informants also described situations which, based on their descriptions, seemed to be ethically problematic and could possibly threaten human rights. We followed the same ethical guidelines as above for these situations. All described incidents had happened some time ago, and it was not possible at the time of the interview to change the outcome. We agreed that all statements should be met in the same neutral way, with an emphasis on "please tell us more about that", in a non-confrontational way. The rationale for this was to collect all information in a neutral, non-judgmental way, analyse it later, try to understand the context of the statements, and possibly contribute to make some similar future situations better for those concerned.

6 Findings and interpretations from the three papers

In this chapter I will briefly go through each of the three articles to summarise the findings

from the interviews with the various informants. For more detailed information, please refer

to the articles.

6.1 Paper 1: Same diagnosis, different lives: A qualitative study of

adults with severe mental illness in treatment and in education.

This paper focused on how the students and patients perceived their lives, their

environmental conditions, their relations and their own engagement in these relations.

Method and analysis

This paper had 14 patients and 15 students as informants. As mentioned previously, main

categories from the analysis of the interview with students and patients were divided into

two groups. The first group of categories (findings related to environmental conditions and

quality of life) was presented in this paper. A total of seven sub-categories were included in

this group. These were abstracted into four main categories, two for students and two for

patients.

Research questions

For this paper, we had the following research questions

1) What kinds of environmental conditions, including relationships, are the patients and

students describing?

2) How do Patients and students describe themselves and their participation in these

environments?

Findings and interpretations

Students: A nurturing environment

Well-being

Students described how various aspects of schooling altogether gave them a better quality

of life. Structure was important for many, as they had something to go to every day. Several

also mentioned that they had developed a healthier lifestyle with more exercise, fresh air

and regular meals at school. All stressed the importance of having fun and that school gave

them many good experiences.

Learning and reflecting

Most students stressed the importance of learning new skills. They described that it was

important to learn things they could use in their everyday lives, and that could give them

new opportunities. Furthermore, they described the actual process of learning something

new as important, and as something which contributed to mastering.

Students: Supporting the unique individual

Relations

All students described the good social environment at school as one of the most important

things. They described good, safe, stable and reciprocal relationships with teachers and

experienced that teachers cared about them as individuals. They also described the

importance of friendship and fellowship with other students, including laughing together

and supporting each other. Some perceived the school as a family. Several students also

described an attachment to the school itself as a separate phenomenon, in addition to the

relations to the students and teachers.

Individual customization

All students described that they experienced person centred leaning and support in school,

and that their individual needs were met in a way adjusted to them. All also described that

this element was very important to them, that the teachers knew them as individuals, and

that the teaching was tailored to their wishes and interests.

Patients: discontinuity

Good care at wards and no care at home

Patients described chronic experiences of discontinuity, with a constant alternation between

support at the wards and loneliness at home. The stay on the wards was described by most

as good and safe, and they stressed in particular the importance of social support and conversations with the staff. Their domestic situation was generally described as extremely difficult, with much loneliness and many severe symptoms. There were variations in the amount of treatment patients received at home, but most described this as little or fragmented treatment, and/or that they were not able to follow-up the services they were offered.

Lack of lasting relationships

With the exception of one or possibly two, all patients described extreme loneliness and few or no stable relations. Most relations were described as professional, and these relations were characterized by minimal contact with staff. Patients felt that they had little influence on these relations, that the relations were often of short duration, and that they constantly were given new contact persons and therapists.

Patients: Little support adapted to individual needs

Adjusting to the system

Patients described care as standardized and not accustomed to the individual. -They described that they had to adapt to the system, whilst the system to a very little extent adapted to them and their needs. They also described that they had to adapt to many rules, and that they had to attend many mandatory activities which they felt were not relevant to them.

Not taken seriously

Most patients told that they felt they were not taken seriously when they described their problems and needs, and that they received less help than they needed. They said that they might receive good help, but they themselves had little influence on this.

Summary across informants in this article

The two groups of informants in this study had comparable diagnoses, symptoms, background and medical history. However, they described that they lived completely different lives, and their descriptions of daily life and relations were very different.

Their participation was also described as different. Patients described being encouraged to become independent, while at the same time feeling that they were not taken seriously and had little control over their own lives. Students' descriptions were the opposite. They described receiving much support over a long time, and at the same time experiencing much influence and control over their own situation. They felt they were taken seriously and participated in a system of mutual cooperation.

Few or no patients described neither clinical or personal recovery, while all students described either clinical recovery, personal recovery, or both.

Overall the findings and interpretations suggest that the most important thing for these patient groups may not be their diagnosis, background or individual symptoms, but rather what environmental conditions they are offered. Stable and mutual relations, individual adaption, good experiences and enough time seems to be particularly important in this context.

6.2 Paper 2: Treating symptoms or assisting personal development: Can different environmental conditions effect personal development for patients with severe mental illness? A qualitative study

This second article explores how the different environments (schools and mental health services) may affect patients' and students' experience of their relations, own engagement and personal development.

Methods

Data was collected through qualitative interviews. Participants included 14 patients in psychiatric treatment and 15 students at schools for adults with mental illness. Most informants were interviewed on two occasions 6-8 months apart, altogether 47 interviews. All had been diagnosed with a severe mental illness which had had a profound impact on daily functioning (most often psychoses or personality disorders) for a minimum of two years.

Research questions

1. How do patients and students describe the development of their relationships and

interactions?

2. How do patients and students describe themselves, their motivations, and their actions?

3. How do patients and students describe their own personal development?

Findings and interpretations

Patients: Lack of lasting and meaningful relationships

Loneliness

Most patients described an overwhelming loneliness when they were at home. Many had

few or no stable relations apart from relationships with healthcare professionals. Although

these relationships could be good, patients had limited time with the healthcare

professionals. Many described having contact with others for only a few hours per week.

The rest of the time they were alone.

Humans as tools

Patients mostly met other patients at the wards, and then only for a short period. Many

described this as useful and important, since they could learn from the experience of others,

or practice learning social skills. No one described fellow patients as friends, and their

descriptions focused primarily on utility for themselves, not on the joy of companionship.

Patients: Sense of self and personal narrative

Self-presentation and identity as a patient

All informants were asked how they would present themselves to someone they did not

know. For most patients, this was a difficult question, and they were struggling how to

answer. Most ended up saying that they would tell their name and nothing else. Some would

also say they were ill, or what diagnosis they had. No one described any other information

which they wanted to share. For most patients, the descriptions of their lives and

themselves intertwined with their identity as a patient. Medication was also important for

most, and both medication and disease were often described as explanations for actions or feelings.

Being a spectator in one's own life and contradictions

Many students used passive or objectifying statements about themselves, describing how others described them, or what others said about their needs. There were also many contradictory statements, where patients first described something and then said something directly in contrast to this, without even seeming to notice or be affected by these contradictions.

Patients: Stagnation and discontinuity

No or non-specific experience of development

With one, possibly two exceptions, none of the patients described permanent improvement or lasting personal development. In the first interview, on the ward, some patients said they had experienced improvement, that they had plans for life at home and that things would be better now. In the second interview, they talked about a rapid relapse, new admissions and that they had failed to follow the plans they had made.

Hopelessness

With one, possibly two exceptions, all patients described an overwhelming hopelessness and lack of faith in the future. Many said that they had no hope, or that they had no future.

Students: Relationships

Development of quantity and quality of friendships

All students reported that they had more friends now and were less lonely than before they started school. For some, friendships were closely linked to the school and the school environment. Others described a positive effect that stretched beyond the school and said they generally had more friends now, and that they were also a better friend to others.

Development of personal relationships

Several students described changes in personal relationships. Some had married, others divorced. Some had more contact with their family of origin, others less contact, or a different type of contact than before. Regardless of the type of change, all students

described the changes as positive and as something they themselves had chosen and were happy with.

Students: Sense of self and personal narrative

Self-presentation and self-acceptance

Students were also asked how they would present themselves to someone they did not know. Most responded spontaneously and quickly, and it seemed like they thought the task was simple. Most would say their name and then include other topics such as family relations ("I am the mother"), interests ("I love sports"), origin ("I'm from ...") or something else. Most students described either directly, indirectly, or both, that they accepted themselves more than before, and had better self-esteem.

Personal engagement and integrity

Many students described that they had more willpower than before, or that they had always been strong-willed, but that this willpower had been absent for a period and was now back again. They described themselves as active participants in their everyday lives, and they described both that they had choices, made choices and experienced control over their own lives.

Students: Development

Changes in symptoms and strategies for coping

Most students had received much psychiatric treatment before they started school, and they described symptoms of severe mental illness, including various types of disturbances in sense of self.

The students described two different forms of development. Some, especially older students who had been ill for more than 10 years, described a development that corresponds to personal recovery. They said that they were better, had milder symptoms or better ways of coping with symptoms, and better quality of life. At the same time, they described that they had some need for treatment or support outside school, but less extensively than before.

Others, especially younger students, described a development that corresponds to clinical recovery. They described that they were better off, had little or no symptoms, needed

minimal or no treatment, had stopped taking medication and had entered mainstream education or work.

In this sample, I could not see any differences between students based on diagnoses, only on age and duration of disease.

Personal growth, happiness and hopes for the future

All students described that they had a better life now, that they were happier, more stable, and had experienced a personal development. Many also described specific examples of this development, things they mastered now that they had struggled with earlier. In the second interview, many described positive, stable changes since the first interview. All students also described hopes and plans for the future. These plans varied depending on age and personal circumstances, but all described a sense of optimism about the future.

Summary across informants in this article

Students and patients described significant differences in how they felt about themselves, their relationships and their own development. Students described positive and sustained development, stable relationships, less loneliness, more pleasure, better functioning, less symptoms, more active choices and much hope for the future.

Patients, however, described a greater focus on treatment. At the same time, they described little or no development, much loneliness, much symptoms and little hope for the future.

Findings and interpretations support the hypothesis of sense of self as a core problem in severe mental illness. For these patients, it is likely that their difficulties are closely linked to the development of self-experience. It may therefore be more effective to provide an enduring and supportive environment contributing to the development of a safe sense of self, than to focus solely on repeated short-term treatments of symptoms.

6.3 Paper 3: How can context affect teachers' and healthcare professionals' interactions with adults with mental illness?

This article focuses on how the health care professionals at the wards and the teachers at the schools describe their everyday work, their attitudes, relationships with colleagues and patients/students, their duties and the frames they work within.

Method and informants

Informants for this article were 14 health workers from two open DPS inpatient wards and

14 staff members from two different schools for adults with mental health issues. Eleven of

the health care workers were nurses or assistant nurses, and three were psychologists. The

staff members from the schools were two principals (who also worked as teachers), a

mercantile staff member and 11 teachers. The method was individual, qualitative interviews,

and all informants were interviewed at their workplace during working hours. Each person

was interviewed once.

Research questions

For this paper, we had the following research questions:

1. How do teachers and healthcare professionals describe their daily work and tasks, and the

impact of norms and framing?

2. How do teachers and healthcare professionals describe their relationships with their

colleagues and with their student/patients?

3. How do teachers and healthcare professionals describe their attitudes and values?

Findings and interpretations

Teachers: Bottom-up accommodation of teaching and support

Teaching subjects

The teachers' main task was to teach the students. They also described a sincere

commitment to the subjects and spent a lot of time on preparation and on the teaching

itself. In addition to that they all stressed that the subjects themselves were important, most

also described how they could use the educational environment in different ways to support

students with personal growth and maturation.

Care and help

The teachers described that giving students care and support, both practically and

emotionally, was an important part of their job. In addition to the individual support tailored

to each student's specific needs, the schools also offered inexpensive breakfast and dinner

every day, holiday trips and social gatherings in the evenings. Schools were also focused on

offering safety, predictability and flexible solutions for both students and teachers.

Teachers: Mutual and respectful relations

Sense of community

All informants described the school as a community and a fellowship, and they emphasised

the good social environment. Teachers and students had obviously different tasks and

different responsibilities, but they also had much in common. No doors were closed and no

rooms were only for teachers or just for students. They ate together and they worked

together. The informants described the work environment as good and with minimal

hierarchical structure. They had much flexibility and influence over their own work, and both

teachers and the principal attended the morning gathering with students.

Teachers as humans

Most teachers described that they were aware of how they themselves as humans could

affect relationships with students, both positively and negatively. They described how their

personal preferences were important for the work they do, and that their own interest in a

subject or topic was important to be able to motivate and engage students. They also

described how they actively organised their days to ensure that their own limitations would

not affect students negatively.

Relationships with students and students as humans

The students attended school several days a week over a long period, often several years.

Students and teachers therefore spent much time together in many different situations and

came to know each other well. The relationships were described as mutual and based on

cooperation. The teachers were aware of the students' difficulties, often knew they also

knew individual diagnoses, but diagnoses and diseases were not used to describe students.

When teachers spoke about specific situations that had arisen, they never used illness as an

explanatory model, but focused on other causes such as personality, interests or various

contextual factors.

Teachers: Acknowledging the individual

Acceptance and development

Older students can attend school as long as they want, so no one are in a hurry. Teachers teach students, but neither require or expect rapid changes in their functioning or situation, and generally express a great deal of acceptance and patience. Teachers also described that they observe noticeable progress in students, on many different levels. The development and progress comes, but it comes naturally and is not pushed.

The value of happiness

It was important for teachers that students were happy, that they were happy at school and wanted to continue. They spent a lot of time in preparation and planning to make the teaching fun and interesting, and joy was seen as an independent value. The school also organized parties, excursions and other things so that students could have good experiences. This was seen as an important part of the school.

Flexibility and limitations

The teachers described how they in many ways adapted their teaching to the students' needs and desires. The starting point was always based on conversations with the students, so that their needs was in the centre. This was important for all teachers, but they also described the challenges involved in teaching students from different backgrounds and with different interests. The principals described challenges associated with an increasingly tighter budget, and how they regarded it as their task to minimize the effect this might have for teachers and students.

Health care professionals: Top-down application of treatment

Organisational demands

Healthcare workers described how a great deal of their daily work was related to running the ward. This included practical work, distribution of responsibilities and tasks among staff, and participation in many different meetings. They also told that they spent much time on paperwork, both reading and writing reports, journals and more.

Observations, discussions, and conclusions

The healthcare workers also described that they spent a lot of time observing patients, conveying these observations to colleagues, receiving observations from colleagues and discussing observations as a team.

Treatment according to guidelines

The ward offered various forms of treatment, including medication, group therapy, individual therapy, physical activity, psycho-education and milieu therapy. All treatment was based on the patients' diagnosis and on national guidelines for the treatment of the particular disease. The patients always had input on what they thought of their treatment plans, but it was the health professionals who made the final decisions.

Health care professionals: Professional relationships and distinctions between groups

Diversity and hierarchy

All interviewees said they enjoyed the job, liked their colleagues and had a good working relationship with them. They described a good environment, but also an environment with a clear hierarchical structure and delineation between different groups. Patients and staff did not eat together or smoke together, and patients were not permitted to go wherever they chose in the ward. The specialists (doctors and psychologists) did not participate in morning gathering with patients, did not participate much in the milieu at the ward, and did not eat together with the milieu therapists at the ward.

Cooperation and networking

All informants emphasised that collaboration with other health care workers, particularly primary care health workers, was very important. Some described this cooperation as good, others described several challenges, and most were concerned over what level of support patients received at home. Many said they knew patients were very lonely at home and had only a small social network.

Milieu therapy as relationship

Good relations with patients was cited as important for all informants, particularly among the milieu therapy staff. They described safety, support, being together and conversation as

important elements in the treatment. When they were asked to describe their day, most described that they spent much time "in the milieu" or "in milieu therapy." This could include informal conversations with patients, participation in various activities (such as playing cards or games), but also sitting in the living room and reading the newspaper, or observing patients and intervening to regulate behaviour if necessary.

Health care professionals: Independence as a goal

Short-term Admissions and re-hospitalisation

Patient stays at the ward were time limited. The average hospital stay was 3 - 4 weeks, although some were longer. Some informants thought that was too short, while others thought it was an appropriate amount of time. Several mentioned that the short time could lead to rapid re- admissions, especially for some types of patients. Many thought that the ward was best suited to patients with mild anxiety disorders and mild to moderate depression, - patient groups who could be helped in a few weeks. For patients with more complex and enduring difficulties, such short stays were less suitable and led to frequent readmissions.

Effects of treatment and demand on patients

It was important for all informants that the treatment should have an effect, which meant that patients would become more independent and be able to manage at home. This was described as hard work, and it was important that patients were self -motivated, worked hard and not only were there to relax and have fun. The healthcare workers distinguished clearly between patients who according to the healthcare workers' experience worked well and became more independent, and patients they described as less motivated, childish or attention-seeking. The last group was described as un-motivated and not ideally suited for treatment.

Service user involvement

Both wards emphasised service user participation and, although there were small differences in how practice was carried out, both wards had routines to ensure service user participation. However, in both wards it was the staff who took all final decisions regarding the treatment, after the patients had been consulted. Several of the staff described that it

was rare patients' input led to significant changes. Many of the activities on the ward were mandatory and much treatment was standardised. If patients did not participate in the planned activities, this was often interpreted as resistance or lack of motivation or cooperation.

Summary across informants in this article

Both the healthcare workers and the teachers described that they were genuinely interested in patients'/students' welfare. At the same time, they described that they were working under very different environmental conditions. These environmental conditions seemed to influence both their actions, attitudes, which social norms that were allowed to develop, and which professional relationships there was room for. There will certainly be a need for more research, but findings and interpretations from this study suggest that standard psychiatric health services are best suited to patients with short-term and limited mental health problems. For patients with enduring and complex disorders, often combined with childhood trauma and disturbances in sense of self, there is a need for other services. Central elements in such services will be much time, stable relationships and more focus on personal development than on treatment of symptoms.

7 Discussion of findings and interpretations

In this section I will discuss the findings and interpretations across the three articles and the informant groups. Based on the exploratory research questions, several major themes have been identified through thorough analysis. I have found some common issues regarding the concerns of participants, but also discrepancies between the various groups' descriptions of the same themes.

I will review the primary issues which I have found, discuss the relationship between how the four informant groups experience and describes each topic, and discuss each topic and differences in the descriptions in relation to the research summarised in chapter 2. I will also discuss what implications the methodological decisions discussed in chapter 5 and the implementations of these may have for the main findings. Finally, I will give my assessment of which findings I think are most important, and what implications these should have for services to persons with severe mental disorders and for further research.

7.1 Relationships between health professionals and patients and between teachers and students

Both patients and students describe relationships with health professionals and teachers as very important and vital for recovery and development. Both patients and students described that they have limited social networks and few stable relationships. For students, this anyway was the case before they started at the school, although this has been changing for a proportion of them. Many also disclosed that they have had problems in childhood, and a large proportion described various types of neglect and abuse.

Bearing this in mind, it makes sense that it is precisely relationships to contact persons which is described as crucial, above descriptions of specific therapies, training or interventions. It also fits well with theories of psychological development that highlights contact with a primary care giver as crucial for the development of a stable self experience (Fairbairn, 1952 Winnicott, 1971 Winnicott, 1986, Stern, 1985, Bronfenbrenner, 1979, Bronfenbrenner, 2005). This also fits well with trauma research mentioned above, which highlights stable relationships as critical to developing or repairing regulatory systems that has not been successfully developed. (Bath, 2008, 2015, Ludy-Dobson and Perry, 2010, Siegel, 2012). And

it fits well with the recovery and psychotherapy research (Slade, 2009, Ljungberg et al, 2015).

Topor et al, 2015).

The differences in how patients and students describe their own development is attributable to many factors. It can be understood in terms of how the various informants describe the content of and framework for relations with contact persons. For although both students and patients describe relationships with their contact persons as important and also generally good, the descriptions of relationships and interactive frameworks differ on several important points, and I will discuss some of these below.

Duration of relations

Students described stable, sustained, lasting relationships, that they know the teachers and that teachers get to know them well. Patients, however, mainly describe a number of short-term relationships and a situation characterised by continuous discontinuity. Several of the psychological developmental theories point out that it is precisely stability over time which is crucial for development, (Fairbairn, 1952 Winnicott, 1971 Winnicott, 1986, Stern, 1985, Bronfenbrenner, 1979, 2005), and that the child has the opportunity to experience themselves through stable, predictable relationships with others (Fairbairn, 1952 Winnicott, 1971 Winnicott, 1986, Stern, 1985, Bronfenbrenner, 1979, 2005). This is described in Winnicott's theory of "holding" and "mirroring" (Winnicott 1971 Winnicott, 1986), and also in Fairbarn's object relations theory (Fairbairn, 1952), which describes how the influence of a stable loving care giver is required to form good self-representations in the child.

Recent research, based on neuropsychological theories about how the brain is shaped by use, highlights the same issues (in different terminology), namely that stable relationships are essential for the development of healthy neurological functioning (Bath, 2008, 2015, Ludy-Dobson and Perry, 2010, Siegel, 2012). Patients may feel better after a few weeks' stay in the ward with secure relationships providing a sense of wellbeing. However, since they quickly are discharged to solitude again, it is also natural according to this comprehension framework, that the development does not persist, and that momentary improvement does not lead to stable and lasting changes. To achieve lasting changes, there is a need for long term relations, like those described by the students.

Intensity of relations

Students described their relations with teachers as intensive. Most patients, on the other hand, described no relationships that were both stable and intensive. They described intensive follow-up once they were inside the ward, but this contact was brief and also divided between several people. Outside the ward, most experienced far less contact. Those with most frequent contact had typically a 45 minute session per week, and often in a limited period. It is likely that this is too low intensity to have any real effect for this group, where the relationship itself is as important as the content of the conversation (Bath, 2015). Topor and Denhovd (2012) found in a study of 58 people with severe mental disorders that time was a critical factor for a good working alliance, which in turn made recovery more likely. Patients described that it was important to meet regularly, have a good time when you met, and to be undisturbed during meetings. While it is debatable what is meant by "undisturbed" in different settings (teaching vs. treatment), there is no doubt that the students spent much more time with their teachers and that this may have contributed to their development.

Reciprocity and quality of relationships

Students and teachers described their relationships as reciprocal. Students said they collaborated on various tasks, that the content of the interaction was based on their needs and that they themselves could initiate contact if they wished. The teachers described that they had a bottom-up approach to work, and that students' needs were the base for what they did. They further described that their work situation gave them room to develop flexible approaches and much care.

This reciprocity was lacking in descriptions from patients and health workers. Several of the patients described that they often experienced not being listened to, were not taken seriously, and did not get the help they felt they needed. Health workers described a toptown approach to work, with restrictive guidelines and frameworks dictating what help they could give each patient. Not only the scope, but also the contents of the treatment was guided by external factors through extensive use of diagnostic-based guidelines. As there are external factors that govern much of the treatment, it is reasonable that patients do not

experience relationships as reciprocal. They cannot be reciprocal, because neither clinicians nor patients have complete control over the framework for the treatment.

This lack of reciprocity may again have consequences for the relationship. The descriptions of the relationships between health professionals and patients corresponds to what is described as distant relationships (Slade 2009). This is a common relationship type within mental health care, and it can work in certain contexts. But with the unequal distribution of power real development and recovery becomes difficult to achieve. As this model implies that the health worker knows best what interventions the patient needs, it will also be difficult to achieve the immediate and personal experience of "I am, I sense, I know what is good for me" - simply because the model dictates that there is someone else who knows better than the patient what their needs are. This also fits in well with the patients' descriptions of not being heard. It is also consistent with their descriptions of self-objectification, where they instead of describing their own needs, describe how others describe their needs.

Bronfenbrenner's theory of proximal processes (Bronfenbrenner, 2005) claims that for development to take place, the person must participate in an activity that takes place regularly over a period of time and which involves more people. According to Bronfenbrenner, however, it is not just the duration that is important, but also that the relationship is mutual and characterized by cooperation. Ljungberg et.al. (2015) did a meta-analysis of 21 studies to explore what patients experienced as helpful and useful in relation to health workers. Their findings show that what patients emphasised as useful was spending a lot of time with health workers, that they got access to resources and support, and that the relationship was characterised by mutual cooperation (Ljungberg et al, 2015). It is therefore possible that the difference between reciprocity and control in relationships may have contributed to differences in development for patients and students.

Relation as "base" and "safe haven"

Students had the opportunity to be students at the school for a long time, for older students as long as they themselves wanted. Patients, however, were discharged when health workers felt they were better and no longer needed the support. This provides a special framework for relationships. On the one hand it is a prerequisite for a relationship that it will

"work", e.g. lead to improvement for the patient. This is underlined by all health care professionals - patients should not be on the ward only to "enjoy themselves", but in order to receive treatment. At the same time, according to national guidelines, the usefulness of the treatment should be assessed against the treatment cost (Nord, 2002). If the relationship is good enough so that the patient is experiencing improvement, that the treatment has been "useful" and results have been achieved, it will be ended, often against the patient's will. This could have been unproblematic if the patient had other secure relationships such as family or other networks, but becomes more challenging when the patient is discharged to loneliness (paper 2).

Attachment theory (Ainsworth et al, 1971, Ainsworth et al, 1978 Bowlby, 1969), emphasises that children need both a safe base to explore the world from and a safe haven to return to after exploration, when they are tired, scared or frustrated (Hoffmann et al, 2006). Although these theories dealing with infant development are the fundamental factors in the model - a safe base to explore from, and a safe haven to return to, they coincide with the students' descriptions. Patients, however, have partly safe havens - they can be admitted when they get ill. However, since they often experience rejection when they want to be admitted, this haven isn't really safe. The base is also only partly present and for a very limited time - both patients and clinicians describe that patients are encouraged to quickly cope and become able to be discharged. However, when coping and managing on their own is achieved, it leads to a break in the relationship. The base will therefore seldom be perceived as safe, because it is temporary. This is confirmed by research on 'user-controlled beds', where the patients have the opportunity to return to a "safe haven" for a few days at their own request. This seems to be an important prerequisite for coping and autonomy, and contributes to the documented reduction in the use of total bed days by patient with contract of "user-controlled beds" (Heskestad, Tytlandsvik, 2008).

Systemic constraints

There is nothing in this material indicating that health care workers have less ability than teachers to develop stable and good relationships, or that there are characteristics of the Norwegian patients which makes it difficult to develop such relationships. Although patients describe a number of challenges related to relationships (lack of reciprocity, not being taken

seriously, lack of intensity and stability), they also describe relationships as good, saying that it is the social contact in the ward with safety and conversations, which is important to them and that they want more of. Nor is there anything in the material which would indicate that healthcare professionals have an unwillingness to develop relationships. Many told that relationships with patients are the most important to them, and several mentioned that they would like to have more time, especially with some patient groups. It is therefore not the characteristics of patients or health professionals which appears to preclude the creation of the relationships that are necessary for self-development, but rather the limits, norms and general guidelines of the system, which imposes limitations for both healthcare professionals and patients.

7.2 Social fellowship and reciprocity

In the student interviews, there was much reminding of the model of a family structure, where the teachers had a role as "parents", and appeared to be role models, support workers and caregivers, and where fellow students not only had the role of friends and classmates, but also of siblings. The activities, consisting of basic care, food, physical activity, learning and development with a gradual adaptation to an increased workload and more responsibility, reinforced this impression of the family. The relationship with teachers was important and eventually also the interaction and relationship with schoolmates, students also even used words like "family" and "siblings", although the most common term for classmate was "friend". They described that they looked forward to coming to school and meeting friends, and they described the typical pleasures of friendship like discussing problems, doing things together, talking, laughing, sharing experiences and having a good time together.

These descriptions fit in well with several of the aforementioned theories of normal identity development. For infants and toddlers, the connection to the primary caregiver is most important, and this was also important for students and patients, as described previously. As the child grows, mutual cooperation and participation in a community of equals is important for development (Bronfenbrenner, 2005, Stern, 1985). Bronfenbrenner's proximal processes means that learning and development is done in collaboration with others, whether through dyadic processes or other interactions. Mead, as a key representative of symbolic

interactionism, highlights that when we talk to others, we ourselves are also recipients of our own message, while also creating our own self through interaction with others - so that the self is a social self (Mead, 1913, Mead, 1936). Our "self" interacts with other "selves", such as when students speak empathically to and about other students with similar needs, and hears others do the same. This provides signals to the student himself, both in relation to the person he is, and how he expects others to relate to his problems.

Friendship and usefulness

Patients also described the relationship with their fellow patients as important, but they described it in other ways. None of the patients used the word friend and they highlighted primarily usefulness of the other patients in their descriptions. This included that contact with other patients were perceived as an arena for training in social skills, - but also that by hearing about the experiences of others, they could learn from them and possibly use the same methods themselves. Some also mentioned that by hearing how unwell others were, they were able to feel better because they considered themselves as healthier than that person. These kinds of statements are in stark contrast to statements of students, who emphasise that although the social environment and contacts with friends is among the most important in school, it can be stressful and painful to see that these friends at times are very sick and suffer. The interpretation of similar experiences where therefore described quite different – what the patients perceive as something which strengthens them, was perceived as a burden by the students.

A part of the explanation for this is possibly the patients' strong emphasis on usefulness of fellow patients. Where students had developed a friendship and natural empathy that made them sad when others were in pain, patients focused more on the personal usefulness to themselves of the others' descriptions. This is probably not due to insensitivity but rather the social norm that the purpose of the treatment was personal benefit and improvement of their own health. Several of the patients said that they were encouraged by therapists and support workers to use "the milieu" (i.e. the other patients) to "work with their social anxiety." Others described how they were told that they should work on getting a larger social network, since relationships can be beneficial for mental well-being. This focus was further confirmed through interviews with health professionals, where they repeatedly

emphasised that the patients were on the ward to get better, not to "just have a good time." Ringer (2013) found in a study of patients in a psychiatric ward that patients often adapted their attitudes, statements and actions so that these matched what they perceived as acceptable social norms of the ward, and it is likely that such processes may have occurred here.

Social relations are a crucial factor for recovery in patients with severe mental disorders (Schon et.al, 2009). It does not mean, however, that having this type of extrinsic motivation to create a friendship is necessarily a good strategy. (Ojanen et al 2010) showed in a study of healthy young people that with extrinsic motivation one may easier get many friends, but they are more volatile and less lasting than when intrinsic motivation is the basis for interaction. These results suggest that establishing friendship based on intrinsic motivation is more demanding, but in return leads to more lasting relationships.

Although the study by Ojanen focused on children and youth, it is still interesting in this context, since it says something about how the motivation to relationships affects the development of friendship over time. As the patients focused on usefulness, and also were encouraged to do so by the staff, it is possible that it will be harder for them to develop friendships that will last over time, both in friendship to fellow patients and also to people outside treatment settings. Friendship is often considered to have a value in itself, and this focus on "usefulness" may also violate the social norms in the society of what friendship should be.

Since social relations are so crucial for recovery (Schon et al., 2009) it will be particularly unfortunate if patients are encouraged to use less appropriate strategies to understand what friendship is and how it can be created, fostered and nurtured. It is possible that it would have been more appropriate if staff used other strategies rather than referring to extrinsic motivation when encouraging patients to establish relationships. However, more research on this is needed to provide more certain conclusions about what would be most appropriate.

However, not only the motivation for friendship, but also the time perspective is very important here. Students attended school for a long time and had therefore plenty of time to get to know their fellow students and develop friendships. Most also described that over time they had got more friends, were less lonely, and that they felt that they themselves

were a better friend now. Patients, however, met other patients usually only for a short time in the ward, and although some said they had tried to maintain contact outside the ward, this was usually not very successful. They described no development in terms of relationships, they were as lonely as before, and no one said that they had developed their role in social relations. This fits in well with the findings of Ojanen (2010), which states that friendships need time to be developed and maintained, and that being a friend also requires skills that must be learned and developed over time.

It is known that severe mental illness will affect the ability to enter into reciprocal and stable social relations, and it is not surprising that patients are lonely and struggle to establish stable friendship (Harley et al 2012, Rocha, Queiros, 2013). What is more interesting is that students with similar diagnoses say that they have had the same problems before, but that they don't anymore. As relational difficulties are common in people with severe mental illness, especially psychosis, special training is available for correcting cognitive bias and to improve relational abilities (Rocha, Queiros, 2013). While these programs appear to be effective in some areas, the overall effect appears to be somewhat limited (Rocha, Queiros, 2013). Students in this study, however, has not received any systematic training or correction of cognitive style. They have however been given the opportunity to participate in social relationships with fellow students, and with teachers as active participants and role models in this social interaction several hours daily and several times a week over a long period of time. It is therefore possible that this intensive and long-lasting social training in a natural environment gives better results. If so, this would be consistent with modern principles of learning, such as those adopted for work. Earlier one often chose to train people with special needs in a special environment, and then hoped that they learned the skills needed and be able to apply these in ordinary jobs. This was in practice often inefficient and has been replaced by methods such as Individual Placement Support (IPS) (Bond and Drake, 2014). With this method training takes place directly in the job, without the need to first learn skills in one location and then transfer them. This method has had far better results than previous methods based on transfer of learned skills (Bond and Drake, 2014). It is thus possible that the same principles are valid also for social learning, and that this might explain why the students have such good relational development without specific training. This is probably also highly complex processes also involving other factors.

7.3 Coherence across life domains

One of the most striking things in patient interviews was the continuous discontinuity described by the patients and the apparent lack of connection between different life domains. Connection between different life domains is central to Bronfenbrenner ecological model. His second system, "the mesosystem", deals with precisely these relationships between the systems that the child belongs to, how they mutually influence each other, and the importance of interaction between the systems (Bronfenbrenner, 1979).

The importance of coherence between different life domains is not only central within developmental psychology, but is considered particularly important when it comes to treatment of complex and prolonged disease, and is among other basis for the establishment of the Norwegian coordination reform. Already in 2001 it was therefore determined that "citizens who need long-term coordinated services under the health and care services law, the specialist health services law and the mental health services law have the right to have an individual care plan" (Prop. 91 L, 2010-2011, Law on Municipal health services, etc.). Enactment of an individual care plan has several purposes, including ensuring that patients receive comprehensive, coordinated and individually adjusted services, ensuring real service user involvement, and ensuring collaboration between the patient (and possibly relatives) and service providers, and collaboration between service providers.

All patient in this study had a need for long-term, coordinated services according the relevant laws, and they were thus in the target group for individual care plans. However, they were not asked directly if they had an individual care plan or not, so I don't know how many of them actually had such a plan. What is known, however, is that none of the patients mentioned this spontaneously in the interviews. One patient mentioned a single coordinating meeting at the ward before discharge, but he didn't say if he had experienced this as helpful, or if concrete plans had been drawn up, his description focused on the fact that he was terrified before the meeting, and happy afterwards, that he had "survived". None of the other patients mentioned plans, collaboration or coordinating meetings when they were asked what they had done, what their daily life was like, how the treatment was or how they envisioned the future. It is of course possible that some (or all) had an individual care plan, but anyway it had no prominent place in their daily lives or consciousness. All patients also described the services they received as fragmented, random and without any

coherent plan for rehabilitation or treatment. This is very unfortunate, since a great deal of research, including regarding ACT teams, has shown that multifactorial, coherent and long-term treatment is essential to achieve improvement in severe mental illness (Caslyn et al, 2004, Dieterich et al, 2010, Aagaard, Muller-Nielsen, 2011). There are also strong indications that recovery processes in severe mental illness are largely relative to factors outside treatment such as economic conditions, social support, access to good housing and meaningful day activities (Topor et al, 2011). Many patients will need various forms of assistance to achieve good quality of life within these life domains, and cooperation between support staff is important.

As far as I know, there are no equivalent to the Norwegian individual care plan in Denmark, and none of the students mentioned something like these plans. However, many of the students described a similar situation as the patients, with little coordination, but these descriptions were of their past. They described how they earlier had received help from various support systems, how they continuously had to relate to new case officers and helpers, and that assistance was both entirely dependent on who they got help from, and also poorly coordinated. In contradiction to these descriptions of the past, most of them described that they now saw the school as a co-ordinating unit. Each student made plans with their supervisor every semester, with personal goals for what they were going to work on for the next six months. This could be purely personal goals, professional goals, or a combination of the two. In addition, they described that it was important to them that they could discuss all kinds of problems, also purely practical, with teachers, and possibly also with fellow students. The teachers confirmed this by describing that practical help, care and support in a variety of areas was an important part of their working day, and something they considered as crucial for students to develop and get a better life. Teachers could also participate in meetings with local authorities and other aid agencies, which were described by the students as very useful and important. Most students described that they needed less help than before, but those who still needed help from agencies outside the school described that it was now better and more individualised, and that they behaved more actively in relation to this help now, and said what they needed and how they wanted to use the help. These descriptions are in agreement with research which underlines the

importance of coordinated and practical help to support recovery processes (Topor et al, 2011, Caslyn et al, 2004, Dieterich et al, 2010, Aagaard, Muller-Nielsen, 2011).

Dependence and independence

It is also interesting that the teachers did not express any concerns related to offering the students a lot of support. This was in clear contrast to the descriptions from the health personnel, who were concerned that the patients, to the greatest extent possible, should become independent and take care of themselves. Paradoxically, the descriptions from the students and patients indicate that the students who received a lot of support, became far more independent than the patients who received limited support and were encouraged to be independent. However, these seemingly paradoxical descriptions become meaningful, if one looks at the importance of knowing that help is available when necessary. As mentioned previously, easy access to admissions for patients with schizophrenia led to a slight increase in admissions, but at the same time, taking everything into account, fewer days in hospital (Heskestad & Tytlandsvik, 2008). Rusner et al. (2010) found that various forms of dependency could be positive and necessary for improvement for patients with bipolar disorder. This dependency included that others were dependent on the patient and trusted him/her (similar to the students' descriptions that is important for them to go to school because the other students are waiting for them) and that they themselves have a dependency relationship to others and know they can get help, support and care when they need it (Rusner et al., 2010).

Psychotherapy

Even though the students described that they experienced a lot of support and profited from this, the access to long-term psychotherapy is still severely limited in Denmark. This was something that several students mentioned that they missed. Some had previously received this periodically. They believed that a holistic provision that also included therapy as an integral part (for example, of a school programme) would be very useful for them. The few Norwegian patients who had the provision of long-term psychotherapy also experienced this as being predominantly helpful, but at the same time insufficient. There were usually just 1–4 hours per month, which was of too low intensity considering that the rest of the week/month was fairly empty of content. However, recent research indicates that

psychotherapy, including relational psychotherapy, can be effective in severe mental illness (Brus et al., 2012, Guthrie, Moghavemi, 2013, Gardfield, Steinman, 2015). Thus, based on the descriptions from both students and patients, it would be relevant and interesting to see if a holistic service provision, consisting of both psychotherapy and social support, would be even more effective than just the social support alone. However, such a provision would need to be given carefully attention. It would also be very crucial that any therapy that was implemented should follow the principles that otherwise applied for the school programme.

7.4 Development takes place over time

The importance of time and the duration of interventions have already been discussed several times. The crucial difference between the students' and patients' descriptions is that while the students have had the opportunity for a cohesive, coherent and stable provision over a long period of time, the patients describe a situation characterised by chronic discontinuity, with constant shifts between the security at the ward and the loneliness outside. By definition, time is the core of development, and also within learning processes that are developed gradually over time. As mentioned previously, all developmental psychology theories have time as a key factor, where development within one area provides the possibility for further development in other areas (Fairbairn, 1952; Winnicott, 1971, 1986; Stern, 1985; Bronfenbrenner, 1979, 2005). Constant repetition of routines and stable relationships over time are also essential for developing regulatory systems, or if necessary, for repairing any missing ones (Bath, 2008, Ludy-Dobson & Perry, 2010; Siegel, 2012). The time factor is also important for developing stable and secure relationships over time.

Research on recovery and the course of severe mental disorder supports this assumption (Topor & Denhovd, 2012; Slade, 2009; Landheim, 2016). Strauss et al., (1985) describe eight different longitudinal processes in schizophrenia. These include a non-linear development, as well as identification of different phases in the development. Strauss et al. describe how the development can periodically appear to halt, but what really happens is that the patient needs time to consolidate what has already been achieved before he is ready to move on to a new level (Strauss, 2009).

Because time is so crucial for the development of self-experience, regulatory systems, relationships and skills, it is likely that there is a connection between the described

differences in development and the described differences in time and continuity. This is, of course, related also to other factors. Even if the patients' time in psychiatry is comparable to the students' time at school, the big difference is that the students' provisions have been coherent and holistic, while the patients' provisions have been fragmented, marked by discontinuity and constant disruption. Thus, the patients' situation has not provided the same possibility for development over time.

Time limitation's impact on the staff's attitudes

Completely different approaches to the meaning of time can be found in the descriptions given by the teachers and health workers. Although both teachers and health workers expressed that they were concerned with students/patients and wanted to help them, some of the health workers expressed, in part, moralistic and negative attitudes. This was partly expressed directly in interviews, as well as by health workers and patients who reported about other health care workers who had negative and/or moralistic attitudes to patients. Sometimes there were descriptions of actions (both actions of the informant and actions of others), which can be characterised as aggressive and somewhat unprofessional. No such descriptions were given of teachers, either directly or as descriptions by other teachers. Again, it is possible that this can be due to variation in the sample and characteristics of the individuals. However, it is possible that this may also be due to other structural factors, including time.

The teachers' main task was to teach subjects to the students. The framework allowed them to use a lot of time on the relationship and to exercise a high degree of flexibility. This is a task that the teachers largely had control over themselves. and the task is certainly possible to carry out. The health workers' task, however, was to cure the patient's mental disorder, focusing on symptom changes and behavioural changes. They should do this in a very short time, optimally within three weeks, the average length of impatient stays.

The target group for this study was patients with severe and long-term mental disorders, and all student and patient informants were within the target group. The teachers worked mainly with students within the same target group. However, at the district psychiatric centres in Norway, there are patients with various disorders. When the health personnel described their working days, they described their work with *all* of the patients, including the

patients with milder and more short-term mental illness, such as a single episode of depression or short-term and specific anxiety disorders. In contrast to the patients in this study, the patients with short-term and limited disorders usually had an acceptable home situation. Many of them had family, friends, work and leisure interests. Some of them would have difficulties in some areas, such as recently experienced divorce or work conflict. However, usually they would mostly function satisfactorily. For many of these patients with limited and short-term problems and a comparatively good home situation that motivated them for discharge, the goal of symptom change in the course of three weeks was realistic. For patients with a short-term depression, treatment consisting of rest, sleep, medication, cognitive therapy, psychoeducation, physical activity and support can give good results within a few weeks (Norwegian Directorate for Health/Helsedirektoratet, 2009). This was also described by health workers in this study. They reported that these patients could benefit from a stay on the ward, and they said that it was nice to see deeply depressed patients get better in a short time. For health personnel, of course, this is the optimal process: severe ill patients are admitted, receive prescribed treatment, become well after a few weeks, want to be discharged, and are not readmitted to the ward.

However, for the patients in the study, it is more complicated. As mentioned previously, most of them had been ill for many years, and many had had difficulties since childhood. Although some patients (especially psychotic patients) can experience a slight short-term improvement, and/or get through a crisis with the help of medication, usually in combination with rest and sleep, this will usually not result in any lasting improvement or recovery. Patients will usually be referred again later. For the group of patients as a whole (including patients with severe personality disorders), it will be practically impossible to offer effective treatment with the aim of lasting improvement or change in their situation over the course of three weeks (Alanen et al., 2009; Huprich, 2015). The health personnel's commission is thus impossible — in any case, within the given time period.

In addition, one of the main tasks of the health personnel is to motivate patients to change behaviour. This could mean achieving a better day rhythm (getting up in the morning), stopping self-harm, becoming more independent and autonomous, and desiring to be discharged from the ward. However, for these patients, improvement would mean that they would have to leave the ward and go home to a situation that most of them described as

being characterised by severe illness, high symptom pressure and extreme loneliness (Paper 1). It is always difficult, usually impossible, to get others to change if they do not want to do so. In many cases, when the patients had limited motivation for changes that would lead to rapid discharge, the task of the health personnel became very difficult, and in practice often impossible. This sense of hopelessness was also described by the health workers, especially when they described the resentment they could feel when they had worked with a patient and had him/her ready to be discharged from the ward, only to find that the patient had returned with a new crisis and new referral after a few weeks.

It is possible that precisely this feeling of inadequacy can explain some of the judgemental attitudes, in that health personnel experienced the need to put the responsibility on someone else or something else other than themselves (e.g. the patients' lack of motivation or aptitude) when they experienced "not succeeding" with the impossible task.

Being forced to perform tasks that require you to do something, at the same time that you have little control over the result, can lead to stress, burnout and irritation (Karasek, 1979; Presseau, 2014). Even though these are probably complex processes, where individual and contextual factors contribute (Presseau, 2014), the requirement of action, combined with the degree of control would be able to predict the level of stress and irritation in the staff. It has also been shown that different types of stress, combined with personal factors, can lead to compassion fatigue, burnout and lack of empathy in health workers (Adams et al., 2006; Harrison & Westwood, 2009). Reynolds and Scott (2000) found that nurses often had limited empathy with the patients and that this had negative impact on the patients (Reynolds & Scott, 2000). However, there was no indication in the findings and interpretations in this study that indicated that the health workers I interviewed were burnt out or lacked empathy with the patients. On the contrary, even if someone reported about some conditions they were unhappy with, all informants expressed great satisfaction with their work and said that they were happy on the ward, with their work and with their colleagues. They also expressed a lot of empathy with the patients in general. The statements that were less empathetic, or moralistic and/or judgemental were solely related to patients with long-term and complex difficulties. It is known that it can be stressful for health personnel to work with patients who have severe psychiatric problems, and who may also have experienced trauma. It is therefore possible that the lack of empathy for the patients in this group can be explained by secondary traumatisation (Newell & MacNeil, 2010) and/or transference reactions. If this was the case, however, it would be natural that also the teachers who worked with the same patient group would describe some of the same attitudes, but none of them did so. Of course, this may be due to coincidence. However, it is likely that the differences, at least in part, may be explained by differences between the tasks of the teachers and the health workers. The teachers' task is to teach students with no time pressure, which is certainly possible, while the health workers' task is not possible and creates frustration which is then taken out on the patients.

7.5 Everyday care, joy and activity

Both students and patients described that regular care and support in everyday life was important to them. For the students, in addition to their relationship to teachers and fellow students, this was especially about the importance of structure, that they knew that they had something to go to every day. In addition, they described that it was important to them that the school served good and inexpensive food and that they could eat with others, and that they were offered several different types of adapted physical activities, including outdoor activities. The same factors were also described by the patients. They appreciated and benefited from their relationship with the staff, regular meals, excursions, activities, support and care. Of course, the difference between the groups was that the patients experienced this support on a 24-hour basis for a few weeks at a time, while the students had access to support and daily care mainly during the day (9 a.m.–4 p.m.), five days a week, for a long period of time.

In developmental psychology, stable, flexible and accommodated care is considered to be quite central. First, it is necessary for the infant to actually be able to survive. However, as previously mentioned, Winnicott's term "holding" (1965, 1971) can be understood in a purely concrete sense, as well as in a figurative sense. Through the concrete care given that is necessary for the survival of the child, the child is also given nonverbal signals that it is desired, welcome, seen, and taken care of. Winnicott emphasises the importance of that care being flexible and adapted to the child (1965). When the child (or the adult students in this study) experiences the provision and the care they receive as being individually adapted to their needs, they experience being seen, acknowledged and desired as individuals.

According to Winnicott's theories and the students' descriptions, this is important for the development of a secure, subjective self. This is also confirmed by other research (Slade, 2009, Topor et al 2011, Topor et al., 2014, Landheim, 2016) that show that material conditions and practical support have great significance for recovery and personal development.

Patients' descriptions also confirm this, when they describe that their stay on the ward actually helps them and ensures that they get better. Several of the patients, however, react negatively to the number of rules and norms and to the top-down approach to treatment, as described by health personnel. This corresponds well with the emphasis of the importance of individually adapted care. It is likely that this lack of flexibility, combined with the short time that the patients are at the ward and the loneliness they experience at home, may explain why the improvement they experience is not lasting. The care is good enough to provide an effect, but not lasting enough to give a long-term and stable development.

Joy and play-based activities

The different groups of informants also gave very different descriptions of concepts such as "happiness", "pleasure" and "well-being". The students talked a lot about joy, that they were happy, were feeling good, were doing well, that the school gave them a number of good experiences and that this had contributed positively to their development. These descriptions were supported by the teachers' descriptions. The teachers viewed this as one of their important tasks to help ensure that students felt secure, felt good, had good experiences (especially since many of them had bad experiences and little joy in the past), that they were happy in school and wanted to attend classes. This focus is reflected in their attitudes, in practical arrangements and in the prioritisation of everyday life. It was important that students were happy in school, felt good and wanted to continue school.

Several developmental psychology theories emphasise that play is a necessary and important part of child development (Winnicott, 1971, 1986; Stern, 1985; Bronfenbrenner, 2005). Winnicott describes people as basically creative. He claims that children—and adults—who have experienced secure enough relationships, automatically use various forms of play to create individual representations of reality. He calls these representations "potential room", that is, opportunities to deal with facts in a playful, creative and

innovative way. In doing so, events that have happened are processed, and space is created for further development. For adults, such play-based activities include art, experiences in nature, various physical activities, and other forms of playful or creative outlet. This also corresponds well with the research on trauma theory (Perroni, 2014; Panksepp & Biven, 2012), claiming that the traumatised brain heals faster when it is in a state of playfulness and security.

It is interesting that security is a central starting point for play for both developmental psychologists and trauma researchers. First, the child (or the adults) must experience feelings of security, stability and care, before they can begin to play. This makes good sense when one reads the descriptions from the students and teachers. Both groups of informants emphasise how the students' relationship to the teachers, the safe setting at school, care and support are essential prerequisites for enabling the students, gradually and slowly, and over time, to let themselves go in creative activities. They increasingly experience joy, which in turn gives them new developmental opportunities. The students gave concrete descriptions of the various creative ways they use school subjects to work with themselves and their own challenges. This corresponds well with Winnicott's descriptions of potential rooms and with trauma theory's emphasis on the importance of play for the development of more flexible regulatory mechanisms and for overcoming previous trauma.

Attitudes to joy and well-being

However, the students' and teachers' descriptions of joy are clearly different from the descriptions given by patients and health personnel. The patients said they liked to stay at the ward, but spoke little about joy. They emphasised several times that being there was "hard work". When the patients were at home, most of them described an everyday life with loneliness, pain and illness. They said they suffered through the days. Descriptions of joy were totally absent in the home situation. Health personnel also emphasised that it was important that the patients should not enjoy themselves too much at the ward. Several of them emphasised that the patients were at the ward to work and not to enjoy themselves. If they enjoyed themselves too much, it could be difficult to motivate them to leave the ward. Here we see that health personnel and teachers have completely different motivation. The teachers want students to feel comfortable and to want to continue attending school, while

the health personnel want to get patients out of the ward as soon as possible. First and foremost, these differences are due to different contextual and systemic conditions, as well as the fundamental differences in the health workers' and teachers' concept of learning. Such epistemological differences can greatly affect what we see, how we interpret what we see, and what measures we deem necessary (Ekeland, 2014). It is natural that teachers want students to be happy at school. For teachers in general, regardless of where they teach, one goal is to prevent dropout and motivate the students to complete their education. The framework is different in these schools, in that there is no exam. Even so, it is likely that the usual norms and the normal epistemological foundation for teachers (that students should be happy and want to attend school) is active also in this context. However, for health personnel, the situation is completely different. They have a medical epistemology, focusing of getting patients better, off the ward, and home to continue with their life. There are also regulations imposed by the authorities and managers to maintain a limited length of inpatient stays and to follow treatment guidelines. In addition, the wards also have waiting lists with other patients that need a place as soon as there is a free bed.

These practical and epistemological conditions are in addition to more specific professional considerations. Many patients in this group want frequent and long-term admissions, which also was expressed by several of the patients in this study. They would like to be hospitalised more often, quite willingly for a longer stay each time. Even if this is the wish of the patients, it is not always appropriate. Long-term admissions on inpatient wards can have unfortunate side effects for all patients. It is considered as particularly unfortunate for patients with severe personality disorders because it usually leads to patients quickly becoming more ill (Bateman & Fonagy,1999; Paris, 2004; Mehlum & Jensen, 2006; Paris, 2011; Biskin & Paris, 2012,). Therefore, it is often recommended that these patients should not be offered admission. In the exceptional case that they are offered admission, the inpatient stay should be of very short duration and limited to the acute crisis situation. (Bateman & Fonagy, 1999; Paris, 2011; Biskin & Paris, 2012). This is also reflected in the Norwegian guidelines for the prevention of suicide in mental health care (Norwegian Directorate for Health and Social Affairs, 2008), as well as in international guidelines for the treatment of borderline personality disorder (National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence, 2009).

As mentioned previously, however, regular outpatient treatment is often not intensive enough to be effective for this group of patients. The students' descriptions of the school programme as a safe, stable and lasting provision, with a framework that does not encourage regression, is interesting as a possible alternative to inpatient treatment. This is also supported by studies showing that day treatment in an institution may have good results for many of these patients (Bateman & Fonagy,1999; Paris, 2004). It would be especially interesting for further studies to explore whether such an adapted school provision, with its less demanding and long-term approach, may be an appropriate alternative for patients who do not benefit from more structured, demanding and time-restricted day-treatment provisions, such as an outpatient day clinic.

At the same time, several students mentioned that they missed psychotherapy. Those who had received psychotherapy previously, believed that an integrated provision, where the school's teaching and social environment was combined with therapy, would be optimal. This is supported by studies showing that a multifactorial approach is appropriate in severe and complex mental disorders (Topor et al, 2011, Caslyn et al, 2004, Dieterich et al, 2010, Aagaard, Muller-Nielsen, 2011). This would therefore be relevant to explore further in future studies.

Attendance at schools vs day centres and gathering places

Several of the Norwegian patients reported that they have or have had provisions to use municipal day centres in the periods they were living at home. However, they had either never attended the day centre or had only used it for a short period before they quit going there. This corresponds with the students' descriptions. The majority of them also said that it had been difficult for them to attend school in the beginning. The differences were that the students reported that it now was much better and that they actually attended school regularly without major difficulties.

There can be many reasons for these differences. An obvious possible explanation lies in selection and recruitment. Since I recruited students at the schools, I of course got to talk with students who actually took advantage of the provision of schooling. This does not prove that there are not students who drop out from school. In the interviews the teachers also described that some students stopped attending school, even if they still had a need for the

provision. However, this concerned relatively few students. Moreover, the teachers reported that several of those who quit returned to school at a later time. However, this did not apply to all of them, of course. It is not possible from this study to say anything for sure about whether there are more or fewer students that quit schools compared to patients that quit the municipal day centres. This must eventually be explored further. At the same time, several students reported that they had previously tried to use the Danish "gathering places", which are similar to the Norwegian day centres, but they had stopped going because it did not function for them. This may indicate that there may also be other reasons, independent of selection, which may explain any differences in attendance.

What is known is how students and patients describe their own attendance at schools and day centres, respectively. The students described that it was difficult in the beginning, but that it was important to them that the teachers phoned them every day, without rebuking them, but only to tell them that they were missed and that they were welcome the next day. This was important to them, both knowing that they were remembered and missed, and being assured that no one was angry, that they had not "burnt their bridges" by not showing up and that they were welcome back. This corresponds with the patients' descriptions, that when they had first been away one or more days, they felt it was difficult to come back. This also corresponds with the research that says that the personal relationship is extremely important for self-experience (Fairbairn, 1952; Winnicott, 1971, 1986; Stern, 1985; Bronfenbrenner, 1979, 2005), combined with that fact that someone is waiting for you and wanting you to come.

The importance of school subjects

The students described that one of the differences between schools and gathering places was that it felt easier to go to school because it was less demanding. This may seem paradoxical since gathering places do not require anything, while schools focus on teaching. However, for people who are very anxious and socially insecure, it may be easier to sit in a structured classroom situation (where a teacher teaches a topic) than to deal with an unstructured social situation with small talk. This is confirmed by the fact that many of the most ill students reported that they mainly took theoretical subjects, where they could only sit and listen, because the practical subjects were too complex for them. Many students also

stressed that they experienced security and well-being when they were at school and learned something, without being forced to tell their personal story, share symptoms, traumas or anything else. Both learning something new and not focusing on their own troubles were described as easier. This can be a possible explanation, along with other conditions, for why going to school is perceived as being easier.

As mentioned earlier, there are many similarities between the Danish schools and the provisions that can be found in Norway, such as the Norwegian Labour and Welfare Administration courses and day centres. However, one of the major differences is precisely that the school's goal is to offer students new knowledge and new experiences rather than encouraging the participants to talk about their own life/own problems and/or participate in work/work training. This is confirmed by the patients' descriptions. None of my patient informants participated in work training. They described a weekday that primarily focused on their disease and their own problems. When they were asked to describe their daily life, most of them described few or no interests or activities that were not related to disease and/or treatment. Some said that they would like to learn something, get activities or friends, but that this had to wait until after they had become healthy. This may be an appropriate strategy for short-term disease progression and for acute injuries. However, it is a riskier strategy when the person, like my informants, had been sick for very many years.

The students had been ill an equally long time, but they used a different strategy, by being engaged in activities, even before they were healthy. They described that within the adapted framework of school, they learn new things, rather than talk a lot about their own disease. This was experienced as being positive and meaningful. They also told that the focus on academic subjects resulted in less disease talk during the breaks, which they perceived as positive. It is also possible that collaboration on joint projects, beyond disease, has had a positive effect on the students. This is expressed in several theories (Winnicott, 1971, 1986; Stern, 1985; Bronfenbrenner, 1979). As the child grows and after the person has become an adult, an important part of the development of the self is that one can share interests and activities in mutual fellowships. Therefore, it is possible that it is not just the "not talking about disease" that is in operation, but also the sharing of interests with others who are occupied with the same thing as themselves, both fellow students and teachers.

All the students described that learning something, no matter what, was important to them. It gave them a sense that they were able to master something, learn something new; they had the possibility for development. Their descriptions were a lot about development, mastering, change and personal growth, all factors that are key elements of concepts such as flourishing. They are closely related to personal growth and well-being (Keyes, 2007). They described also that learning new skills gave them new possibilities, including social ones. If you can cook, you can invite a friend to dinner. If you can discuss poetry, you can attend a poetry festival. This corresponds with research that shows that improved social functioning and the possibility to participate in positive and meaningful activities are closely linked to better self-esteem and mastering in patients with severe mental illness (Shahar & Davidson, 2003).

Having knowledge and being able to participate in new social contexts can also have consequences for the development of identity and self-experience. When the students and patients were asked to introduce themselves, the patients focused mainly on disease, while the students mostly mentioned interests or skills, in addition to relationships and other things.

Many students also mentioned specifically that the theoretical and philosophical topics were important to them. Some said that it was easier for them to participate in the common social situations and conversations when they were up to date on current topics and thus were able to discuss news and other things. This corresponds with the knowledge that improved social functioning is useful for this group of patients (Shahar & Davidson, 2003). Other students described that the subjects themselves (especially psychology, philosophy, history and literature) were important for gaining a better understanding of oneself and others, along with a more reflective attitude on life. Dorwrik et al. (2012), found that participation in literature groups was important for patients with depression. It was also the content of what was read, not only the social situation, that was relevant (Dorwik et al., 2012). Other studies have also found that reading groups can have a positive effect on cognitive and psychosocial functioning in patients with psychosis (Volpe et al., 2015). However, there is currently relatively little research on the effect of teaching in philosophical and psychological topics, including the reading of fiction, on this patient group. Other findings and interpretations from this study (such as the importance of relationships and the importance of development

over time) are supported by much other research, but in this area there is far less relevant research. However, the findings from this study and their interpretation, combined with the little research that is available, indicate that this is an important area that should be explored more closely.

7.6 Health, recovery and empowerment

There was a big difference between the students' and the patients' descriptions of personal development, improvement and recovery. Most of the informants from both groups described long-term illness, severe symptoms, along with specific examples they had experienced of self-disorders. Although the descriptions of the phenomena are fairly similar, there is a clear distinction between the two groups. The patients pretty much described these phenomena in the present tense, as something still going on, while the students described this as something that either belonged to the past or that they had now mastered in a different way than previously.

Of all the patient informants, there was one patient who described a personal growth and development much like what Slade (2009) describes as personal recovery, with hope, mastering and belief in the future. This patient also described some factors that indicate a process of medical recovery with improvement of symptoms and functioning, even though this was still in an early stage of development. Another patient described some uncertain and preliminary signs of personal development, but it was unclear how stable this development was. None of the other patients described any signs of personal or medical recovery. Most of them expressed little or no hope of improvement in the future.

In contrast to this, all students described that they had experienced personal development and that they had hope for the future. While the patients' descriptions, with the one exception, were fairly similar, the students' descriptions appear to be divided into two different groups.

Some students (especially older students, who had been sick for a very many years) described a development that was similar to what Slade (2009) describes as a personal recovery. They reported increased well-being, better social and practical functioning, hope for the future, and meaningful activities and interests. At the same time, they also described that they still had some symptoms of their mental disorder and needed some treatment.

However, several described that they now needed less treatment and less intrusive treatment. They were also more active participants in their own treatment. These are important elements within both a recovery-oriented treatment (Slade, 2009) and a process of empowerment. There is no contradiction in needing treatment and being empowered. On the contrary, the important thing is that the person themselves experiences having control over and being involved in their own care.

Other students, especially the younger ones, who had not been ill for so long, described a development which corresponds to medical recovery. They described fewer symptoms and less need for treatment (including fewer or no admissions and less or no medication). Furthermore, they described a marked increase in functioning which often included that they had begun ordinary work or studies. These students also described conditions that are included in personal recovery, such as meaning, mastering, well-being and personal growth. These factors were in addition to the signs of medical recovery.

In this sample, I found no connection between the diagnosis the patients said they had been given and how they described medical and/or personal recovery. As mentioned previously, the only differences were related to age and how long they had been ill, as well as what services they received. It is natural that age is a factor, as practical, personal and social conditions including iatrogenic effects and secondary effects of the disease, makes it more difficult to achieve full medical recovery when one has been ill for several decades. In addition, this group may also have been more ill in the first place. However, it is interesting that the findings and interpretations do not show any differences related to the diagnosis in the younger patients. As mentioned previously, self-disorders in psychosis are believed to be more severe and fundamental than in other conditions, including personality disorders. It would therefore be natural to assume that recovery can be more difficult to achieve in psychoses than in the other. However, this is not reflected in the findings and interpretations from this study. Again, this may be due to many different factors, including coincidences related to the selection. However, it is an interesting finding that might indicate the possibility that self-disorders (regardless of their type and severity) can be improved through long-term and close relations and interaction, combined with other previously discussed factors. This corresponds with other studies, which find that recovery is quite possible even for severe mental disorders, such as schizophrenia (Bentall, 1990; Topor, 2004).

Reduction in the use of psychotropic medication

Several of the students reported that during the time they have been in school, their use of medication had been sharply reduced or completely stopped. They describe this as a controlled and secure process of reduction, and with stable and positive results. Some said that they had been given the expectation of life-long medication therapy, but now they did not need the medication anymore. They had replaced medication with other mastering strategies, such as physical training or social support. These are interesting findings and interpretations, especially seen in the context of the ongoing debate about medication-free treatment within the mental health services. The Minister of Health, through the Ministry of Health and Care Services, has recently required all health authorities to establish medication-free treatment options. (Ministry of Health and Care Services, 2015). This order has been debated, and there have been many contributions in the public debate. Many people (both patients, relatives and professionals) welcome this freedom of choice for patients. Others, especially professionals, are more sceptical, referring to the lack of research on the effectiveness and safety of medication-free treatment for patients with psychotic disorders. Yet others are positive to the principle of testing medication-free treatment. However, they are uncertain about whether establishing separate inpatient wards is the best way to implement such treatment. It is therefore very relevant to examine the students' descriptions, which in addition to describing a generally positive development, also describe the reduction in the use of medication. The students' descriptions also shed light on interesting challenges that have been discussed in the current debate about medication-free treatment. The students have received services which not only are medication-free but which also are based on completely different principles than medical ones. The schools are outside the dichotomy medication/not medication because they are based on a completely different epistemology and a different set of norms. This might solve some of the problems associated with integrating medication-free treatment on ordinary wards, including the risk of medically-educated staff having too little knowledge about alternative approaches, that the staff would follow old habits and continue medication because that is what they are used to, and that health professionals and patients habitually relate to medical epistemology.

At the same time, for students that take advantage of the provision of schooling, there are no requirements about either use of medication or freedom from medication. The provision of schooling can thus also solve some of the challenges of establishing separate medication-free services, such as whether this treatment is only offered to the healthiest patients who can manage a medication-free treatment from the start, whether there may be too sharp distinction between medication treatment and medication-free treatment with little focus on reduction as an important result, and whether the duration of the treatment may be too limited in time if it cannot be followed up when the patient is discharged to their home.

Of course, the findings and interpretations from this study are too limited to draw any conclusions regarding medication-free treatment, and we have not aimed to get detailed information on types and amounts of medication used by the informants. Still, the findings and interpretations from the study indicate that this type of long-term schools based on a non-medical epistemology may be an important alternative to pure medication or medication-free treatment. It is therefore relevant with further studies in this area. Some of the students reported that they missed a psychotherapy at school. On that basis, it may be appropriate to explore the possible positive and negative impacts of some form of school health service that could offer both therapy and medication for a longer time, including possibility of reducing medication according to need and desire.

Physical health

Health concerns not only mental health but also physical health. An overwhelming majority of the patients described various somatic ailments and pain. Many of them reported about various side effects of medication. Some also said that they were now or had previously been dependent on various medications. Most said they appreciated that during their stay at the ward they were encouraged to regular meals, rest and physical activity, but that was difficult to maintain this when they came home. The majority described the unwholesome living conditions when they were at home, with isolation and inactivity. Several described sleep problems or problems with maintaining a normal day rhythm. Some ate little or nothing at home. Others had a random food intake, with a lot of ready-made meals or unhealthy food. Many of them smoked. In addition, some patients reported about substance abuse in the home periods, with alcohol, illegal drugs, or a combination of the two.

It is known that the mortality rate in patients with severe mental illness is at a very high level (Bouza et al, 2012). Some of this is due to the elevated risk of accidents and suicide. But there is also an elevated risk of death by natural causes, especially cardiovascular and respiratory disorders (Bouza et al., 2012). This can have complex causes, but side effects of drug therapy, combined with lifestyle factors (smoking, diet, inactivity) play a central role. It is known that neuroleptics have side effects, such as weight gain and lack of satiety, which can increase the risk of cardiovascular disorders (Rasmussen et al., 2014). Nicotine also acts as an antagonist for neuroleptics (Tsuda et al., 2014), which can cause the patients to smoke more because they find that smoking decreases the side effects. This can lead to the dose being increased (because the effects diminish and blood tests show low concentration of neuroleptics), which in turn can lead to the patient smoking even more to lessen the new side effects. Life expectancy is also related to psychosocial conditions, such as finances, education and networking. This will be relevant since many in this group have little education, a small network and low finances. Childhood trauma can also have negative effects on physical health and life expectancy (Solis et al., 2015). This is also relevant to many of the patients in this group. Several of the patients and the students will thus be exposed to several different factors that are known to cause physical ailments and/or shortened life expectancy. These different factors can also reinforce each other in various forms of negative interaction. Prevention and health promotion measures are therefore very relevant. However, these must have a form that makes them useful for the target group. The teachers in this study describe that cooking courses and physical activities have been effective for some patients, in that they can maintain a better diet and exercise at home. However, this will not work for all students. Some students will not be able to make dinner or work out at home, even after receiving instruction at school. The teachers describe that especially for the older patients (who experience personal, but not medical recovery), it is essential to have a stable provision of healthy food and physical activity at school. It cannot be expected that everyone in this group is able to follow up on lifestyle changes in private. Even so, they can still have significant health benefits of being in a social environment that offers regular meals and organised activities. Several of the students reported that meals and training were both very important to them. Some students also spontaneously stated that they smoked somewhat less when they were at school and were only allowed to smoke

during breaks. At home, they would be sitting inside and be smoking all day. It can seem that the provision of schooling in itself can have positive effects on the health of students, including the group that cannot manage by themselves to maintain lifestyle changes at home. This is important information that should be explored further, also in view of the cost-benefit of this type of measures.

Empowerment, personal commitment and subjectivity

User participation was an important principle for health personnel on both wards. Both wards had routines to ensure that patients were consulted and allowed to give suggestions about their own treatment. At the same time, the health personnel reported that the patients' input often had limited effect, since the treatment was based on the diagnoses the patient received, on guidelines for the treatment of that diagnosis, and on the overall guidelines for the ward. This was confirmed by the patients, who told about good treatment, but also that they had often experienced not being listened to or taken seriously. Health personnel described that they tried to take into account the individual needs of the patients. Sometimes they were able to do so, while other times it was difficult to implement in practice, because of structural and practical conditions on the ward.

These descriptions differed from the descriptions of the teachers and students. The teachers described a large degree of control over their own work situation and much room for flexibility. They based their work on the different and varying needs of the students. This was confirmed by the students, who described the importance of flexible and individual adaptation in many different areas. They experienced that they were seen and taken seriously at school.

These descriptions are interesting because they shed light on the importance of the staff's empowerment in achieving empowerment of the patients. It is relevant here to distinguish between individual and structural empowerment (Bradbury-Jones et al., 2007; Wagner et al., 2010). Studies show that the structural conditions of the wards affect the nurses' scope of action (Bradbury-Jones et al., 2007; Wagner et al., 2010). Structural empowerment thus becomes decisive in determining which choices they can make. This will again effect the patient's health and safety, as well as the possibility for individual adaptation to the patient's needs. When empowerment in mental health care is discussed, the focus is often on the

patients' individual empowerment, and that it becomes hindered by the staff's attitudes. However, the relationship between attitudes and actions is complicated (Bem, 1967; Maio & Haddock, 2009). Attitudes can influence actions, but actions can also effect attitudes (Bem, 1967; Maio & Haddock, 2009). This is especially relevant when it concerns actions that a person does over time, who thus concludes that "I wouldn't do this if I didn't mean it". This corresponds with the health workers' descriptions in this study. They want to focus on user participation, but in practice, they are prevented from doing this. This, in turn, may have influenced their statements in more moralising direction. Some of them also express attitudes that give little power to the patients, such as that they must attend meetings to get to know how the patient has slept, rather than asking the patient. However, when they are asked to explain this further, most of them reflected quickly that this was pointless: they could have just asked the patient. Still, some of them maintained that they would not have got any reliable information from the patient, as a reason for why they had to ask others. Although it is not possible to draw reliable conclusions from these statements, it is possible that they reflect a conflict between the desire to base their work on empowerment principles, while structural conditions restrict the staff's own empowerment. This situation prevents them from giving more power to the patients, and at the same time, affects the health personnel's attitude concerning what is possible, often explained on the basis of patient characteristics.

Another effect of the different structural organisation (top-down vs bottom-up) was different opinions about agreements and predictability. The teachers, and especially the principals, described that they placed great emphasis on predictability and regularity because they knew how crucial this was for the students' security. The health workers talked less about this. However, some of them described how, in the practical planning of the day, appointments often had to be moved, due to organisational considerations. However, this was experienced as being of little importance, since the patients were on the ward anyway. The patients, on their side, usually described first the original appointment, as if this was the actual one. It was only by using specific questions that it was possible to find out how it really had been. The patients also described a much greater degree of passivity and resignation than the students did. Most students described how they had previously been

rather passive in their own lives, but how they had now regained willpower and personal commitment.

The classic "Marshmallow Study" (Shoda et al., 1990) explored variations in preschool children's ability to wait to satisfy needs (eat a marshmallow) to achieve a greater advantage (two marshmallows) later. The variations were seen as variations in willpower. Long-term follow-up of children as adults showed that those who had exhibited more willpower as a child, had achieved more and had a better life (Shoda et al., 1990). However, a recent replication of this study (Kidd et al., 2013) found that children's ability to wait, in large part, was related to how much they experienced that the adults in the study were reliable, and whether the adults kept their promises. Children who first had been promised that they would get the nicer drawing materials if they waited a bit, and then received them, were far more willing later to wait to eat a marshmallow to get two of them, than children who had been promised finer drawing materials if they waited, but did not receive them (Kidd et al., 2013). The degree of willpower was thus largely connected with predictability and trust. It is therefore possible that this may explain how the students, who over time are in an environment where all agreements are kept, experience that they regained their willpower. More precisely, they experience the rationality and appropriateness of their own initiatives because agreements are kept, their contributions are heard, and the choices they take have a real impact on their daily life. On the other hand, the patients describe a situation where they are given promises that get changed later, or turn out to be not quite right. They experience also that they are not taken seriously or their wishes cannot be met. As in the case of the children in the experiment (Kidd et al., 2013), it is thus less relevant for the patient to show initiative, because the environment is not perceived as reliable, and the choices are perceived as having little real impact on what actually happens.

Most patients, but none of the students, also had a large degree of self-objectification, where they described what others said that they needed and how others described how they were. Many of the patients also made contradictory statements. This makes sense, viewed in the context of the staff's descriptions of the application of top-down processes. The essence of the top-down perception is that one does not start with what can be immediately perceived, but rather with what one cognitively expects to find. There are probably different possible explanations of these phenomena (Paper 3). However, one

possible factor that may help to maintain this self-objectification can be found precisely in the structural factors that make empowerment difficult for both health professionals and patients. This also prevent both parties from seeing the actual conditions, because the focus is on what they expect to find. This is a very unfortunate process, because immediate perception and recognition of one's own needs and perceptions are key elements for self-experience (Parnas et al., 2005). Because this is assumed to be impaired for many patients in this group (Parnas et al., 2005), it is essential to have conditions that facilitate the strengthening of self experiences, not weaken them.

This is thus a theme that will be very relevant to explore further. It is especially relevant in the current debate about providing more structure in the health care service. It will be important to explore how such structures affect the health workers' structural empowerment, as well as finding out the specific effects they have on the patient's experience of personal empowerment, their right of disposition over their own life, and the development of subjectivity and immediate perception.

7.7 The validity of the findings discussed in relation to method

In this study, a qualitative explorative method is used to explore the informants' own descriptions of the possibility for personal development. Four different informant groups were interviewed. They were asked to describe their daily lives without any other guidance than to confine their descriptions to the framework of a day, a week and any encountered exceptions.

The findings and interpretation show that the informants' descriptions from the different groups support and complement each other in several different ways: The same themes appear in most of the interviews. There are natural and important individual differences in the interviews, and everyone has their personal point of view. Even so, there are some important themes that reoccur in the interviews, regardless of the informant group. In different ways and with different descriptions, both students, teachers, patients and health personnel talked about themes such as the importance of relationships, time, individual consideration, and the dichotomy of work/pleasure. This suggests that the method has given the opportunity to bring up themes that are genuine and important to many informants, and to explore the various aspects of these themes. Some of the findings that emerged were

unexpected compared to my preconceptions. The descriptions of the student informants turned out to fall into two different groups concerning descriptions of development. This suggests that there was room for descriptions that were not expected.

The descriptions from patients and health workers and from students and teachers complement each other and together provide a logical, coherent description of the whole. The patients' descriptions of not being heard correspond with health personnel's descriptions of having to follow a structured treatment programme and not always being able to accommodate for all individual needs. The students' descriptions of their receiving a lot of individual support is complemented by the teachers' descriptions of a flexible working day with a lot of focus on individual adaptation. These overall and logical connections indicate again that the themes that are described are valid and relevant across the informant groups.

The findings and interpretations not only show a consistency across the informant groups, but also across the themes and between the informant groups. The differences described between the services that the students and patients receive are not linked just to one theme, but recur in the descriptions of the various themes. The fundamental differences between the services are described in terms of time, relationships, activities and individual adaptation. This may indicate that the differences that are described are genuine. They describe basic differences between the services, not coincidently related to individuals or individual situations.

The themes that are described and the manner in which they are described are also consistent with other research and with relevant theoretical perspectives, such as in the field of developmental psychology and sense of self.

In summary, the descriptions accumulated through open interviews and without leading questions thus show high consistency across themes, across different informant groups and between the findings of this study and previous research. At the same time, there were personal variations and findings that were not expected, compared to my preconceptions. This indicates that the findings and interpretations are valid. The method has been suitable for producing findings and interpretations that are valid and relevant.

8 Conclusions and implications

The purpose of this study was to explore whether, and if so how, different environmental conditions during treatment and education might influence the quality of life, sense of self and possibilities for personal and social development in people with long-term and severe mental illness.

The findings and interpretations provide clear indications that improvement and growth may be achieved through active participation in a safe environment that offers stable and lasting relationships and mutual interaction. The importance of time (both the intensity and duration) appears to be particularly crucial for the achievement of growth, together with the importance of stable relationships. Several informants also emphasised the importance of therapy as being very significant, however in combination with other factors, as part of a holistic progression. Traditional psychotherapy with one hour per week, without being connected with other treatment, was described as being less effective. Also other conditions which are known to strengthen self-development, such as play-based activities, learning, joy and care are stressed as being relevant. These conditions should be followed up with further research.

The findings and interpretations from the study also indicate the importance of structural conditions and views about knowledge. Today's organisation of health services for this group of patients may at least for some be an impediment to personal development, empowerment and recovery. Focus on short-term, repeated treatments of symptoms appears to have little significance for the development of these patients. The lack of holistic, intensive and lasting provisions and the consequences of this situation on the possibility to develop stable relationships is critical. Lack of focus on good and positive experiences, including lasting adaptations of basic conditions such as structure, healthy nutrition and physical activity are also unfortunate and may be a hindrance for positive development for this group. Also other deficiencies, such as little focus on mastering and learning and a lack of reciprocal relationships with peers, can contribute negatively to the possibility of personal development. In addition, it appears that basic inequalities in views about knowledge can affect the provisions, both directly and indirectly.

The findings and interpretations also indicate that some of the challenges related to health personnel's attitudes towards patients with mental disorders may be a consequence of the structural and organisational conditions. Examples of such conditions can be the lack of structural empowerment for health personnel that prevents them from offering flexible and individually adapted support. Impossible demands of rapid improvement in complex conditions can also have a negative impact on the attitudes of health personnel. Such negative attitudes could in turn have harmful effects on patients, increasing the likelihood of offensive incidents and decreasing the possibility for development. Thus, it is important to be aware of the significance of structural empowerment for health personnel's attitudes when future provisions are to be developed. This is especially crucial for provisions with a high degree of external structure that gives health workers little freedom to adapt according to the patients' needs.

The findings and interpretations in this study should be followed up with further research, using different methodologies and approaches, to provide more thorough illumination of the themes. If the findings and interpretations are confirmed through further research, this should have consequences for the design and organisation of services for this group. It is possible that it will be more appropriate to concentrate on special provisions for this group of patients, separate from the time-limited treatment of symptoms that is offered to patients with the short-term disorders and without self-disorders. It is also likely that services that are designed to develop basic self-experience over time will be more relevant, better for the patients and more socio-economically practical than short-term provisions with constantly repeated crisis management and symptom treatment. However, the findings and interpretations suggest that such provisions must be holistic and of good quality to have effect. To pick out single factors mentioned in this study and believe that they alone will have effect, will probably have little or no effect, unless attention is given to the totality, including relationships, intensity and duration.

References

Adams, R.E; Boscarino, J.A; Figley, C.R. Compassion fatigue and psychological distress among social workers: A validation study. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*. Vol.76(1), Jan 2006, pp. 103-108.

Ainsworth, M. D. S., Bell, S. M. & Stayton, D. J. (1971). Individual differences in strange-situation behavior of one-year-olds. I H. R. Schaffer (Red.), *The origins of human social relations* (s. 17 – 57). New York: Academic Press.

Ainsworth, M.D.S, Blehar, M.C., Waters, E. & Wall, S. (1978). *Patterns of attachment: A psychological study of the strange situation*. Hillsdale, New Jersey: Erlbaum.

Alanen, Y.O., De Chavez, M.G., Silver, A.L.S., Martindale, B. (2009) *Psychoterapeutic Approaches to Schizophrenic Psychoses*. New York: Routledge.

Anderson, R.M., Funnel, M.M. (2010) Patient empowerment: Myths and misconceptions. *Patient education and Counseling* 79, (2010), 277 – 282

Antonovsky, A. (1979) Health, Stress, and Coping. Michigan: Jossey-Bass

Anthony, W.A. Recovery from mental illness: The guiding vision of the mental health service system in the 1990s. *Psychosocial Rehabilitation Journal*. Vol.16(4), 1993, pp. 11-23.

Aagaard, J. and K. Muller-Nielsen (2011). Clinical outcome of assertive community treatment (ACT) in a rural area in Denmark: a case-control study with a 2-year follow-up. *Nordic Journal of Psychiatry* 65(5): 299-305.

Bargenquast, R., Schweitzer, R.D. (2014) Enhancing sense of recovery and self-reflectivity in people with schizophrenia: A pilot study of metacognitive narrative psychotherapy. *Psychology and Psychotherapy: Theory, Research and Practice.* Vol.87(3), Sep 2014, pp. 338-356.

Bateman, A., Fonagy, P. (1999) Effectiveness of partial hospitalisation in the treatment of borderline personality disorder: A randomized controlled trial. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*. Vol.156(10), Oct 1999, pp. 1563-1569.

Bath, H. (2008). The three pillars of trauma-informed care. *Reclaiming Children and Youth,* 17(3), 17-21.

Bath, H. (2015). The Three Pillars of TraumaWise Care: Healing in the Other 23 Hours *Reclaiming Children and Youth*, 23 (4), 5-11.

Beeney, J.E; Hallquist, M.N; Ellison, W.D; Levy, K.N. (2016) Self-other disturbance in borderline personality disorder: Neural, self-report, and performance-based evidence. *Personality Disorders: Theory, Research, and Treatment*. Vol.7(1), Jan 2016, pp. 28-39.

Bem. D.J. (1967). Self-perception: An alternative interpretation of cognitive dissonance phenomenon. *Psychological Review*, 74, 183-200

Benedetti, G. (1964). *Klinische Psychoterapie*. Verlag Hans Huber Bern. (Norsk oversettelse: Klinisk psykoterapi, (1974) Oslo: Cappelen)

Bentall, R. (Ed.). (1990). Reconstructing schizophrenia. London: Routledge

Bentall, R.P., de Sousa, P., Varese, F., Wickham, S., Sitko, K., Haarmans, M., Read, J. (2014) From adversity to psychosis: Pathways and mechanisms from specific adversities to specific symptoms. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*. Vol.49(7), Jul 2014, pp. 1011-1022.

Biskin, Robert S; Paris, Joel. (2012) Management of borderline personality disorder. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*. Vol.184(17), Nov 2012, pp. 1897-1902.

Bond, G. R., & Drake, R. E. (2014). Making the case for IPS supported employment.

Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research, 41(1), 69–73.

Borg, M., Veseth, M., Binder, P-E., Topor, A., The role of work in recovery from bipolar disorders. *Qualitative Social Work: Research and Practice*. Vol.12(3), May 2013, pp. 323-339.

Bouza, C., Lopez-Cuadrado, T., Saz-Parkinson, Z., Alcazar, R.A., Blanco, J. M. A. (2012) Natural-mortality in schizophrenia: An updated meta-analysis. *Sumiyoshi, Tomiki [Ed]*. (2012). Schizophrenia research: Recent advances. (pp. 61-80). viii, 398 pp. Hauppauge, NY, US: Nova Science Publishers; US.

Bowlby, J. (1969). Attachment and loss: bd. 1, Attachment. New York: Basic Books.

Bradbury-Jones, C., Sambrook, S., Irvine, F. (2007) The meaning of empowerment for nursing students: A critical incident study. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*. Vol.59(4), Aug 2007, pp. 342-351.

Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979) *The ecology of human development. Experiments by nature and design.* Cambrigde, Massachusetts, Harvard university Press

Bronfenbrenner, U. (ed) (2005) *Making human beings human: Bioecological perspectives on human development.* Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications Ltd.

Brus, M. Novakovic, V., Friedberg, A. (2012). Psychotherapy for schizophrenia: a review of modalities and their evidence base. *Psychodynamic Psychiatry* 40(4): 609-616.

Calsyn, R. J., Morse, G.A., Klinkenberg, W.D., Lemming, M.R. (2004). Client outcomes and the working alliance in assertive community treatment programs. *Care Management Journal*. **5**(4): 199-202.

Cotter, J; Kaess, M; Yung, A. R. (2015) Childhood trauma and functional disability in psychosis, bipolar disorder and borderline personality disorder: A review of the literature. *Irish Journal of Psychological Medicine*. Vol.32(Spec Iss1), Mar 2015, pp. 21-30.

Dieterich M, Irving CB, Park B, Marshall M. (2010) Intensive case management for severe mental illness. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2010, Issue 10. Art. No.: CD007906. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD007906.pub2.

Dowrick C, Billington J, Robinson J, Hamer A, Williams C. (2012) Get into Reading as an intervention for common mental health problems: exploring catalysts for change. *Med Humanit*. 2012 Jun;38(1):15-20.

Ekeland, T.J (2014) Psykiatridiagnosar – ein kunnskapskritikk. *Tidsskrift for Norsk* psykologforening, Vol 51, nummer 9, 2014, side 715-722

Fairbairn, W.R.D. (1952) *Psychoanalytic studies of the personality.* London: Tavistock Publications

Fosse, R. (2009) Ingen gener for psykiske lidelser. *Tidsskrift for Norsk psykologforening*, Vol 46, nummer 6, 2009, side 596-600

Freire, P. (1970) Pedagogy of the oppressed. Reprinted in England: Penguin Books

Garfield, D., Steinman, I. (2015) *Self Psychology and Psychosis: The Development of the Self During Intensive Psychotherapy of Schizophrenia and Other Psychoses*. London, Karnac, 2015

Gibson, C.H. (1991) A concept analyses of empowerment. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 16, 354 – 361.

Glover, H. (2005) Recovery based service delivery: Are we ready to transform the words into a paradigm shift? *AeJAMH* (Australian e-Journal for the Advancement of Mental Health). Vol.4(3), 2005, pp. 1-4.

Guiterrez, L.M. (1990), "Working with women of color, an empowerment perspective", *Social Work*, Vol.35 No. 2, 149-53

Guthrie, E. and A. Moghavemi (2013). Psychodynamic-interpersonal therapy: an overview of the treatment approach and evidence base. *Psychodynamic Psychiatry* 41(4): 619-635.

Hagen, M.B, da Silva, A.B. Thelle, M.I. (ed) (2016) *Traumebevisst omsorg i psykisk helsearbeid*. Oslo: Universitetsforlaget

Harley, E. W. Y., Boardman, J., & Craig, T. (2012). Friendship in people with schizophrenia: A survey. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, *47*(8), 291–1299.

Harrison, R.L; Westwood, M.J. Preventing vicarious traumatization of mental health therapists: Identifying protective practices. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research, Practice, Training.* Vol.46(2), Jun 2009, pp. 203-219.

Helsedirektoratet (2009) *Voksne med depresjon. Nasjonal retningslinje for diagnostisering og behandling av voksne med depresjon i primær- og spesialisthelsetjenesten.* Oslo Helsedirektoratet, 01.12.2009: IS-1561 (The Norwegian Directorate of Health (2009) *Adults*

with depression. National guidelines for treatment of adults with depression in primary and specialised health care). Oslo

Helse og omsorgsdepartementet (2015) *Medikamentfrie tilbud i psykisk helsevern - oppfølging av oppdrag 2015* Brev Dato: 26.11.2015. Mottager: De regionale helseforetakene i henhold til liste. Vår referanse: 14/3574

Henriksen, M.G., Parnas, J. (2012). Clinical Manifestations of self-disorders and the gestalt of schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 38(4), 657–660.

Henriksen, M. G, Nordgaard, J. (2014) Schizophrenia as a disorder of the self. *Journal of Psychopathology / Giornale di Psicopatologia*. Vol.20(4), Dec 2014, pp. 435-441.

Heskestad, S., Tytlandsvik, M. (2008) Brukerstyrte kriseinnleggelser ved alvorlig psykisk lidelse. *Tidsskrift for Norsk Legeforening*, *2008*; 128:32 – 5

Hoffman, Kent T; Marvin, Robert S; Cooper, Glen; Powell, Bert. (2006) Changing toddlers' and preschoolers' attachment classifications: The circle of security intervention. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*. Vol.74(6), Dec 2006, pp. 1017-1026.

Huber, M., Knottnerus, J.A., Green, L., van der Horst, H., Jadad, A.R., Kromhout, D., Leonard, B., Lorig, K., Loureiro, M.I., van der Meer, J.W.M., Schnabel, P., Smith, R., van Weel, C., Smid, H. (2011) How should we define health? *BMJ* 2011;343:d4163

Huprich, S.K. (Ed) (2015) *Personality Disorders: Toward Theoretical and Empirical Integration in Diagnosis and Assessment.* American Psychological Association: 2015

Haavind, H. (1987). *Liten og stor. Mødres omsorg og barns utviklingsmuligheter.* Oslo: Universitetsforlaget.

Jacobs, G. (2010) "Take control or lean back?": Barriers to Practicing Empowerment in Health Promotion. *Health Promotion Practice* 2011 12:94 originally published online 11 March 2010

Karasek, R. (1979). Job demands, job decision latitude, and mental strain: Implications for job redesign.

Keyes, C. L. M. (2007). Promoting and protecting mental health as flourishing: A complementary strategy for improving national mental health. *American Psychologist*, *62*(2), 95–108.

Kidd, C., Palmeri, H., Aslin, R. N. (2013) Rational snacking: Young children's decision-making on the marshmallow task is moderated by beliefs about environmental reliability. *Cognition*. Vol.126(1), Jan 2013, pp. 109-114.

Kinderman, P., & Cooke, A. (2000). Recent advances in understanding mental illness and psychotic experiences. A report by the British Psychological Society, division of clinical psychology. Leicester: The British Psychological Society.

Krizan, Zlatan; Johar, Omesh. Narcissistic rage revisited. (2015) *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology.* Vol.108(5), May 2015, pp. 784-801.

Lambert, A., Desmond, J., O'Donohoe, S. (2014) Narcissism and the consuming self: An exploration of consumer identity projects and narcissistic tendencies.

In Schouten, J.W., Martin, D. M. Belk, R. [Ed]. Consumer culture theory. 2014, (pp. 35-57). xiv, 273 pp. Bingley, United Kingdom: Emerald Group Publishing; United Kingdom.

Landheim, A., Wiig, F.L., Brendebekken, M., Brodahl. M., Biong, S. (2016) *Et bedre liv. Historier, erfaringer og forskning om recovery ved rusmiddelmisbruk og psykiske helseproblemer.* Oslo: Gyldendal Akademisk

Lauveng, A. (2005) *I morgen var jeg alltid en løve*. Oslo: Cappelen forlag.

Lauveng, A (2008) *Unyttig som en rose*. Oslo: Cappelen forlag.

Lereya, S.T, Copeland, W.E, Costello, E. J., Wolke, D. (2015) Adult mental health consequences of peer bullying and maltreatment in childhood: Two cohorts in two countries. *The Lancet Psychiatry*. Vol.2(6), 2015, pp. 524-531.

Lie, I. (1996) *Rehabilitering og habilitering. Prinsipper og praktisk organisering.* Oslo: Gyldendal Forlag

Ljungberg, A., Denhov, A., Topor, A. (2015) The art of helpful relationships with professionals: A meta-ethnography of the perspective of persons with severe mental illness. *Psychiatric Quarterly.* Vol.86(4), Dec 2015, pp. 471-495.

Ljungqvist, I., Topor, A., Forssell, H., Svensson, I., Davidson, L. (2016) Money and mental illness: A study of the relationship between poverty and serious psychological problems. *Community Mental Health Journal*. Vol.52(7):842–850

Ludy-Dobson, C.R, Perry, B.D. (2010) The role of healthy relational interactions in buffering the impact of childhood trauma. In Gil, E [Ed]. *Working with children to heal interpersonal trauma: The power of play.* (pp. 26-43). xvi, 336 pp. New York, NY, US: Guilford Press; US.

Lysaker, P.H, Dimaggio, G., Brune, M. [Ed] (2014) *Social cognition and metacognition in schizophrenia: Psychpathology and treatment approaches. xvi, 337 pp.* San Diego, CA, US: Elsevier Academic Press; US.

Maio, G.R, Haddock, G. (2009) *The psychology of attitudes & attitude change.* London: Sage Publications.

Mead, G. H. (1913). The social self. *Journal of Philosopy, Psychology and Scientific Methods* 10 (1913): 374-380

Mead, G. H. (1936). The problem of society: How we become selves. In Merrit H. Moore (Ed.), *Movements of thought in the nineteenth century* (pp. 360_385). Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.

Mehlum, L. & Jensen, A. (2006). Suicidal atferd ved ustabil personlighetsforstyrrelse. *Tidsskrift for den Norske Lægeforening,* 126, 2946–2949.

Moskowitz, A. [Ed], Schafer, I. [Ed], Dorahy, M.J. [Ed]. (2008) *Psychosis, trauma and dissociation: Emerging perspectives on severe psychopathology.* xxi, 358 pp.Wiley-Blackwell.

National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (2009). *Borderline personality disorder:*Treatment and management. NICE clinical guideline 78. London: National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence.

Neale, J., Tompkins, C., Wheeler, C., Finch, E., Marsden, J., Mitcheson, L., Rose, D., Wykes, T., Strang, J. (2015) You're all going to hate the word 'recovery' by the end of this": Service users' views of measuring addiction recovery. *Drugs: Education, Prevention & Policy*. Vol.22(1), Feb 2015, pp. 26-34.

Nelson, B. Thompson, A., Chanen, A.M, Amminger, G. P., Yung, A. R. (2013) Is basic self-disturbance in ultra-high risk for psychosis ('prodromal') patients associated with borderline personality pathology? *Early Intervention in Psychiatry*. Vol.7(3), Aug 2013, pp. 306-310.

Nelson, B., Raballo, A. (2015) Basic self-disturbance in the schizophrenia spectrum: Taking stock and moving forward. *Psychopathology*. Vol.48(5), Oct 2015, pp. 301-309.

Newell, J.M., MacNeil, G.A. (2010) Professional burnout, vicarious trauma, secondary traumatic stress, and compassion fatigue: A review of theoretical terms, risk factors, and preventive methods for clinicians and researchers. *Best Practices in Mental Health: An International Journal*. Vol.6(2), 2010, pp. 57-68.

Nord, E (2002). Helseøkonomi – kort innføring i nytte-kostnads-analyser. *Tidsskrift for den*Norske Lægeforening 2002; 122:2719 – 22

Ojanen, T., Sijtsema, J. J., Hawley, P. H., & Little, T. D. (2010). Intrinsic and extrinsic motivation in early adolescents' friendship development: Friendship selection, influence and prospective friendship quality. *Journal of Adolescence*, *33*(6), 837–851.

Orford, J. (2008) Community Psychology's Core Values. Empowerment, Liberation and social Justice. In *Community Psychology. Challenges, Controversies and Emerging Consesus* 208, pp 35-66

Ormhaug, S.M., Jensen, T.K., Hukkelberg, S.S., Holt, T., Egeland, K. (2012) Traumer hos barn – blir de gjemt eller glemt? Kartlegging av traumatiske erfaringer hos barn og unge henvist til BUP. *Tidsskrift for Norsk psykologforening*, Vol 49, nummer 3, 2012, side 234-240

Ozer, E.M, and Bandura, A. (1990). Mechanisms Governing Empowerment Effects: A self-Efficacy Analysis. *Journal of Personal and Social Psychology* 1990, Vol 58, No. 3 472-486 Panksepp, J., & Biven, L. (2012). *The archeology of mind: Neuroevolutionary origins of human emotions*. New York: W. W. Norton & Company.

Paris, J. (2004). Is hospitalization useful for suicidal patients with borderline personality disorder? *Journal of Personality Disorders*, 18(3), 240–247.

Paris, J. (2011) Reducing suicide risk in personality disorders: The state of current evidence. In Pompili, M., Tatarelli, R. (Ed): *Evidence-based practice in suicidology: A source book.* (pp. 339-347). viii, 380 pp. Cambridge, MA, US: Hogrefe Publishing; US.

Parnas, J., Moller, P., Kircher, T., Thalbitzer, J., Jansson, L. Handest, P., Zahavi, D. (2005). EASE: Examination of Anomalous Self-Experience. *Psychopathology*. Vol.38(5), Sep-Oct 2005, pp. 236-258.

Parnas, J., Jansson, L.B. (2015) Self-disorders: Clinical and conceptual implications for the diagnostic concept of schizophrenia. *Psychopathology*. Vol.48(5), Oct 2015, pp. 332-338.

Perroni, Emilia [Ed]. (2014). *Play: Psychoanalytic perspectives, survival and human development*. (pp. 28-33). xxvii, 232 pp. New York, NY, US: Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group; US.

Presseau, J; Johnston, M; Johnston, D. W; Elovainio, M; Hrisos, S; Steen, N; Stamp, E; Francis, J.J; Grimshaw, J.M; Hawthorne, G; Hunter, M; Eccles, M.P. (2014) Environmental and individual correlates of distress: Testing Karasek's demand-control model in 99 primary care clinical environments. *British Journal of Health Psychology.* Vol.19(2), May 2014, pp. 292-310.

Raballo, A., Sæbye, D., Parnas, J. (2011). Looking at the schizophrenia spectrum through the prism of self-disorders: An empirical study. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 37(2), 344–351.

Rappaport, J (1987). Terms of empowerment/exemplars of prevention: Towards a theory for community psychology. *American Journal of community Psychology*, 15, 121-148

Rasmussen, H., Ebdrup, B. H, Oranje, B., Pinborg, L. H., Knudsen, G. M, Glenthoj, B. (2014) Neocortical serotonin2A receptor binding predicts quetiapine associated weight gain in antipsychotic-naive first-episode schizophrenia patients. *International Journal of Neuropsychopharmacology*. Vol.17(11), Nov 2014, pp. 1729-1736.

Read, J., van Os, J., & Morrison, A. P. (2006). Childhood trauma, psychosis and schizophrenia: A literature review with theoretical and clinical implications. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinava*, 113(3), 238–239.

Read, J. (2010) Can poverty drive you mad? 'Schizophrenia', socio-economic status and the case for primary prevention. *New Zealand Journal of Psychology*. Vol.39(2), 2010, pp. 7-19.

Read, J. (2013) Childhood adversity and psychosis: From heresy to certainty. In *Read, John [Ed]; Dillon, Jacqui [Ed]. (2013). Models of madness: Psychological, social and biological approaches to psychosis.,* 2nd ed. (pp. 249-275). xxvi, 422 pp. New York, NY, US: Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group; US.

Read, J, Bentall, R.P., Fosse, R. (2014) Time to abandon the bio-bio-bio model of psychosis: Exploring the epigenetic and psychological mechanisms by which adverse life events lead to psychotic symptoms. In *Speed, Ewen [Ed]; Moncrieff, Joanna [Ed]; Rapley, Mark [Ed]. (2014). De-medicalizing misery II: Society, politics and the mental health industry*. (pp. 210-225). xxv, 283 pp. New York, NY: Palgrave Macmillan.

Recovery in the bin. Website. https://recoveryinthebin.org/recovery-in-the-bin-19-principless/ 09.08.2016, 10.56

Reynolds, W.J., Scott, B. (2000). Do nurses and other professional helpers normally display much empathy? *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, Volume 31, Issue 1, pages 226–234, January 2000

Ringer, A. (2013). *Listening to patients: A study of disease discourses, patient identities, and user involvement in contemporary psychiatric practice*. Roskilde: Graduate School in Lifelong Learning, Roskilde University.

Rissel, C. (1994) Empowerment: the holy grail of health promotion? *Health promotion international*, vol 9, no 1, 39 - 47

Rocha, N.B.F., Queiros, C. (2013) Metacognitive and social cognition training (MSCT) in schizophrenia: A preliminary efficacy study. *Schizophrenia Research*. Vol.150(1), Oct 2013, pp. 64-68.

Rusner, M., Carlsson, G., Brunt, D. & Nystøm, M. (2010) A dependence that empowers – the meaning of the conditions that enable a good life with bipolar disorder. *Int J Qualitative Stud health Well- being*, 2010, 5

Sampson, M., Read, J (2016) Are mental health staff getting better at asking about abuse and neglect? *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*. First published online 7 September 2016.

Schon, U., Denhov, A., Topor, A. (2009) Social relationships as a decisive factor in recovering from severe mental illness. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*. Vol.55(4), Jul 2009, pp. 336-347.

Scriven, A., Stiddard, L. (2003) Empowering schools: translating health promotion principles into practice. *Health Education*; 2003; 103, 2. 110-118

Shahar, G., & Davidson, L. (2003). Depressive symptoms erode self-esteem in severe mental illness: A three-wave, cross-lagged study. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 71(5), 890–900.

Shoda, Y., Mischel, W., Peake, P.K. (1990). Predicting adolescent cognitive and social competence from preschool delay of gratification: Identifying diagnostic conditions. *Developmental Psychology*, 26, 978-986.

Siegel, D. J. (2012). Developing Mind, Second Edition. New York: Guilford Publications.

Skehan, D, Larkin, W., Read, J. (2012) Childhood adversity and psychosis: A literature review with clinical and societal implications. *Psychoanalysis, Culture & Society*. Vol.17(4), 2012, pp. 373-391.

Slade, M. (2009). *Personal Recovery and Mental Illness*. New York: Cambridge University Press.

Solis, C. B., Kelly-Irving, M., Fantin, R., Darnaudery, M., Torrisani, J., Lang, T., Delpierre, C. (2015) Adverse childhood experiences and physiological wear-and-tear in midlife: Findings from the 1958 British birth cohort. *PNAS Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. Vol.112(7), Feb 2015, pp. E738-E746.

Solli, H.P, Rolvsjord, R., Borg, M. (2013) Toward understanding music therapy as a recovery-oriented practice within mental health care: A meta-synthesis of service users' experiences. *Journal of Music Therapy.* Vol.50(4), Win 2013, pp. 244-273.

Sosial- og helsedirektoratet. (2008). *Nasjonale retningslinjer for forebygging av selvmord i psykisk helsevern*. Oslo: Sosial- og helsedirektoratet.

Stern, D.N (1985) *The interpersonal world of the infant: A view from psychoanalysis and developmental psychology.* New York: Basic Books

Strauss, J.S., Hafez, H., Lieberman, P., Harding, C.M. (1985) The course of psychiatric disorder: III. Longitudinal principles. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*. Vol.142(3), Mar 1985, pp. 289-296.

Thompson, G. (2016) Aesthetic action and self-construction of an artist identity: The impact of art and art therapy on subjectivity and mental illness in qualitative research. *Dissertation Abstracts International Section A: Humanities and Social Sciences.* Vol.76(7-A(E)),2016.

Topor, A. (2004). *Vad hjälper? Vägar till återhämtning från svåra psykiska problem*. Stockholm: Natur och Kultur.

Topor, A., Borg, M., Di Girolamo, S. & Davidson, L. (2011). Not just an individual journey: Social aspects of recovery. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, 57(1), 90–99.

Topor, A., Denhov, A. (2012) Helping relationships and time: Inside the black box of the working alliance. *American Journal of Psychiatric Rehabilitation*. Vol.15(3), 2012, pp. 239-254.

Topor, A., Andersson, G., Denhov, A., Holmqvist, M.S., Mattsson, M., Stefansson, C-G., Bulow, P. (2014) Psychosis and poverty: Coping with poverty and severe mental illness in

everyday life. *Psychosis: Psychological, Social and Integrative Approaches.* Vol.6(2), Apr 2014, pp. 117-127.

Topor, A., Denhov, A. (2015) Going beyond: Users' experiences of helping professionals. *Psychosis: Psychological, Social and Integrative Approaches.* Vol.7(3), Jul 2015, pp. 228-236.

Torgalsbøen AK. Full recovery from schizophrenia: the prognostic role of premorbid adjustment, symptoms at first admission, precipitating events and gender. *Psychiatry Research*, 1999, 88, 143-152.

Traynor, M. (2003) A brief history of empowerment: response to discussion with Julianne Cheek. *Primary Health Care Research and Development* 2003, pp. 129 – 136

Tsuda Y., Saruwatari J., Yasui-Furukori, N. (2014) Meta-analysis: the effects of smoking on the disposition of two commonly used antipsychotic agents, olanzapine and clozapine. *BMJ Open.* 2014 Mar 4;4(3):e004216. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2013-004216.

Vaglum, P. (2010) Doktoravhandlingens sammenstilling – hva skal den inneholde? *Tidsskrift*Norsk Legeforening, Nr. 16, 2010; 130:1632-4

Varese, F., Smeets, F., Drukker, M., Lieverse, R., Lataster, T., Viechtbauer, W., et al. (2012). Childhood adversities increase the risk of psychosis: A meta-analysis of patient-control, prospective- and cross-sectional cohort Studies. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 38(4), 661–671.

Venkatasubramanian, G., & Keshavan, M. S. (2016). Biomarkers in Psychiatry - A Critique. *Annals Of Neurosciences*, 23(1), 3-5. doi:10.1159/000443549

Volpe, U., Torre, F., De Santis, V., Perris, F., Catapano, F. (2015) Reading group rehabilitation for patients with psychosis: A randomized controlled study. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy. Vol.22(1)*, Jan-Feb 2015, pp. 15-21.

Wagner, J., Cummings, G., Smith, D. L., Olsen, J., Anderson, L., Warren, S. (2010) The relationship between structural empowerment and psychological empowerment for nurses: A systematic review. *Journal of Nursing Management*. Vol.18(4), May 2010, pp. 448-462.

Walder. D.J., Faraone, S.V., Glatt, S.J, Tsuang, M.T., Seidman, L.T. (2014) Genetic liability, prenatal health, stress and family environment: Risk factors in the Harvard Adolescent Family High Risk for Schizophrenia Study. *Schizophrenia Research* Volume 157, Issues 1–3, August 2014, Pages 142–148

Winnicott, D. W. (1965). The Maturational processes and the facilitating environment. London: Hogarth Press.

Winnicott, D. W. (1971) Playing and reality. London: Tavistock

Winnicott, D.W (1986) Home is where we start from. New York: W. W. Norton & Company

Zimmerman, M.A. (2000) Empowerment Theory. Psychological, Organizational and Community Levels of Analysis. *Handbook of Community Psychology*, 2000, pp 43-63. New York: Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publichers

Zipursky, R.B, Reilly, T.J, Murray, R.M. (2013) The Myth of schizophrenia as a progressive brain disease. *Schizophrenia Bulletin.* Vol.39(6), Nov 2013, pp. 1363-1372.

Zubin, J., & Spring, B. (1977). Vulnerability: A new view of schizophrenia. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 86, 103–126.